

Ultrahigh-Throughput Enzyme Engineering and Discovery in *In Vitro* Compartments

Maximilian Gantz,[†] Stefanie Neun,[†] Elliot J. Medcalf,[†] Liisa D. van Vliet,[†] and Florian Hollfelder*

| Cite This: Chem. Rev. | 2023, 123, 5571–5611 | 🔇 Read O | nline |
|-----------------------|----------------------|----------|------------------------------|
| ACCESS | Jul Metrics & More | | IIII Article Recommendations |

ABSTRACT: Novel and improved biocatalysts are increasingly sourced from libraries via experimental screening. The success of such campaigns is crucially dependent on the number of candidates tested. Water-in-oil emulsion droplets can replace the classical test tube, to provide *in vitro* compartments as an alternative screening format, containing genotype and phenotype and enabling a readout of function. The scale-down to micrometer droplet diameters and picoliter volumes brings about a >10⁷-fold volume reduction compared to 96-well-plate screening. Droplets made in automated microfluidic devices can be integrated into modular workflows to set up multistep screening protocols involving various detection modes to sort >10⁷ variants a day with kHz frequencies. The repertoire of assays available for droplet screening covers all seven enzyme commission (EC) number classes, setting the stage for widespread use of droplet microfluidics in everyday biochemical experiments. We review the practicalities of adapting droplet screening for enzyme discovery



and for detailed kinetic characterization. These new ways of working will not just accelerate discovery experiments currently limited by screening capacity but profoundly change the paradigms we can probe. By interfacing the results of ultrahigh-throughput droplet screening with next-generation sequencing and deep learning, strategies for directed evolution can be implemented, examined, and evaluated.

CONTENTS

| 1. Introduction | 5572 |
|--|------|
| 2. Types of In Vitro Compartments | 5572 |
| 3. Modular Workflows and Their Operation | 5574 |
| 4. Chip Devices | 5577 |
| 5. Detection and Sorting | 5579 |
| 6. Expression Systems | 5582 |
| 6.1 In Vivo Expression | 5583 |
| 6.2 In Vitro Evolution | 5583 |
| 7 Beaction Types Amenable to Microfluidic Enzyme | 5505 |
| Screening | 5583 |
| 8 Fully Integrated Workflows in Directed Evolution | 5502 |
| Campaigns: From Model Enrichments to Exam- | |
| plac for Successfully Integrated Systems Vali | |
| dated by Library Screening | EEOE |
| O Traublashaating | 5565 |
| 9. Troubleshooling | 2205 |
| 9.1. Challenges to the integrity of the Droplet | |
| Compartment | 5585 |
| 9.2. Sensitivity | 5593 |
| 9.3. DNA Recovery | 5593 |
| 9.4. Uniformity of Droplet Operations in Long- | |
| Term Experiments | 5593 |
| 10. Characterization | 5594 |
| 10.1. Droplet-on-Demand (DoD) Systems | 5595 |
| 10.2. High-Throughput Production of Droplets | |
| with Identical Composition | 5595 |

| 11. Perspectives: More of the Same (Albeit Faster) Or | |
|---|------|
| Entirely New Ways of Working? | 5596 |
| 11.1. Accessible Microfluidic Devices for the | |
| Future | 5596 |
| 11.2. Tracking the Identity of Samples | 5596 |
| 11.3. Complex Modular Devices | 5597 |
| 11.4. Device Operation—Will There Ever Be One | |
| Device for All Directed Evolution Experi- | |
| ments? | 5597 |
| 11.5. Future Device Architectures | 5597 |
| 11.6. Key Technology Benefits of Droplet Micro- | |
| fluidics | 5597 |
| 11.6.1. Savings | 5597 |
| 11.6.2. Combining High-Throughput Selec- | |
| tions with High-Throughput Analysis | 5598 |
| 12. Conclusions | 5600 |
| Author Information | 5600 |
| Corresponding Author | 5600 |
| Authors | 5600 |
| | |

Special Issue: Bridging the Gaps: Learning from Catalysis across Boundaries Received: December 30, 2022 Published: May 1, 2023





| Author Contributions | 5600 |
|----------------------|------|
| Notes | 5600 |
| Biographies | 5600 |
| Acknowledgments | 5601 |
| References | 5601 |
| | |

1. INTRODUCTION

Protein engineering by directed evolution relies on combinatorial experiments that explore how amino acids are best arranged to bring about functional molecules. New functional proteins are in high demand in applications ranging from affinity reagents or antibodies in medical research and therapy to biocatalysts for "green", energy efficient and sustainable processes. Finding these molecules is difficult because the total combinatorial diversity generated from 19 amino acid alternatives in every position of a protein is enormous and efficient methods for its exploration are required to find catalysts on a useful time scale. To increase the chances of success and to accelerate library screening, the throughput should be as high as possible (Figure 1).



Figure 1. Droplet microfluidics enables a massive scale-down of reaction volumes from milliliters in test tubes, beyond microliters used in plate formats (and robotic liquid handling systems) to picoliters in *in vitro* compartments. This miniaturization format is highly economical, so access to ultrahigh-throughput screening of enzymes (here shown as generated by *in vitro* expression, but see Figure 8 8 for other formats) becomes possible at relatively low cost. This review provides an overview of the use of droplet compartmentalization in protein discovery and engineering.

Water-in-oil emulsion droplets, made and handled in microfluidic devices, provide a relatively recently established experimental format for screening and selection of functional proteins. The droplet compartment replaces the classical test tube (or multiwell plate), and lab-on-a-chip devices automatize and miniaturize liquid handling operations-carried out by one's own fair hands or by large robots—so that experiments can be conducted more quickly, with minimal consumption of reagents and plasticware (tubes, plates, and tips). The micrometer dimension of droplet compartments achieves a scale-down of reaction volumes to the picoliter range (corresponding to a $>10^7$ -fold volume reduction compared to the regular 96-well plate format with a ~200 μ L volume).^{1,2} This is necessary because the possible combinations of amino acids even in a focused protein library - easily exceed the screening capacity (e.g., a library in which only 5 residues are fully

randomized almost matches the throughput of droplet micro-fluidics; $20^{5} = 3.2 \times 10^{6}$ combinations).

For screening of protein libraries in directed evolution or functional metagenomics, each droplet compartment needs to contain a code for the identity of the library member: the droplet boundary thus links genotype and phenotype by compartmentalizing the gene, enzyme, and reaction product. The criterion for selecting individual variants is a readout of the successful progress of the reaction of interest (ideally directly reporting quantitatively on product concentration), so an analytical interface is necessary to evaluate the reaction progress.

In the future, protein engineering campaigns may go beyond the "black box" lottery that combinatorial screening experiments currently are: one can never be sure whether a library contains initial hits that can be evolved later-and why. When nextgeneration sequencing will be applied to the output of rounds of screening, one will produce large data sets that describe ensembles of genes satisfying an experimentally set threshold. These correlations of sequence to function could help to describe "fitness landscapes". When trajectories through sequence space are visualized, directed evolution ceases to be a "black box". Instead "fitness landscape" maps may help to steer directed evolution by evaluating whether navigation into more or less interesting sections of sequence space is possible. Ideally long trajectories familiar from natural evolution should be emulated in laboratory experiments. Machine-learning algorithms and artificial intelligence³⁻⁵ will be helpful to obtain insight into multiparameter spaces and in all likelihood be necessary to provide meaningful extrapolations from experimentally explored sequences to further improved proteins.

A large number of excellent reviews describe technical aspects of *in vitro* compartmentalization and droplet microfluidics, along with various applications.⁶⁻¹⁹ The objective of this review is to take stock of the steps that have been established as the basis for the discovery of functional enzymes in large libraries, to showcase studies that have integrated droplet technologies with protein discovery campaigns, to provide a guide for newcomers into this area faced with everyday issues of practical implementation, and finally to extrapolate where this technology will find its most powerful uses.

2. TYPES OF IN VITRO COMPARTMENTS

Conceptually the idea of isolating a single library member from all others by a droplet boundary is embodied by a large number of formats (Table 1). These *in vitro* compartments differ in size, ease of production, stability, and the rate at which they can be generated. Historically, water-in-oil (W/O) emulsion droplets were first produced in a *polydisperse* format (for single-cell^{20,21} and single-enzyme²² experiments), where droplets are generated very quickly. However, while the droplet boundary restricts crosstalk, droplet sizes vary considerably and the assay quality may be less than uniform, as differently sized droplets will contain different amounts of reagents. Nevertheless, poly-disperse emulsions still are used today for protein engineering.^{23–28} 10¹⁰–10¹¹ compartments are produced in minutes: (i) with a stirring bar,^{31,32} (ii) with an emulsifier or homogenizer,^{18,27,33} (iii) by vortexing,^{34,35} or by extrusion through a filter^{26,36} (Figure 2A).

The ease of setup makes polydisperse formats attractive, but the difference in droplet size within one experiment may often preclude screening based on relatively small activity differences. On the other hand, a larger number of droplets can be generated in an instant using the polydisperse format. Especially for

| Fable 1. Poly | disperse and | l Monodisperse | e Droplet Co | mpartments Use | d for Protein I | Engineering |
|---------------|--------------|----------------|--------------|----------------|-----------------|-------------|
| | | | | | | |

| | | Polydisperse | | | | Monodisperse | |
|---|---|--|--|---|---|---|---|
| Type of droplet | Bulk emulsion droplets | Bulk double emulsion droplets | Liposomes | Water-in-oil emulsion droplets | Double emulsion droplets | Hydrogel beads | Beads with semi- permeable shell (GSBs) |
| | | | | \bigcirc | | | |
| What is required for droplet formation? | Stir-bar ^{31,32} Vortex ^{34,35} Homogenizer ^{33,78,79} Extruder ²⁶ | Homogenizer ^{78,79} Vortex ⁸⁰ Extruder ²⁶ | Stir-bar, Mixer, Extruder, Sonicator ⁵⁴ Vortex ^{55,53} | Microfluidic chip ^{81,82} Co-axial ³⁹ Jetting ⁸³ On-demand ⁸⁴⁻⁸⁶ | Microfluidic chip ^{81,87-89} co-axial ⁴² | Microfluidic chip ^{58,63} Electrostatic droplet generator ^{67,68} | Microfluidic chip ^{61,62} |
| Droplet ø (μm) | ~ 1-20 | ~ 1-20 | ~ 0.1-6 | ~ 4-500 | ~ 15-130 | ~ 20-500 | ~ 20-360 |
| Droplet volume | ~ 0.5 fL - 4pL | ~ 0.5 fL- 4pL | ~ 0.5 aL–110 fL | ~ 5 fL- 4.2 nL | 2pL - 1.2 nL | 4pL-65 nL | ~ 3pL- 25 nL |
| Generation frequency | GHz | GHz | GHz | 100 Hz- 1 MHz | 100 Hz-2 kHz | 100 Hz-2 kHz | 100Hz-2kHz |
| Generation time | ~10 min | ~10 min | ~1 hr | Deper | ident on frequency an | d number of droplets | desired |
| Number of compartments /day | 10 ⁷ -10 ¹¹ | 10 ⁷ -10 ¹¹ | 10 ⁸ -10 ¹¹ | 10 ⁶ -10 ¹⁰ | 10 ⁶ -10 ⁸ | 10 ⁶ -10 ⁸ | 10 ⁶ -10 ⁸ |
| Library screening | Droplets: 23,90-106 Bead display: 28,32,107-110 | 26,27,111 | 55-57,112 | 2,113-132 | 133-137 | 70,71,138-140 ^a | 61 |

^aSelf-encapsulation of cells by hydrogel formation: "fur-shell".



Figure 2. Droplet generation units. (A) Polydisperse water-in-oil droplets are generated via a homogenizer, simply by vortexing or by extruding an emulsion across a filter. For the production of double-emulsion droplets, the process is repeated with the first emulsion in an aqueous carrier phase. (B) Monodisperse droplets are generated in microfluidic devices of varying designs: (1) a T-Junction, (2) a flow-focusing junction, (3) the coaxial flow of the two fluids, or (4) a step device. (C) Double emulsions are generated by flowing water-in-oil droplets into an aqueous carrier phase by using the same geometries that are used for generating monodispersed droplets. (D) Liposomes are generated by the sedimentation of an emulsion through a lipid monolayer and into a second aqueous phase.

reactions in which the product is amplified (as in polymerase selections^{23–25}), rendering them quasi-binary yes/no selections, polydisperse emulsions are particularly suitable.³⁷ Nevertheless, quantitative screenings for reactions that generate an optically active product are also possible,²⁷ and an even subdivision of a screening output into bins has been successful, despite some noise in the sequencing readout.²⁸

The microfluidic production of *monodisperse* emulsions allows a more stringent quantification of the reaction product based on the optical readout.^{29,30,82} There is also an additional level of control in microfluidics: multistep workflows can be constructed; the timing of lysis, reaction, and incubation, and other steps can be precisely governed. The production of monodisperse water-in-oil emulsions³⁸ is not instantaneous, even if it occurs at kHz frequencies, with a output of >10⁸ compartments (with diameters of a few μ m) per day. A large number of microfluidic device designs that achieve near-ideal monodispersity (0.2 to 3% coefficient of variation of the droplet radius)^{39–44} are available (Figure 2B), e.g., flow-focusing devices,³⁸ Tjunctions,^{45–47} coaxial/capillary,^{39,48,49} or step^{50–52} designs.

Monodisperse as well as polydisperse droplets can be emulsified once again to produce water-in-oil-in-water (W/O/ W) "double emulsions" that overall have rheological and electrostatic properties of an aqueous solution, which means that they can be analyzed in widely used commercial devices that are optimized e.g. for cell sorting in flow cytometers (see below).

Liposome compartments can be generated by vortexing a mixture of amphiphilic lipids (e.g., phospholipids such as phosphocholines (POPCs), phospho-glycerol (POPG), phospho-serine (POPS) or a cholesterol mixture) with an aqueous phase to generate a W/O emulsion, which is placed on top of the final outer solution followed by centrifugation (Figure 2D).⁵³ Alternatively, stirring followed by extrusion and sonication⁵⁴ can bring about vesicle compartments. Despite being generally less

stable than emulsions, vesicles can be sorted by fluorescenceactivated cell sorters (FACS). This method of "liposome display" has been used to evolve membrane proteins that benefit from being anchored in the hydrophobic ring around the vesicle^{55,56} as well as an aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase.⁵⁷

An alternative to liquid compartments is to turn the droplet into a microsphere made of a soft material: gel-shell beads (GSBs) "immortalize" the compartmentalization by generating an agarose microsphere with a selectively permissible boundary from a droplet. After encapsulation of all reaction components in monodisperse droplets together with additional components (agarose and alginate), the droplet contents solidify to form a gel upon lowering the temperature,⁵⁸⁻⁶⁰ and thus bead microspheres ($\emptyset \sim 25 \,\mu m$) are generated. Subsequent to the removal of the droplet boundary, the deposition of layers of polyelectrolytes on the surface of these microspheres (based on charge interactions between negative alginate in the gel and positive polyammonium electrolyte) creates a size-selective shell (with permeability only for molecules < 2 kDa). Thus, reaction products (when tagged e.g. to an oligonucleotide) can be captured together with enzyme and its encoding plasmid DNA, creating a genotype-phenotype linkage. Such GSBs have been sorted by FACS in a directed evolution campaign.⁶¹ Hollowcore polyelectrolyte-coated chitosan alginate microcapsules (HC-PCAMs) have been similarly endowed with selective permeability and used to demonstrate enrichment of a sortase (employing a large particle sorter (COPAS, complex object parametric analyzer and sorter) instead of FACS).⁶² Alternative materials provide routes to producing hydrogel beads as microspheres: alginate can be solidified with cations on-chip (Figure 3)⁶³⁻⁶⁶ or by laminar jetting into a bath, 67-71and



Figure 3. Nanoliter hydrogel bead generation. Hydrogels can be used as the aqueous phase for water-in-oil droplet generation on a chip employing the various generation designs (Figure 2). When agarose and alginate droplets are de-emulsified into a positively charged polymeric solution, a layer-by-layer semipermeable shell is formed around the hydrogel. Similarly, the laminar-jet breakup of an alginate solution into a calcium bath generates monodisperse hydrogel beads.

polyacrylamide can be cross-linked.^{72,73} Beads based on hydrogels and other materials (e.g., polystyrene or paramagnetic composites) can also be used as a template to generate nearmonodisperse droplets that tightly wrap around the bead via vortexing^{74–76} or pipetting through filter tips^{28,77} into an oil phase, avoiding microfluidic devices altogether.

3. MODULAR WORKFLOWS AND THEIR OPERATION

In conventional laboratory work, our hands (or liquid handling robots) carry out the basic tasks that an experiment entails. For scaled-down experiments in microdroplets, samples have to be processed in an entirely different way. In the last decades, a number of chip designs have emerged from the "lab-on-a-chip" community that provide a repertoire of "units of manipulation". Workflow design would "translate" each manipulation carried out manually in a large-scale experiment (e.g., adding or removing reagents by hand, carrying out an optical measurement as the basis for a sorting decision) into its on-chip equivalent and combine multiple unit operations into a sequence of steps. This modularity can be conveniently represented as jigsaw pieces. For example, Figure 2 shows multiple designs for ten alternatives for the first step of a microfluidic workflow, droplet formation (and three more for the formation of hydrogels can be found in Figure 3).

The workflow designer would pick one droplet formation module and combine it with the next unit of operation that replaces pipetting in classical experimentation: (i) mixing of reagents occurs by chaotic advection at the point of droplet formation, ^{46,141} (ii) addition of reagents is achieved by droplet merging in passive fashion,¹⁴² by electrocoalescence of two droplets, ^{14,3-146} or by picoinjection of an aqueous stream, ^{1,123,147,148} and (iii) dilution of reagents (Figure 4). A recent addition to the toolkit is the "picowasher", which enables simultaneous addition and subtraction of fluid from droplets, allowing washing of the droplet contents with or without solid particles inside.¹⁴⁹ Once a biochemical reaction is set up with all of its components, the experimenter typically has to allow time for the reaction to proceed, and there are multiple on-chip



Figure 4. Droplet manipulation for mixing, adding, or diluting reagents. (A) Mixing of reagents can be accomplished on chip at the time of generation or by addition of reagents to droplets at a later stage. (B) Merging or fusion of droplets can be done either passively using various device designs or by electrocoalescence. (C) Dilution of the droplet content can be done directly on chip by varying the flow rates of the mixed aqueous phases during generation, controlling the flow and mixing via valve systems, separating a laminar flow in a tree-like design, fusing varying proportions of droplet pairs, simultaneously adding and removing reagents or generating droplets from sequentially diluting a concentrated initial reagent.



Figure 5. Droplet incubation. (A) Droplets can be incubated on a chip within a channel, packed in a chamber, or held in position by trapping features. (B) Droplets can be collected into any collection tube, or in chambers or directly into syringes for easy re-injection into other microfluidic devices for further manipulation, analysis, or sorting.

the incubation period), either in device microchannels,^{119,150,151} in long tubing,¹²⁴ or in a capillary¹⁵² that connects two devices. Incubation times in the region of up to an hour are possible.119,130,151

For longer incubation times, the channels become so long that back-pressure typically builds up and challenges device stability (e.g., stability of droplet generation or delamination of the PDMS from the glass support). When delay-line incubation becomes impractical, incubation chambers or traps provide an on-chip opportunity to store droplets, albeit at the price of losing the rank order of the droplets. Such cavities can contain millions of droplets, and their size can be expanded when support pillars are included in the design.^{153–155} Droplets can also be hydrodynamically captured into traps^{30,156–158} or sink wells^{51,159} for longer-term analysis of droplet contents. While the order is still not easily controlled, time courses for individual droplets can be recorded as the basis for precise characterization of the reaction occurring in a sample of droplets.

Often it is more straightforward to carry out incubations offline instead: in standard Eppendorf tubes, in custom-built collection chambers, 123,133,160 or in syringes 2,89 up to 10^8 droplets can be stored. After incubation, droplets are reinjected



Figure 6. The design cycle for microfluidic chip devices and the main types of available current and future fabrication methods. Rapid design and redesign of prototypes that translate workflows from the macro- to the microscale on chips are necessary to establish new assays for a wider circle of reactions but also within one directed evolution campaign to adjust the design to the increasing proficiency of the evolved catalyst (that requires modified timings or expression, incubation, and/or different selection thresholds). Soft lithography: the most commonly used method; a photomask patterns the UV curing of a photoresist resin. Electron-beam lithography: relies on the deposition energy of the accelerated electrons to the resist film on the substrate using a photomask. Maskless lithography: similar to soft lithography; however, dynamic micron-sized apertures (e.g., DMDs, LCoS) replace a photomask to project the UV onto the photoresist resin. Laminates: several sheets of material are bonded together to form a total device, such as an interface layer, a flow layer, and a bottom layer. 3D printing: an additive manufacturing technique whereby devices are formed from polymerized layers. Laser ablation: a laser removes material through vaporization; typically it is pulsed to reduce surface damage (e.g., cracking). Micromilling: uses an endmill (typically in the hundreds of microns) to drill away material in order to form channels. Xurography: uses a knife plotter to cut patterns out of thin films. Selective laser etching: a laser creates a pattern inside a glass-like material, which is then removed using an etchant. Etching: removes material from the surface using an etchant to create a pattern. Injection molding: prepolymerized pellets of a thermoplastic are heated and injected under pressure into a mold cavity and then cooled to solidify the material. Two-photon polymerization: a high-resolution technique whereby a localized area polymerizes at the focus of laser beam. Hot embossing: similar to injection molding, a thermoplastic is heated up in a mold and the pressure of two plates compresses the polymer into the desired shape.

5575

pubs.acs.org/CR

 Table 2. Benchmarks for Common Microfluidic Fabrication Technologies That Provide Criteria for Choosing Which Method
 Suits the Desired Features and Costs of a Chip Device

| Fabrication method | lcon | Minimum channel feature sizeª | Cost of setup ^b | Cost per device ^c | Flexibility | Scalability | Reference |
|------------------------------|---|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------|-------------|-----------|
| Soft lithography | | Mid nm | \$\$ | \$\$° | 2.5D | Low | 179,163 |
| 3D printing | | Mid µm ^d | Mid µm ^d \$ \$ 3D | | | | 177 |
| Maskless lithography | × | High nm \$\$ \$ 2.5D | | | | Mid | 180 |
| 2-photon polymerisation | | High nm | \$\$\$ | \$\$ | 2.5D | Low | 181 |
| Injection moulding | | High nm | \$\$\$ | \$ | 2.5D | High | 181 |
| Hot embossing | $\begin{array}{c} \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \downarrow \\ \hline \bullet \bullet$ | Mid nm | \$\$\$ | \$ | 2.5D | High | 184 |
| Laser ablation | - - | Low µm | \$ | 2.5D | Low | 184,185 | |
| Micromilling | | High µm | \$\$ | \$ | 2.5D | Low | 186,187 |
| Laminates | -0- | High µm | \$ | \$ | 2.5D | Mid | 188 |
| Electron beam lithography | | Mid nm | \$\$ | \$\$ | 2.5D | Low | 189,190 |
| Selective laser etching | | Low µm | \$\$\$ | \$\$ | 3D | Low | 191,192 |
| Etching | | High nm | \$\$ | \$\$ | 2.5D | Low | 180 |
| Xurography | | High µm | \$ | \$ | 2D | Low | 193 |

^{*a*}Low: 1–10; mid: 10–100; high: 100–1000. ^{*b*}Cost of setup: "\$": \$1000s; "\$\$": \$10,000s; "\$\$\$": \$100,000s. ^{*c*}Cost per device: "\$": \$1–10; "\$\$": \$10–100; "\$\$\$": >\$100. ^{*d*}Microprojection lithography is much smaller but also more costly and time-intensive. ^{*c*}This is the cost of fabricating a new master mold; replicating a design from the mold is much less expensive. Ranges for ^{*b*} and ^{*c*} are the authors' best estimates.

into a chip to be presented for sorting (see Section 5) or any other downstream modules. Re-injection is optimal when the droplets are tightly packed upon entry into the device because diluted droplets lead to an unequal spacing between droplets. Subsequent sorting devices operate with higher quality when the droplets are uniformly spaced.

When directed evolution for higher enzyme activity is successful, the timeframes in one experimental campaign will change: obviously depending on the intrinsic activity of an enzyme, but in addition also when the enzyme becomes faster from one selection round to the next. In such a case the chip design will have to be adjusted to raise the bar for selection by making the conditions more stringent. For example, Schnettler et al.¹¹⁹ started with an off-chip incubation/re-injection workflow but in subsequent stages of evolution, ended up with an integrated device. Here droplet generation, incubation, and sorting were combined, to take account of the ~360-fold improvements that reduced the reaction times from 2-3 h to less than one hour. It is tempting to think that ultimately there will be one "directed evolution machine", but the shifting timescales in directed evolution experiments make it necessary to customize workflows to accommodate the stage of proficiency and set the selection threshold according to the evolutionary strategy chosen. Rapid prototyping of chip devices is, therefore, necessary to accommodate enzymes with different activity levels and to keep up with evolutionary improvements, may they be large or small.

4. CHIP DEVICES

Devices for generation capable of the key modular processes can be made by soft lithography in polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) using standard protocols for rapid prototyping, i.e., iterative testing of designs in cycles (Figure 6) that take a few days, followed by an experimental test (and redesign in response to failures). The soft lithography process is split into two steps: creating the master mold and forming the polymeric device. To create the "master", several lithographic techniques involve the deposition of a thin layer of SU-8 photoresist onto a silicon wafer by spin-coating and "soft baking". Ultraviolet light is then passed through a photomask (glass or plastic etc.) to pattern the photoresist that is subsequently "post baked". The unpolymerized photoresist is dissolved using propylene glycol monomethyl ether acetate (PGMEA).¹⁶¹ Finally, the wafer can then be coated with a fluorinated silane to adjust channel hydrophobicity.¹⁶² In the second step, PDMS is poured into the master mold, baked to form the polymerized device, bonded onto glass (or another PDMS surface) via oxygen plasma treatment, and coated with fluorinated silane for hydrophobicity.^{162,163} The silanization of the PDMS devices serves to reduce "wetting effects" or friction at the channel walls, ¹⁶⁴ and various surface modifications for hydrophobic or hydrophilic coating are available to match the carrier phase, allowing choices of different oils.¹

So-called "2.5D" designs (i.e., varying channel depth within the device) can be created by patterning several layers on the master in an iterative process. In this way, areas of the mask can have an additional buildup of material, leading to varying channel depths within the device. The channel system can be connected to pumps and reservoirs via tubing that is inserted into holes made with biopsy punches. Such devices are perfectly suitable for directed evolution campaigns, although delamination and the soft nature of the material mean that the devices have a limited lifetime. Many other harder materials (e.g., glass, poly(methyl methacrylate) (PMMA)) can be used analogously, and devices can be bought "off-the-shelf" from several companies (e.g., microfluidic ChipShop, Dolomite, and Darwin Microfluidics). Briefly, the choice of device material depends on the application. Inorganic materials (e.g., glass) are durable and rigid, making them very reusable but also more difficult and costly to fabricate. Elastomers (e.g., PDMS) are flexible and can be fabricated more rapidly through soft lithography, but they suffer from delamination issues at high pressures. Thermoplastics are easier to scale-up in production (using hot embossing and injection molding) but become more difficult to manufacture at a smaller scale due to the need for expensive micromachining tools (for an extensive review see ref 15).

Microfluidic designs are generated with AutoCAD, Fusion360, or other computer-aided design software, and the resultant designs are converted into a mask for soft lithographic fabrication (or an STL file for 3D printing). The open access availability of AutoCAD templates (e.g., deposited in DropBase,¹⁶⁵ Grabcad,¹⁶⁶ or Metafluidics¹⁶⁷) makes previously tested designs accessible. It should be noted that *ab initio* design and complex fluid modeling are not prerequisites for working chips. Rapid prototyping of PDMS devices facilitates design– build–test–learn cycles within a few days that are often equally instructive (and readily accessible even for neophytes). Figure 6 summarizes alternative prototyping methods used by companies and in academic settings, and Table 2 profiles their scopes.

The device design depends on turnover rates: fast reactions require integrated modules on a chip,¹³⁰ while slower reactions invite discontinuous processes with off-chip storage for incubation. However, the experimental time scales of different enzyme reactions (and mutants with increasing activities in one experiment) mean that device designs must be frequently adjusted. Soft lithography remains an option for these iterations, but alternative chip manufacturing technologies may soon replace this method. Table 2 gives a breakdown of the advantages and disadvantages of different fabrication techniques. 3D printing has seen a rise in popularity due to the decreasing costs of 3D printers, a decrease in minimum feature size, and the ability to create true 3D channels,168-173 and it would conveniently automate chip manufacture. A race is on for miniaturizing the channel features to match the μ m resolution of the masks used for making PDMS chips. Fused deposition modeling (FDM) 3D printing involves injection of a heated, liquified polymer through a nozzle onto an XYZ stage to "paint" a device design (i.e., build up a three-dimensional structure layer-by-layer).¹⁷⁴ Here the minimal channel dimensions have been shown to be just 58 \times 65 μ m.¹⁷⁵ SLA/DLP (stereolithography/digital light processing) or projection microstereolithography 3D printing builds up material through the polymerization of a photopolymer using a guided laser beam or a configurable mask.¹⁷⁶ When light is guided or projected through a mask to a photopolymer (which then is cured), features are created to achieve flow channel cross sections down to 18×20 μ m.¹⁷⁷ The benefits of 3D printing are the flexibility of the materials used, increased fabrication speed, ease of use, and ability to rapidly share designs globally.¹⁷⁴ However, more development is required to develop inexpensive systems that produce smaller channels.

The lab around the chip is crucial for the operation of a microfluidic device. A standard instrumental setup includes a pump (syringe or pressure pumps), an inverted microscope, a high-speed camera, a computer with control software, syringes,

| Table 5. Overview of Detection Modes Currently Available for Micronuluic Setup | Table 3. | Overview | of Detection | Modes Currer | ntly Available | for Microfluidic Se | tups |
|--|----------|----------|--------------|---------------------|----------------|---------------------|------|
|--|----------|----------|--------------|---------------------|----------------|---------------------|------|

| | Pictogram | Detection mode | Sensitivity ^g | Frequency ^g | Droplet size ^g | Applied to sorting? ^e | Applied to library screening? ^b | References |
|------------------|-------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------|------------------------|------------------------------|----------------------------------|--|-------------|
| | | Fluorescence intensity | Low nM | Low kHz | Low pL | 1 | 1 | 202,227,228 |
| | ₩. 0 ₩. | Fluorescence polarization | Low nM | Low Hz | Mid nL | x | × | 210 |
| | | Fluorescence | Low nM ^a | Mid Hz | Mid pL | 1 | x | 212,211 |
| | | Absorbance | Mid µM | Low kHz | High pL | 1 | ~ | 128,208,206 |
| Optical | | Photothermal interferometry | Low µM | Low kHz | High fL | x | x | 213 |
| methods | **** | Optoacoustic imaging | n.a. | Low kHz ^d | High nL | x | x | 214 |
| | | Raman spectroscopy | n.a. | Low Hz | Mid nL | 1 | ✓ | 215,229 |
| | M+ O w+ | Infrared | High mM | n.a. | n.a. | x | x | 216 |
| | | Light scattering | n.a. ^f | High Hz | High pL | J. | x | 217 |
| | | Image analysis | n.a. ^f | Low Hz | Low nL | x | x | 218 |
| | | Mass spectrometry | Mid µM | Low Hz | Mid nL | ۲. | x | 223 |
| | RE CE | Electrochemistry | Low µM | Mid Hz | Mid nL | 1 | ✓ | 108 |
| Other methods | | NMR | Low mM | Low Hz ^a | Low µl | x | x | 224 |
| | - | Surface tension | High nM | Mid Hz | High pL | 1 | x | 225 |
| | 1 | Buoyancy | n.a. | n.a. ^c | Mid nL | 1 | x | 226 |

^{*a*}Estimated from graphs provided or related literature. ^{*b*}Applied in a screening of enzyme activity from a functional metagenomic or directed evolution library. ^{*c*}Passive selection: in theory the throughput is only limited by the droplet generation frequency. ^{*d*}Only the B-scan rate is shown, not how quickly droplets can be measured. ^{*e*}Referring to *any* sorting experiment, i.e. an enrichment experiment or a library screening (not necessarily of enzyme activity and not necessarily monoclonal). ^{*f*}Used for cells, no molar detection limit available. ^{*g*}Low, 1–10; mid, 10–100; high, 100–1000; n.a. not applicable or available.

and tubing. Pressure is provided to the syringes through the action of pumps, generally using syringe pumps or vacuum pumps. Due to the high speeds that are used in droplet microfluidics, typically, droplets flow in the kHz range, and a high-speed camera is needed to look at the functioning and routing of the droplets in a human-accessible time scale. Computer control is provided as proprietary software (e.g., for pump operation) or is custom-built using several programs such as LabView or custom-written software (e.g., Python-based). Concerted efforts to share software would be highly beneficial for the user community, helping to avoid reinventing the wheel and making an interdisciplinary research area easier to navigate for newcomers. Sharing software or code is possible via OpenWetWare or GitHub (see e.g. our repositories^{165,178}).

5. DETECTION AND SORTING

The optical transparency of the device material makes interrogation of droplet contents possible when an optical probe is integrated into the biological assay carried out in a droplet (Table 3). An optical signal reporting on the concentration of reaction product is then translated into a sorting decision.

Fluorogenic assays are the most sensitive: when fluorescein is a reaction product, as little as 3000 molecules can be detected per droplet (corresponding to a low nanomolar concentration in picoliter droplet volumes),¹²⁰ based on laser-induced fluorescence. The small reaction volume means that the enzyme concentration can easily be higher than the detectable fluorescein product concentration: >40,000 copies of GFP can be generated from one template molecule by in vitro expression¹⁵³ or >10⁶ copies of an enzyme from lysis of a single cell:¹²⁸ this means that fewer than a single turnover per enzyme molecule is comfortably detectable. Paradoxically the extreme miniaturization in droplets thus increases sensitivity compared to plate-based screens. While finding a highly efficient enzyme is the ultimate goal of a discovery campaign, early stages of directed evolution or metagenomic screening often involve lowactivity catalysts (with an initially weak, promiscuous activity as a springboard for improvements)^{194–196} that are inefficiently expressed in a heterologous host. For these targets, fluorescence provides access to crucial starting points for evolutionary campaigns.

In addition to practical shortcomings (e.g., photobleaching), limits of fluorescence detection emerge when precise fine-tuning of enzymes for substrates that do not have a fluorogenic group is required. Fluorescein is bulky and hydrophobic, so it is potentially very different in terms of molecular recognition from natural functional groups. As a leaving group it is much more reactive (pK_a 6.4) than natural leaving groups (e.g. sugars, pK_a 12–14). Often improvements for a fluorescein-containing model substrate translate into a concomitant increase in the activity of substrates that e.g. have a different leaving group.^{119,197} However, this improvement is typically smaller due to specialization for the fluorogenic substrate—following directed evolution's basic law, "you get what you screen for".¹⁹⁸

Most cases of successful library selections on-chip (see Figure 7, Table 3) were based on coupling fluorescence detection with dielectrophoresis, $^{199-202}$ in which an electrode (0.5–2 kV) is triggered by the optical signal (FADS, fluorescence-activated droplet sorting). kHz screening rates can be achieved (routinely with rates similar to a flow cytometer of 1–8 kHz, 119,120,125,129,130,197 but even achieving up to 30 kHz²⁰³). Most screens are based on a single fluorophore, but selection



Figure 7. Sorting. Following analysis of the contents of individual droplets for product formation (using the methods listed in Table 3) sorting decisions are taken and droplets are steered into a collection bin for positive hits (whereas without intervention they would move into an outlet). In two cases of self-sorting, the content of the droplets causes the physical properties of the entire droplet to change, so that hydrodynamics or buoyancy becomes indicative of reaction progress.

based on multiple color detection has also been demonstrated.²⁰⁴ Other sorting methods are shown in Figure 7.

It is important to note that water-in-oil emulsions cannot be sorted in most flow cytometers (FACS, fluorescence-activated cell sorters) because the majority use an aqueous sheath fluid as a carrier phase and are incompatible with an oil phase carrying water-in-oil emulsion droplets. However, alternative droplet formats exist to replace the on-chip sorter with a FACS. Single emulsions are emulsified again to produce water-in-oil-in-water "double emulsions" that overall have rheological and electrostatic properties of an aqueous solution and are amenable to FACS (Figure 2C).⁸⁹ The multistep processes described in the preceding section can still be carried out when the second emulsification step is performed last. Polydisperse single emulsions can be converted into double emulsions using a homogenizer,^{27,78} by vortexing,⁸⁰ or by filter extrusion.²⁶ When the monodispersity is to be retained, on-chip re-emulsification of monodisperse single emulsions is possible.^{42,88,89} Liposomes behave as double-emulsion droplets and can be sorted in FACS.^{56,57} Likewise, formats in which a bead is carrying genotype and phenotype can be sorted by FACS, which has been employed for the selection of protein binders, 77,205 kinases, 28 or triesterases.32

FACS and on-chip sorters operate with similar throughputs, $>10^7$ per day, so both methods are similarly powerful. On-chip workflows allow setting up more complex processes (see below, Figure 9), but FACS sorting of double emulsions removes a technical complication and, with only a droplet-formation step performed on-chip, will be much easier to implement in nonspecialist laboratories. For widening the circle of users, a sorting step that only requires access to a walk-in instrument, e.g. in a centralized facility, will be highly attractive and help to popularize droplet approaches to a broader audience. However, FACS is limited to fluorogenic assays and serves only a relatively narrow range of target reactions. Also current multistep workflow protocols (see below, Figure 9) are only feasible while the droplets are on the chip, but when converted to double emulsions, microfluidic on-chip processing ceases to be an option.

Absorbance detection has more recently emerged as an alternative detection mode to enlarge the reactions of interest to



Figure 8. Expression systems used in droplets. Single library members are encapsulated in droplets according to Poisson distributions where they encounter the reaction substrate. For *in vitro* systems DNA library members are compartmentalized and expressed using cell-free expression systems. Alternatively, cells representing library members (and containing the genotype) are compartmentalized: while the encounter with substrate is straightforward for display systems (e.g., yeast or *E. coli* display), for intracellularly produced enzymes, full or partial cell lysis or secretion of the enzyme is necessary. Finally, intracellularly expressed protein can be screened without lysis when the substrate is transported in and the product out of the cell to be detected by a cocompartmentalized sensor strain.

chromogenic assays and can be coupled with dielectrophoretic sorting, named absorbance-activated droplet sorting (AADS) in analogy to the FADS described above. Practically, AADS is attractive: the setup is more straightforward and less expensive than FADS, as no lasers or photomultiplier tubes are needed. On the other hand, detection is not as sensitive as fluorescence detection (high μ M vs nM detection limits, respectively). Absorbance is directly proportional to path length; therefore, droplets with a larger diameter (and therefore larger volumes) are needed. Consequently, the amount of reagent required for each droplet is larger, and the throughput of sorting is reduced because a higher electric field is needed to sort larger droplets.

In current enzyme screening campaigns, FADS was at least ~20-fold faster than AADS $(1-3 \text{ kHz}^{199,202} \text{ vs } 100 \text{ Hz})$.¹²⁸ Attempts to increase the sensitivity and sensitivity of absorbance sorting have been made: (i) Duncombe et al.²⁰⁶ introduced UVADS (UV-Vis Spectra Activated Droplet Sorter) in a channel design with increased path length (by installing a rightangled turn at the detection interface) and by recording entire spectra (200-1050 nm) as unique signatures in UV-Vis Spectra-Activated Droplet Sorting. (ii) Richter et al.²⁰⁷ have shown kHz sorting throughput in a model separation based on removal of droplet trace artifacts by using a combination of surface acoustic waves and microlenses in the form of an optical air cavity. (iii) Medcalf et al.²⁰⁸ overcame the scattering caused by droplet edges in an improved microfluidic design (i.e., with a single-layered inlet leading to enabling more even spacing), refractive index matching, and faster sorting algorithms (compared to ref 128), so sorting around 1 kHz became possible.

Fluorescence anisotropy (or fluorescence polarization) is a similarly sensitive detection technology to distinguish between bound and unbound forms of the fluorescently labeled analyte. Here, the fluorophore—attached away from the place of binding or catalysis—is excited using linearly polarized light, and the ratio between vertically and horizontally polarized emission light provides information about the rotational lifetime or tumbling of the fluorescently labeled substrate. This effectively provides a size measurement that has been used on droplets for assessment of binding processes.^{209,210} Extending this approach to catalysis (e.g., of size-changing protease or glycosidase reaction) will be useful to assay biopolymer-degrading or -assembling enzymes, but the integration into a sorter is necessary.

Fluorescence lifetime assays require a longer measuring time than the above-mentioned fluorescence assays (>ms instead of < μ s), but in recent experiments fluorescence lifetime-activated droplet sorting (FLADS) has been shown to operate with frequencies in the 60–100 Hz range.^{211,212}

Many other optical detection techniques have been developed: photothermal interferometry,²¹³ optoacoustic imaging,²¹⁴ Raman,²¹⁵ infrared imaging,²¹⁶ light scattering,²¹⁷ and image analysis.²¹⁸ While opening the option for different screening modalities, they all have reduced sensitivity, with the highest, photothermal interferometry, being at a low μ M concentration. Methods to increase sensitivity and enable screening²¹⁵ have been developed and successfully used in sorting a diacylglycerol acyltransferase library.²¹⁹ The frequency of these techniques varies, with photothermal interferometry and optoacoustic imaging managing kHz speeds, while the others are at 1–100 Hz speeds.

A very attractive detection method is mass spectrometry (MS), because it is label-free, potentially possible with any ionizable product, and also provides information on multiple product candidates (and their ratios) emerging from an enzymatic reaction. Electrospray ionization has been used in several studies, after phase separation,²²⁰ directly from biphasic systems (double emulsions)²²¹ or from plugs in segmented flow.²²² In one case, an enzyme activity screening has been demonstrated: Holland-Moritz et al.²²³ enabled this by splitting droplets on-chip into two queues, one to be analyzed by ESI-MS and the other for dielectrophoretic sorting in response to the MS result (with addition of marker droplets for synchronization). Now sequences and functional readout could be matched, albeit with a throughput of <1 Hz. In these seminal experiments, $>10^{6}$ copies of the DNA template had to be supplied in the droplets. Library selections would require droplets to be monoclonal (at least initially); therefore, integration with DNA amplification may be necessary. It will also need to be checked whether in vitro expression produces enough protein to yield detectable quantities of product if its ionization is difficult.

Other non-optical methods have been developed: electrochemistry¹⁰⁸ and NMR.²²⁴ These methods both work at a much lower frequency (1–10 Hz) due to the need for a longer interrogation time and the need for a large droplet volume. Surface tension-²²⁵ and buoyancy-based²²⁶ detection have also been applied to droplet sorting, with potentially very high throughputs possible for buoyancy screening due to passive selection.

We envision more progress on label-free detection methods to be developed to match conventional microfluidic sorting speeds

Table 4. Enzyme Assays Demonstrated in Microfluidic Droplets Categorized by Reaction Type, Part 1^e

| Cata | lytic Reaction | Screening Host Format | | | | | | | Screening Type Emulsion | | | | | | | Sorting | | | | | | | Workflow ^d | Literature | | |
|-----------|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|--------------|-------------------|--------------|------------|--------------|--------------|----------------------------|--------------|--------------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|----------------------|------------------|--------------|--------------|------|------|-----------------------|------------|-----|-----|
| Туре | Reaction | Bacteria | Yeast | Filamentous Fungi | In vitro | Whole cell | Lysate | Display | Secretion | Enrichment | Directed evolution | Functional Metagenomics | Polydisperse | Monodisperse | Single | Double | Solid particle-based | DNA Modification | FACS | FADS | AADS | RADS | Electrochemistry | Buoancy | | |
| | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | B1 | 26 |
| | β-galactosidase | \checkmark | | | | ~ | (√) | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 202 |
| | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | ~ | V | | | | | √ a | | | | | A3 | 232 |
| | | ~ | | | | | ~ | | | | ~ | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | ~ | | | | | A1 | 113 |
| | β-glucosidase | ~ | | | | ~ | | | (√) | | ~ | | | ~ | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 114 |
| | β-glucoronidase | ~ | | | | | ~ | | | | | ~ | | ~ | V | | | | | ~ | | | | | A1 | 197 |
| | β-N- acetylglucosaminosi dase | V | | | | ~ | (√) | | | | | ~ | | ~ | | ~ | | | ~ | | | | | | B2 | 133 |
| | β-xylosidase | ~ | | | | | ~ | | | ~ | | | | ~ | V | | | | | | ~ | | | | A1 | 257 |
| | | | V | ' | | ~ | | | (√) | | ~ | | | V | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 115 |
| | α-amylase | | | V | | ~ | | | (√) | | ~ | | | \checkmark | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 116 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | ~ | | | (√) | | V | | | V | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 117 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | ~ | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 244 |
| | Cellulase | | ~ | r | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 258 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | ~ | | | (√) | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 118 |
| Hydrolase | Phosphonate hydrolase | V | | | | | V | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | | | | | | ~ | | | | | A1 | 2 |
| | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | | | | C3 | 32 |
| | Phosphotriesterase | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | | | | C1 | 61 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 119 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 120 |
| | Organophosphate hydrolase | \checkmark | | | | ✓⊳ | (√) | | | | \checkmark | | V | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | B2 | 111 |
| | Nuclease | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | D1 | 90 |
| | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | | | C3 | 259 |
| | | | \checkmark | r | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | B2° | 134 |
| | Esterase | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 121 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | ~ | | ~ | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | | | | | B2 | 135 |
| | Sulfatase | \checkmark | | | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | | | ~ | | ~ | | | ~ | | | | | | B2 | 89 |
| | | \checkmark | | | | | | ~ | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 122 |
| | Thiolactonase | \checkmark | | | | ✓⁵ | (√) | | | | \checkmark | | V | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | | | | | B1 | 27 |
| | Peptidase | \checkmark | | | | V | (√) | | | ~ | | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 260 |
| | Sortase | | | | | | | | | | ~ | | | | | | | | ~ | | | | | | C3 | 107 |
| | Protease | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A2 | 123 |

^{*a*}Fluorescence-activated electrocoalescence rather than FADS (i.e., a sorted droplet is merged into an aqueous stream for more efficient DNA recovery). ^{*b*}Substrate added to oil phase and diffused into droplets and cross cell membranes or spontaneous lysis. ^{*c*}In a variation to most other procedures, the second emulsification step is performed *before* incubation. ^{*d*}Assigned worflows are discussed in section 8, Figure 9. Check marks in brackets indicate formats inferred from publication. ^{*e*}Only assays in a monoclonal format that achieved at least enrichment are included.

due to the obvious advantage of not needing a labeled substrate or product. This circumvents lengthy assay development times

Table 5. Enzyme Assays Demonstrated in Microfluidic Droplets Categorized by Reaction Type - Part 2^c

| Catal | ytic Reaction | 5 | Scree | ning H | lost | | For | mat | | Sc | reeni Type | ng | | E | nulsi | on | | | | 5 | Sortin | g | | | Workflow ^a | References |
|----------------|-----------------------------------|--------------|--------------|-------------------|--------------|------------|--------------|--------------|-----------|------------|--------------------|-------------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|----------------------|------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|------|------------------|---------|-----------------------|--------------|
| Туре | Reaction | Bacteria | Yeast | Filamentous Fungi | In vitro | Whole cell | Lysate | Display | Secretion | Enrichment | Directed evolution | Functional Metagenomics | polydisperse | monodisperse | single | double | Solid particle-based | DNA Modification | FACS | FADS | AADS | RADS | Electrochemistry | Buoancy | | |
| | Peroxidase | | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 124 |
| | Hydrogenase | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | V | | | | | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | | | C3 | 261 |
| | Catalase | V | | | | ~ | | | | V | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | | | | | | | V | C2 | 226 |
| | Laccase | V | | | | ~ | (√) | | | V | | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A2 | 262 |
| | Cyclohexylamine oxidase | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 125 |
| | | V | | | | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | C24 | 140 |
| Oxidoreductase | Glucose oxidase | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | | | | | | | \checkmark | | | | A1 | 263 |
| | | | \checkmark | | | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 126 |
| | Dhamidalanina DU | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | | ~ | | | | A3 | 146 |
| | Phenylalanine DH | V | | | | | V | | | | ~ | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | | ~ | | | | A1 | 127,128 |
| | Formate DH | | | | ~ | | | | | | ~ | | | | | | ~ | | ~ | | | | | | C3 | 248 |
| | Alcohol DH | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | V | | | | ~ | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 264 |
| | Isocitrate DH | | | | ~ | | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | ~ | | | | | | ~ | | C3 | 108 |
| Lyase | Retro-aldolase | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 128,129 |
| | Methyltransferase | | | | \checkmark | | | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | D1 | 31 |
| | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | D1 | 91,92 |
| | Diacylglycerol acyltransferase | | ~ | | | V | | | | ~ | | | | ~ | | | | | | | | ~ | | | A1 | 229 |
| | Kinase | | | | ~ | | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | ~ | | \checkmark | | | | | | C3 | 28 |
| Transferase | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | V | | | ~ | | ~ | | | ~ | | | | | | | D1 | 265 |
| | | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | ~ | | ~ | | | ~ | | | | | | | D1 | 23,24,93-103 |
| | Nucleic acid polymerase | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | ~ | | \checkmark | | | | | | C3 | 109 |
| | Nucleic acid polymerase | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | V | | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 266 |
| | | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | B2 | 136 |
| | | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | ~ | V | | | V | \checkmark | | | | | A1,B2 | 137 |
| Ligase | Aminoacyl tRNA | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | D1 | 104 |
| Ligase | synthetase | | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | В3 | 57 |
| Isomerase | Amino acid racemase | V | | | | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | V | | \checkmark | | | | | | C2 | 70,71 |
| Translocase | Multidrug transporter EmrE | | | | \checkmark | | | ~ | | | \checkmark | | ~ | | | | | | V | | | | | | B3 | 56 |
| | RNA ligase | | | | ~ | | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | ~ | | \checkmark | | | | | | C3 | 110 |
| | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | D1 | 131 |
| Ribozyme | RNA polymerase | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | | \checkmark | | | | | | | D2 | 105 |
| NISOZYING | Diels-Alderase | | | | \checkmark | | | | | | \checkmark | | \checkmark | | V | | | V | | | | | | | D1 | 106 |
| | RNA-cleavage | | | | ~ | | | | | | \checkmark | | | V | V | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A2 | 132 |
| | RNA-cleavage | | | \checkmark | | | | | ~ | | | | V | ~ | | | | | \checkmark | | | | | A1 | 267 | |

"Assigned worflows are discussed in section 8, Figure 9. Check marks in brackets indicate formats inferred from publication. ^bType refers to enzyme classes, with ribozymes as a seperate category. EC classes are surrounded by bold frames. The remaining EC class "hydrolase" is covered in Table 4. ^cOnly published assays in a monoclonal format that achieved at least enrichment are included.

and prevents evolving enzymes that are not specific to the target of interest but to the label itself. However, sensitivity issues and the length of the interrogation time need further development.

Additionally, other sorting mechanisms are in exploration, e.g. (i) hydrodynamic "self-sorting" of differently sized drop-lets²³⁰⁻²³² or of droplets with different buoyancy;²²⁶ (ii) magnetic sorting²³³ based on the encapsulation of magnetic particles that enable pulling droplets into a sorting channel; and

(iii) sorting with pneumatic valves (via actuation of a valve that opens or closes a channel).^{234–,236}

6. EXPRESSION SYSTEMS

The identity of library members is defined by a DNA identifier—a gene or a plasmid or fosmid in a cell—depending on whether an *in vitro* or *in vivo* expression is used to generate protein. The DNA is supplied at the start of an experiment into

emulsion droplets in a Poisson distributed fashion. Here, Poisson's equation describes the probabilistic likelihood of the occupation of a droplet compartment with 0, 1, or more. Ideally, droplets are monoclonal, i.e., initially containing just one library member, so a Poisson distribution, in which single compartmentalization dominates (while the majority of droplets is typically empty), is chosen, e.g., in directed evolution experiments.

The practical challenges for the expression system include the following: (*i*) monoclonality, expression from single variants, while also having to recover enough DNA for decoding to avoid the loss of hits (Figure 8); (*ii*) access, the need for the target enzyme to reach its substrate, i.e., not be physically separated by, e.g., a cell membrane; (*iii*) sensitivity, sufficient amounts of protein to turn over enough substrate to product to exceed the detection threshold; so expression systems have to be efficient.

6.1. In Vivo Expression

Bacterial lysates have been used most often for making protein available in droplets: $^{2,237-239}$ the protein is produced, e.g., in *E*. coli that are grown offline (with the protein remaining in the bacterial cytosol) and compartmentalized into droplets, followed by cell lysis. If single bacteria are coencapsulated with a lysis agent and substrate, it is especially important that a high-copy-number plasmid is used to allow for efficient DNA recovery. High-copy-number plasmids are readily available and typically harbor inserts of 3-5 kb in length. This is optimal when screening for improved variants in a directed evolution project,^{2,119,127,130} but also functional metagenomic campaigns for the discovery of new enzymes from environmental DNA in plasmids have been successful.^{120,197} When larger inserts are screened, i.e., fosmids or cosmids (with 30-40 kb environmental DNA per vector), no high-copy-number constructs are available. The very low copy number of fosmids or cosmids requires amplification for successful recovery.¹³³ To this end, single cells can be compartmentalized and then grown in droplets.¹⁴⁶ Adding a level of control, an *E. coli* system has been introduced that allows for the titratable induction of lysis of a defined fraction of the bacterial population.²⁴⁰ Alternatively, after bacterial growth, complete lysis can be achieved by picoinjection of lysis agents.¹⁴⁶ Avoiding the need for lysis, enzymes can also be expressed in the bacterial periplasm^{82,241} into which many substrates can diffuse, be displayed on the bacterial^{122,242} or yeast surface,¹²⁴ or be secreted.^{115,116,243} In these four approaches, living cells are recovered after sorting, offering the possibility to enhance recovery by growth amplification.

Microfluidic assays with whole cells have also been successfully applied to the discovery of active catalysts.²⁴⁴ The screening of intact cells can be especially useful in metabolic engineering when entire pathways or different genomic locations are involved in the target phenotype, e.g., improved protein secretion.^{114,115,117,118} or the production of secondary metabolites combined with a sensor strain for detection.²²⁶

6.2. In Vitro Evolution

In vitro expression systems are an attractive alternative to cellbased screening systems. They either use the unpurified protein synthesis machinery of cells²⁴⁵ or a defined mix of purified components.²⁴⁶ Cell-free directed evolution campaigns have four key advantages: (i) they are unconstrained by transformation efficiency; (ii) they are unaffected by potential toxic side effects of the expressed protein to the survival of the host organism; (iii) they can be carried out under conditions that avoid biological (arising from the proteome of the host organism) and chemical background reactions (e.g., by changing to a nonphysiological pH); and (iv) they enable quick workflows not depending on cell-based library cloning. Indeed *in vitro* expression systems were already used in the first functional screening studies in polydisperse droplets targeting DNA modifying enzymes.^{31,92} In addition, there is the conceptual beauty of the droplet as an *in vitro* compartment that resembles artificially created protocells, as a vessel accommodating just one biochemical process that is to be evolved without interference from other processes.

On the other hand, practical challenges complicate in vitro evolution. Since monoclonality requires just one variant per droplet, DNA recovery can be difficult. Early studies reported successful enrichment of active library members from only one DNA molecule per droplet,^{26,31,91} or bead,^{32,108} but DNA recovery may be suboptimal. Emulsion PCR²³² or rolling circle amplification $(RCA)^{152}$ in droplets prior to expression is an option for amplification. Regarding workflow design, thermal cycling and the reagents required for RCA are incompatible with the available in vitro expression systems which must be built into later steps. For example, IVTT components were added via picoinjection¹³² or electrocoalescence of two droplets¹⁵² only after the DNA amplification step. This was achieved by Holstein et al.¹²³ in a multistep workflow for the directed evolution of proteases that thus far is the only demonstration of screening of in vitro expressed enzymes in microfluidic droplets.

Experimental *in vitro* alternatives exist: the coding DNA, expressed protein,¹⁰⁸ and products can, after initial droplet compartmentalization, be captured on a single bead^{28,34,77,205} to preserve the genotype–phenotype linkage. After de-emulsification and washing steps, the addition of chemicals in a solution and sorting by FACS can proceed without microfluidics, and the union of genotype and phenotype on a bead allows recovery and decoding of hits without compartmentalization.

7. REACTION TYPES AMENABLE TO MICROFLUIDIC ENZYME SCREENING

The starting point of any directed evolution campaign is the availability of a robust assay that allows for accurate quantification of the reaction progress in each droplet. Tables 4 and 5 give an overview of the reactions currently amenable to droplet screening, covering all seven enzyme commission number (EC) classes (oxidoreductases, transferases, hydrolases, lyases, isomerases, ligases, and translocases). The criterion for inclusion in these tables is at least a successful enrichment in monoclonal format (one gene per droplet). Evidence of successful directed evolution experiments is indicated as the proof that single library members in a library of great diversity can be identified and recovered.

As in directed evolution, in general, many screening campaigns have targeted hydrolase reactions, for which fluorogenic or chromogenic substrates are readily available for the most straightforward way of following reaction progress by optical interrogation of droplets. Typically the natural leaving group is replaced by a fluorophore or chromophore, and the reaction product lights up: the hydrolyses of peptides, sugars, and carboxy-, phospho-, phosphono-, and sulfoesters have been assayed in this way. Such substrates have large optically active hydrophobic leaving groups, so the molecular recognition properties of such model substrates may be altered, and their typically higher reactivity (with leaving groups with lowered pK_a values compared to native substrates) makes observation of promiscuous reactions more likely. Alternatively, assays of



Figure 9. General workflows to screen for enzymatic activity in droplets. Subfigure numbering indicates workflows assigned in Tables 5 and 6. (A) Reaction in monodisperse droplets and droplet sorting. Monodisperse droplets are produced, incubated and analyzed either without manipulation (1) or manipulated by picoinjection (2) or droplet fusion (3). After analysis, droplets are sorted on-chip. (B) Double emulsions and liposomes sorted by FACS. Polydisperse (1) or monodisperse (2) droplets are produced and incubated. In a second step, a polydisperse (1) or monodisperse (2) double emulsion is formed and then sorted by FACS. An alternative to double emulsions is direct encapsulation in polydisperse liposomes (3) which can be incubated and sorted by FACS. (C) Solid-particle-based genotype—phenotype linkage. Gel-shell beads (1), nanoliter hydrogels (2) or microbeads (3) are produced, incubated, and sorted by FACS. Sorting has also been performed by buoyancy, pulldown, or on-chip droplet sorting if the solid particle remains encapsulated. (D) Selection of nucleic acid-manipulating enzymes by encapsulation without sorting. DNA libraries are compartmentalized in a polydisperse (1) or monodisperse (2) emulsions, and a readout is directly achieved by manipulation of the encoding gene (e.g., amplification). The droplet emulsion is broken and the activity of variants is represented by the quantity of its encoding gene.

proteolytic¹²³ or glycolytic¹¹⁵ activity based on the autoquenching of BODIPY-labeled substrates that generate fluorescence after cleavage have also been successful. While chemically unactivated bonds are cleaved, the assay is not sequence-specific, reporting on activity rather than specificity.

For many relevant substrates, the cleavage of one particular bond does not directly result in the generation (or unquenching) of an optically active molecule. Coupled reaction systems that convert an optically inactive product into a downstream optical signal can potentially expand the scope of the assayable reactions. For example, free thiol groups produced by thiolactonase activity can be detected by fluorogenic compounds that react with the product thiol to form a fluorophore. Thioester hydrolysis can thus be followed by fluorescence without a custom-made substrate and without a potentially non-natural bulky leaving group.²⁷ In more complex cascades, optically inactive reactants were coupled to downstream fluorescence¹²⁵ or absorbance^{127,128,146,257} readouts via secondary reactions, covering redox reactions. Once reliably established, coupled reactions simplify the requirement for custom-made or expensive substrates that may only be available for standard reactions. Cascade reactions can be highly specific for the initial substrate (e.g., a natural sugar²⁵⁷ identified by a specific hydrolase, albeit without an optical signal), while the downstream reactions that process the initial product to create an optical signal are generic.²⁵⁷ In this way, the same assay mode can be used for a range of evolution campaigns. As long as highquality enzymes with sufficient specificity for the first reaction are available, direct selection pressure can be applied e.g. to a range of natural substrates, with the same detection setup.

In vitro systems provide an avenue to set up product detection manifolds that would be hard to use in cell-based systems. A potentially generalizable platform has been developed for NAD(H)-utilizing enzymes, taking advantage of protein (and, in the future, nucleic acid) sensors for product detection. Here, highly functionalized microbeads were decorated with multiple copies of identical enzyme variant-encoding DNA on each bead,²⁴⁷ together with a bead-immobilized analogue of the cosubstrate NAD⁺. These beads were then compartmentalized in polydisperse water-in-oil emulsion droplets, where they were



Figure 10. Functional metagenomic discovery of phosphotriesterases.¹²⁰ (A) Workflow. Monodisperse droplets are generated with a metagenomic library expressed in an *E. coli* host and a fluorogenic substrate. The droplets are stored off-chip and then reinjected into a FADS device that sorts fluorescent droplets. (B) Fluorogenic assay. A fluorescein-phosphoester derivative is hydrolyzed to yield fluorescein that can be detected in FADS. (C) Hits from metagenomic screening. While PC83 was predicted to be a potential phosphotriesterase by Pfam domain recognition, the hit PC91 has open reading frames with Pfam family and superfamily assignments that had not been previously associated with triesterase activity. (D) Active site of the novel phosphotriesterase PC91 that uses a catalytic triad in its catalytic mechanism.



Figure 11. Directed evolution of an enantioselective esterase using a dual-channel device.¹²¹ (A) A FADS device allowing excitation with two lasers was designed to simultaneously report on the conversion of two different fluorophores (indicated by green and blue droplets), in a workflow similar to that in ref 130. (B) The profen ester substrate of the enzyme can be modified with either a coumarin or a fluorescein leaving group. Modification of different profen enantiomers with distinct fluorophores allows screening for enantioselective esterases using the dual-channel FADS device. (C) A profen esterase was evolved over multiple rounds of directed evolution. Cumulative improvements in enantioselectivity E are displayed for the wild type and variants arising from several rounds of directed evolution. First, a library was screened for general improvement of catalytic activity, without regard to enantioselectivity. This screen yielded Q30 (with a 2-fold improvement) and, after a further round of error-prone PCR, 1E9 (4-fold improvement) as the top performers. In stage two, the dual-channel device was used to gate for enantioselective variants, and variants 6A8 and 4E11, with 700-fold and 560-fold improved enantioselectivity, were identified.

exposed to a cell-free expression mixture and enzyme substrate so that reaction progress (in this case by the model enzyme format dehydrogenase) led to a concomitant turnover of NAD⁺ to NADH. The addition of a fluorescent-protein-based sensor of NAD(H) then serves to report the redox state of the beadimmobilized cofactor, and flow cytometric sorting of beads identifies those with maximal reaction progress by sensing the ratio of NAD⁺:NADH on each bead.²⁴⁸ Reminiscent of earlier work,³² the beads constitute a genotype—phenotype linkage²⁴⁹ that is initially isolated by a droplet compartment and sorted after its removal on the basis of the distinguishing capacity of an added sensor. The more sensor molecules that become available,^{250–255} the more versatile this approach will be for future assay design.

8. FULLY INTEGRATED WORKFLOWS IN DIRECTED EVOLUTION CAMPAIGNS: FROM MODEL ENRICHMENTS TO EXAMPLES FOR SUCCESSFULLY INTEGRATED SYSTEMS VALIDATED BY LIBRARY SCREENING

The availability of devices, analytical interfaces, a range of assays (with an understanding of their dynamic range and sensitivity), and proof-of-principle experiments is an important preliminary of setting up screening experiments (Figure 9). Enrichment experiments can help to assess whether a workflow is fit to operate and quantification of the observed enrichment is a helpful benchmark for iterative improvements. In enrichment experiments, a defined mix of positive and negative clones is sorted, and the amount of positive variants after sorting is assessed experimentally. There are two ways to calculate enrichments, different in how they define the fraction of positive clones before and after sorting.



Figure 12. Directed evolution of an aldolase.¹³⁰ (A) Workflow. Monodisperse droplets are generated, including the library expressed in *E. coli* and the substrate. The droplets are incubated on-chip to enable short incubation times. Fluorescent droplets are sorted. (B) Assay. The aldolase cleaves the substrate, releasing a ketone and a fluorophore. (C) 11 mutations (yellow spheres) were introduced to generate the starting point that was subsequently optimized by low-throughput directed evolution (green spheres) over 13 rounds of evolution followed by five rounds of directed evolution in droplets (cyan spheres). (D) Michaelis–Menten plot comparing the starting point of the ultrahigh-throughput campaign (RA95.5-8, green) with the variant with the highest activity (RA95.5-8F, blue) after directed evolution. (*E*(Catalytic tetrad emerging after directed evolution. We thank Prof. Donald Hilvert for providing the material for the subfigures C, D and E.



Figure 13. Directed evolution of an amine oxidase.¹²⁵ (A) Coupled assay used to screen for amine oxidase activity. The amine substrate is oxidized, yielding H_2O_2 as byproduct, which oxidizes Amplex UltraRed to Resorufin. (B) After one round of directed evolution, the active site of the enzyme is remodeled by introduction of five mutations. (C) The variant yielded from directed evolution (PT.1, blue) has a 960-fold improved k_{cat}/K_{M} . We thank Prof. Donald Hilvert for providing the material for the subfigures B and C.

Baret et al. define enrichment η as follows:²⁰²

$$\eta = \frac{N_{+}^{1}}{N_{-}^{1}} / \frac{N_{+}^{0}}{N_{-}^{0}}$$

with N_{+}^{1} representing positive clones after sorting (true positive), N_{-}^{1} negative clones after sorting (false positive), N_{+}^{0} positive clones before sorting, and N_{-}^{0} negative clones before sorting. In contrast, Zinchenko et al. define enrichment η' as the ratio of percentages of positive clones after and before sorting:⁸⁹

$$\eta' = \frac{N_{+}^{\rm l}}{N_{+}^{\rm l} + N_{-}^{\rm l}} \bigg/ \frac{N_{+}^{\rm 0}}{N_{-}^{\rm 0} + N_{+}^{\rm 0}}$$

This can lead to large differences in reported enrichment factors (η and η') as illustrated by the following example. If a 1:100 dilution is used in an enrichment experiment and after screening 95 positive and 5 negative clones are found, the enrichment calculated according to Zinchenko et al. would be $\eta' = 95$ and an enrichment of $\eta = 1881$ would be calculated according to Baret et al. These different ways of calculation need to be taken into consideration when evaluating reported enrichment factors.

However, the bar for a successful library experiment is higher still. Several additional challenges have to be met: (i) *Long-term operability*: Devices have to run for hours (instead of the few seconds of a movie that characterizes a device or module functionality) to screen an entire library. (ii) *Single-gene recovery*: In contrast to an enrichment experiment, where multiple copies of the positive model hit are supplied, libraries may contain just a few clones that satisfy the selection criterion. These have to be recovered efficiently to make the screen successful and represent the selection output faithfully. (iii) *Compatibility*: Modules developed in isolation have to be assembled to implement multistep workflows. For workflow design, the intrinsic throughput per time of individual module operations determines whether to develop continuous or discontinuous workflows (with the latter allowing more flexibility in the combination of modules). Practicalities (e.g., back-pressure and convenient operational control) will also be important considerations when modules are combined.

This is why the implementation of fully integrated workflows that have yielded genuine hits in library screening experiments is the decisive step en route to making universal use of droplets to find functional proteins. Figure 9 represents the patterns of workflows that have passed this test, and Figures 10-14 detail successful examples.

The first workflow (Figure 9A) summarizes a screen in monodisperse microfluidic droplets using assays with an optical readout, e.g., fluorescence or absorbance. A monodisperse emulsion is generated by compartmentalizing library members together with substrates. The emulsion is either incubated or directly screened using droplet sorting activated by a readout (e.g., FADS²⁰²). In addition, on-chip manipulation steps,



Figure 14. Droplet manipulation by picoinjection enables sequential addition of reagents.¹²³ (A) Monodisperse droplets are produced and stored offchip, followed by two picoinjection steps with incubation off-chip, and FADS. (B) The workflow enables stepwise DNA amplification by RCA, protein expression by IVTT, and conversion of substrate to generate a fluorescent readout using reagents that otherwise would be incompatible with each other. (C) The improved variant G10+E2 shows a 5.5-fold improved activity.

including, e.g., picoinjection^{123,132} or droplet fusion,²³² can be carried out prior to sorting.

An example of finding a "needle in a haystack" against overwhelming odds is the screen of a metagenomic library of more than a million members from various natural environments for a phosphotriesterase reaction, a hydrolytic reaction related to a non-natural substrate. Here monodisperse droplet generation was followed by incubation and FADS to screen for hydrolase activity (Figure 10A).¹²⁰ A substrate generating fluorescence upon cleavage has been used (Figure 10B), and 8 phosphotriesterases (with a $k_{cat}/K_{M} = 9 \times 10^{5} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ M}^{-1}$ for the best one, PC83) have been identified. In addition to homologues of previously identified metal-dependent triesterases, the hit PC91 turned out to be a member of the α/β hydrolase superfamily, with an esterase-like catalytic triad and without an active site metal (Figure 10C and D). PC91 is the first metal-free bacterial triesterase to be described and-when represented in a sequence similarity network-breaks new ground in unannotated regions of sequence space, showing that microdroplet-based ultrahigh-throughput screening of metagenomic libraries provides functional information that cannot be predicted. Finding such hits by sequence-based methods would not have been possible, as this type of enzyme had only been associated with carboxyester hydrolysis. Promiscuous activities such as this one are hard to predict, and hits are rare for nonnatural substrates. This is to say that a screen of tens of thousands of clones in a robot would-statistically (based on the finding of 8 hits among 10⁶ library members)—only have been successful every 10th time: droplet technology was necessary to find any hits. The same assay has been used to further evolve PC91, yielding variants with a 400-fold increase in activity after only two rounds of directed evolution.¹¹⁹ Here, the initially discontinuous workflow was made continuous by the introduction of delay lines to account for the increased proficiency of the catalysts emerging from selection rounds, requiring incubation times of tens of minutes (rather than initially days).

In a further example of harvesting enzymes from the same metagenomic library using the workflow depicted in Figure 9A, a screen for β -glucuronidases identified a candidate for this particular activity in an unexpected sequence context, i.e., with neglectable homology to previously characterized enzymes with

this function.¹⁹⁷ While having little sequence homology to known β -glucuronidases, it was located in a glycosyl hydrolase family (as classified by CAZy) that had no recorded evidence of β -glucuronidase activity at the outset of this study but several other recorded activities.

Another workflow implementation in Figure 9A (monodisperse droplet generation, incubation off-chip, and FADS) was the work of Ma et al.,¹²¹ who engineered an enantioselective profen esterase. An innovative dual laser FADS device was used (Figure 11A) to monitor the turnover of two different fluorogenic substrates to screen for selective variants (Figure 11B). Multiple rounds of directed evolution gave a variant with 700-fold improved enantioselectivity.

Similarly, Obexer et al. used the workflow in Figure 9A to improve a previously optimized artificial aldolase 30-fold.¹³⁰ Monodisperse droplets were incubated on a chip to enable short incubation times (Figure 12A). A methodol derivative that forms a fluorescent product upon reaction was used as the substrate (Figure 12B). The delay line was varied in length to reduce the incubation time from 1 h to 5 min. This controlled approach in delay line design allowed for the selection of increasingly more proficient catalysts during the campaign. After five rounds of directed evolution, the aldolase was improved 30fold, salvaging a previously stalled directed evolution campaign (Figure 12C and D). Intriguingly, the evolution campaign yielded a completely remodelled active site with a new catalytic tetrad erasing the original catalytic apparatus (Figure 12E).

To engineer an amine oxidase, Debon et al.¹²⁵ implemented a different assay within the familiar setup of Obexer et al. (Figure 12A).¹³⁰ Coupled assays are far more versatile than direct assays, as they can be used for a broader range of target reactions. Additionally, they do not rely on mock substrates with bulky fluorogenic groups, allowing screening for authentic substrates used in the targeted application. In their assay, Debon et al. read out the production of H_2O_2 by the amine oxidase indirectly via oxidation of Amplex UltraRed to the fluorescent dye resorufin (Figure 13A). The identification of a mutant with a 960-fold improvement in k_{cat}/K_M with a completely remodelled active site (Figure 13A and B) in only one round of screening to improve biocatalysts in time scales compatible with the fast pace of product development in industry.



Figure 15. Paramagnetic bead-based kinase screening platform.²⁸ (A) Screening workflow. Beads carrying an SpliMLiB MKK library are encapsulated into a polydisperse emulsion. The beads also carry GFP that is coupled to the bead via a peptide sequence that serves as a recognition motif to chymotrypsin and can be phosphorylated by ERK. *In vitro* transcription and translation are used to express MKK from the library, which then activates ERK by phosphorylation. After de-emulsification, beads are treated with chymotrypsin. Beads carrying GFP with a phosphorylated linker (encoding active MKK1) are resistant to proteolysis and so remain GFP-labeled and can be sorted with ultrahigh-throughput with FACS. (B) Enrichment in the active variants. Enrichment of the observed frequency (f^{obs}) vs expected frequency (f^{id}) is calculated for each amino acid at each position as a proxy for fitness. Large hydrophobic amino acids (especially leucine and isoleucine) are enriched at nearly all tested positions. (C) Pairwise enrichment. Enrichment of the observed frequency (f^{obs}) for each double mutation over the expected frequency calculated from single-point mutation data. Mutation to leucine and isoleucine serves as the anchor allowing mutation to nonpreferred amino acids by exhibiting positive epistasis.

The previously mentioned formats rely on expression in cells and, therefore, cannot be used to engineer cytotoxic proteins. To engineer a cytotoxic protease, Holstein et al. developed a microfluidic workflow enabling *in vitro* expression of the enzyme (Figure 14A).¹²³ Reaction conditions are complex (>70 components) and cannot be performed in one pot. To ensure compatibility of the reagents, DNA amplification by rolling circle amplification (RCA) is followed by two picoinjection steps used to sequentially inject IVTT reagent and substrate (Figure 14B). Directed evolution (based on focused libraries followed by their reshuffling) using this workflow yielded Savinase variants with up to 5.5-fold improved activity (Figure 14C). This evolution experiment would not have been possible in *E. coli*. (Indeed, the resulting variants had to be expressed in *B. subtilis* to obtain sufficient quantities to be characterized.)

The more accessible, "democratic" format of double-emulsion droplets (water-in-oil-in-water) is shown in the workflow in Figure 9B, where flow cytometric sorting in a FACS replaces on-chip FADS. Both initially poly-⁷⁹ and monodisperse⁸⁹ droplet formats have been used for screening of libraries from environmental^{133,135} or randomized^{26,27,111,134,136} origins. Similarly, liposomes can be used for encapsulation, followed by screening using FACS. This has been successfully applied for the directed evolution of β -glucoronidase,¹¹² aminoacyl-tRNA synthetase,⁵⁷ and the multidrug transporter EmrE.⁵⁶

Another innovative workflow in microfluidics-based ultrahigh-throughput screening for enzyme activity employs i m m o b i l i z a t i o n o n s o l i d p a r t i c l e s (beads)^{28,32,61,70,71,107–110,140,226,248,259,261} and is shown in Figure 9C. A variety of different systems have been used in a fashion compatible to enzyme engineering. (i) Agarose beads coated by a polyelectrolyte complex around the core (gel-shell beads) retain small molecules that can be used as a readout in FACS and the enzyme-encoding gene. This system has previously been used in the directed evolution of phosphotriesterase.⁶¹ (ii) Another technique to couple genotype and phenotype is based on monodisperse nL-sized hydrogels that can be formed by laminar jet breakup.⁶⁸ Hydrogels couple genotype and phenotype, for example, by retaining a fluorescent bacterial host, ^{70,71} enabling sorting by FACS or by gas formation inducing a density shift.²²⁶ (iii) Reaction partners can also be displayed on DNA-carrying microbeads enabling the coupling of genotype and phenotype (microbead display). For enzyme engineering, microbead display has been pioneered in the directed evolution of phosphotriesterase³² and has been used in modified formats for screening for kinase,²⁸ dehydrogenase,¹⁰⁸ nucleic acid polymerases,¹⁰⁹ RNA ligase,¹¹⁰ hydrogenase,²⁶¹ and sortase¹⁰⁷ activity.

Bead-display-based screening has also been adapted by Scheele et al. to disentangle the encoding of substrate specificity in kinases.²⁸ The encoding DNA of a kinase (MKK1) library is generated on a bead,²⁴⁷ encapsulated into a polydisperse emulsion, and expressed using IVTT (Figure 15A). Functional kinases then activate purified ERK2 by phosphorylation. The bead also harbors GFP that is immobilized with a linker peptide containing a serine residue that ERK2 phosphorylates. The emulsion is broken, and the beads are treated with chymotrypsin which only cleaves the non-phosphorylated linker. The beads are then sorted by FACS and NGS is used to correlate cascade activity and the encoded kinase gene. Thereby the fitness of 5 \times 10⁵ independent variants was determined, and large hydrophobic residues were identified as a core feature of the MKK1 docking domain (Figure 15B). Additionally, substitutions to large hydrophobic residues exhibit pervasive positive epistasis, widening the available D-domain active sequence space and generating evolutionary contingency.

The seminal demonstrations of *in vitro* compartmentalized screening were evolution campaigns for DNA modifying enzymes. The corresponding schematic workflow is shown in Figure 9D and relies on self-modification of the *in vitro* compartmentalized gene. For example, methyltransferases were evolved that rendered their encoding genetic element resistant to restriction digest.^{31,91} Beyond that, ribozymes catalyzing RNA ligation¹³¹ and nucleases⁹⁰ have been engineered. *In vitro* compartmentalization (IVC) has also been modified to engineer Diels–Alderase ribozymes by a physical linkage between the



Figure 16. Decision tree for planning of microfluidic droplet assays according to a target reaction. This chart illustrates the choices that can be made when designing screening assays for microfluidic droplets and highlights the paths to sorting in different droplet formats, optical interrogation or reaction progress, and corresponding analytical interfaces. A successful demonstrated monoclonal enrichment experiment is the requirement for inclusion in this decision tree.

gene and the substrate.¹⁰⁶ Perhaps the most robust example of this workflow is compartmentalized self-replication (CSR), which has been used extensively for engineering nucleic acid polymerases.^{23,24,93–103} CSR can also be coupled to other enzymatic activities in an approach called compartmentalized partnered replication, which has been used to engineer yeast tryptophanyl synthetase.¹⁰⁴

To facilitate custom workflow design for future droplet-based enzyme assays, we summarized relevant considerations in a decision tree (Figure 16) that guides the experimentalist from target reaction to assay type, droplet format, and sorting.

9. TROUBLESHOOTING

The successful examples of droplet-compartmentalized library screening experiments for directed evolution and functional metagenomics discussed in the previous section suggest that several complete workflows are in principle ready to be used by a wider audience. To make this happen, it will be important to understand the day-to-day troubleshooting that made the implementation of these examples successful. Interdisciplinary challenges can arise at several unfamiliar fronts, including emulsion and colloid science and their compatibility with biological processes (and cross-compatibility of biochemical reagents). Likewise, complex biological processes must be compatible with each other. Here, we discuss practical protocols to address implementation problems and facilitate or rescue experimental campaigns (Table 6).

9.1. Challenges to the Integrity of the Droplet Compartment

Maintaining the integrity of the droplet is crucial for the duration of a screening experiment and requires a stable emulsion formulation. First, genotype and phenotype must remain cocompartmentalized to be able to decode individual hits after sorting. Second, the optical label must not escape from the droplet, as the sorting decision is based on a direct or indirect product concentration measurement. Indeed, product leakage between droplets would blur the distinction between "hit" droplets and those without an active clone and thus endangers the success of the experiment and so must be avoided. Substrate leakage into the oil phase can also be a problem, in which case the continuous supply of the (hydrophobic) substrate through the oil phase can be considered.²⁶⁸

These two requirements can often conflict, so exploration of various surfactant/oil combinations has been necessary to develop workable protocols that avoid coalescence of droplets (even when handled offline), minimize small molecule leakage, and stabilize the droplet compartments sufficiently to allow screening at the temperatures envisaged for the biocatalyst.

Stability and small molecule leakage unfortunately tradeoff against each other, so careful optimization of the type of oil/ surfactant mixture is important, as well as their ratio and absolute amounts. Stability is easily satisfied e.g. by well-established emulsion oil/surfactant mixtures formulations with mineral oil and nonionic emulsifiers (e.g., ABIL90)^{153,154} or surfactants soluble in organic (e.g., Span80) or aqueous phases (e.g., Triton X-100, Tween 20/80). Lower emulsifier concentrations²⁶⁹ and

pubs.acs.org/CR

Review

Table 6. Troubleshooting Tips and Tricks for Microfluidic Experiments a

| Observation causing problems for high- throughput microfluidic screening experiments | Tips and Tricks |
|---|---|
| Running a microfluidic device | |
| Droplets split after the formation junction or a jetting regime is reached | \rightarrow Reduce flow rate |
| Satellites or small droplets formed | → Reduce surfactant concentration |
| Droplets merge after generation | \rightarrow Reduce flow rates |
| | \rightarrow Increase the surfactant concentration |
| Tubing does not stay in the device | \rightarrow Ensure tubing size is correct |
| | \rightarrow Check for blockage in the channels \rightarrow Check flowrates for pressure (e.g. μ /min vs μ /h) |
| Aqueous stream pulses away from channel edge | \rightarrow Ensure hydrophobic or hydrophilic coating is uniform |
| Aqueous stream pulsing irregularly | \rightarrow Check for air bubbles along the tubing and in the device |
| 1 1 0 0 / | \rightarrow Check for blockage |
| | \rightarrow Ensure the flow rates are not too low for the pump |
| | \rightarrow Ensure tubing is not too long (pressure increases with length of tubing) |
| Fibers arriving with the oil | ightarrow Add filters to the device design (has become standard to help reduce blocking of the inlet) |
| | \rightarrow Filter all solutions before droplet generation |
| | → Flush tubing to prevent microfibers/particles |
| Dust in a channel | \rightarrow Attempt to run the phase of that channel at higher rate and wait for dust to slowly move |
| | \rightarrow Press up and down on top of the PDMS to try to disiodge smaller particles |
| | \rightarrow Remove the tubing of the closest inlet/outlet to suck the dust/cells out. Follow this by backhushing from another inlet/outlet in the opposite direction, so that the dust moves out of the device \rightarrow Change device. It is often best to just start with a clean chin as fluching and pressures can delaminate the |
| | ching device. It is often best to just start with a clean chip, as husning and pressures can detaining the chip |
| Droplets are not being made, and one of the | \rightarrow Check all connections for evidence of leaking |
| phases cannot be seen | \rightarrow Check for delamination |
| Collection of droplets | \rightarrow Check for air bubbles along the tubing and in the device |
| | |
| Droplet generation is unstable upon addition of | \rightarrow Inserting tubing increases the pressure in the device geometry |
| outlet tubing | \rightarrow Wait a few seconds for the flow to stabilize |
| | \rightarrow Reduce length of the outlet tubing (back-pressure increases as tubing length increases) |
| Incubation | |
| Droplets merge after incubation | → If droplets are incubated in a collection tube or syringe, the emulsion at the top can get dehydrated and start breaking, causing merging |
| | o Add mineral oil layer on top of the emulsion (if using fluorous oil) or make droplets in mineral oil |
| | o Incubate within a humidity chamber |
| | \rightarrow Increase surfactant concentration |
| | \rightarrow If droplets are incubated in a closed chamber: |
| | o Check for air bubbles |
| | o Use anti-static gloves |
| Substrate or product leakage | → Check background reaction leaking of substrate or product: o Test with equal volumes of your chosen buffer and max concentration of Substrate or Product to generate developts |
| | o Incubate and image or analyze in flow cytometry |
| | \rightarrow Vary the concentration of surfactant |
| | \rightarrow Vary the oil/surfactant combination |
| | \rightarrow Chemically modify the substrate (e.g., more charge reduces leakage in fluorous oils) |
| | \rightarrow Addition of detergents and other additives may affect the stability of the droplets: assess droplet composition |
| Droplet shrinkage | \rightarrow Store droplets in oil or water |
| | \rightarrow Match osmolarity of the droplets and dispersed/carrier phase |
| Re-injection of droplets into other devices | \rightarrow Cover HFE-oil droplets with mineral oil to avoid evaporation |
| | |
| General instability of droplets at the inlet | \rightarrow Use anti-static gloves or trigger an anti-static gun across the collection chamber and tubing |
| | \rightarrow Ensure there are no vibrations disturbing the setup |
| Dramlate and not marked | \rightarrow Kinse tubing and chamber with the carrier phase to remove microfibers and dust |
| Diopiers are not packed | \rightarrow 1 arking of utopiets is crucial to downstream processes (double-emulsion, picoinjection, sorting) \rightarrow In syringes: add a mineral oil layer on top of the emulsion in order to push droplets |
| | |

| Chemical Reviews | pubs.acs.org/CR | Review |
|---|---|---|
| Table 6. continued | | |
| Observation causing problems for high- throughput microfluidic screening experiments | Tips and Tricks | |
| | → In tubing: add an air plug in tubing between the emulsion and an oil phase to help → In chambers: add a fluorous oil (more dense than aqueous droplets) in the collect droplets settle at the top of the chamber, ready for re-injection | p pack the droplets ion chamber so that |
| Droplets are unevenly spaced for further manipulation | \rightarrow Reduce the width of the re-injection channel before the spacing oil so that droplet \rightarrow Increase flow rate of the carrier phase to space out the droplets | s arrive single file |
| | \rightarrow Pause the re-injection for a few moments before restarting \rightarrow Ensure the droplets are the correct size for the sorting device geometry | |
| Picoinjection | | |
| Satellites form after the electro-coalescence | → Reduce surfactant concentration → Reduce flow rates | |
| | → Increase the spacing between droplets → Vary flow rates of the injected phase to match the timing of incoming droplets → Decrease the voltage of the electric field | |
| Droplets merge or split upon picoinjection | → Check voltage frequencies and pulse delay → Decrease the voltage of the electric field → Check voltage frequencies and pulse delay | |
| Sorting | \rightarrow Build a "Faraday moat" or ground electrode upstream and downstream of the elect | ro-coalescence area |
| Solung | | |
| Droplets merge or split at the electrodes | \rightarrow Decrease the voltage of the electric field | |
| | \rightarrow Check voltage frequencies and pulse delay | |
| | \rightarrow Build a "Faraday moat" or ground electrode upstream and downstream of the elect | ro-coalescence area |
| Signal not detectable over droplet background | → Add a compound to the droplet mixture to offset the droplet background signal o Absorbance: any compound with the same absorbance wavelength will bring the g., above/below the signal) | he signal into range (e. |
| | o Fluorescence: droplet signal can be very close to oil signal levels so a μ M rat droplets detectable, to help determine the sorting threshold | nge makes "empty" |
| Droplets are not sorting | \rightarrow Check that the electrodes are working by manually triggering the electrodes and de droplets are pulled into the correct channel | etermining whether |
| | \rightarrow Check that there are no salt crystals in the electrode channel (if using salt electrod | .es) |
| | \rightarrow Check for air bubbles in the electrode channel or tubing | |
| | → Check for delamination or leaking between electrode or any potential area where s occur: ensure that the metal or salt circuit is isolated | hort circuiting might |
| Droplets are not sorting into the correct channel | \rightarrow Add a bias oil inlet to steer droplets into the waste channel \rightarrow Equalize lengths of tubing to the (+) sorting and waste channels to ensure even pr \rightarrow Raise tubing of positive outlet to prevent false negatives and/or increase length of | essures positive outlet tubing |
| Recovery by transformation | \rightarrow Change frequency, voltage, pulse width, and delay of the electrical signal | |
| Fewer variants recovered than expected | → Use low-hinding collection tubes and tins | |
| | \rightarrow Flush (+) sorting channel collection tubing well (with nuclease-free water for geno | mic recovery) |
| | → suppendent anopiet content with EDTA (to avoid that long incubation times can lear by metal-dependent nucleases) → Use ultracompetent E coli | u to DINA degradation |
| | → Add junk DNA (e.g., salmon sperm DNA) during extraction to reduce adsorption tube and tips | of recovered DNA to |
| More recovered variants than expected | \rightarrow Ensure that the droplet sorting process was correct (see above), e.g. by inspecting the \rightarrow Reduce potential for contamination during the recovery process | e recorded video trace |
| more recovered variants than expected | \rightarrow Reduce potential for contamination during the recovery process | |

^aA practical guide for droplet generation, manipulation, sorting, and DNA recovery.

additives (e.g., bovine serum albumin¹⁵⁴ or cyclodextrin)²⁷⁰ help to establish sufficient fluorophore retention on time scales of hours. The use of inert perfluorocarbon carrier oils,²⁷¹ together with fluorinated triblock surfactants,²⁷² promised to abolish leakage (including between double emulsion droplets)²⁷³ based on the idea that a fluorous "third" phase with hydrophobic *and* lipophobic properties would not be attractive for small molecules. Fluorous oils should minimize leakage by offering only weak hydrogen bonds to fluorine for polar molecules (compared to water) and also be too polar to attract

hydrophobic molecules. However, this has not been sufficient to abolish leakage problems. The addition of sugars to the aqueous phase has been shown to reduce leakage of resorufin, fluorescein, and coumarins across the mineral oil/Span 80 phase.²⁷⁴ The use of the fluorous oil FC-40 slowed down leakage of resorufin, albeit at the cost of emulsion quality.¹⁵² However, leakage still occurs, presumably because the exit of small hydrophobic molecules out of the aqueous droplet is entropically driven (restoring the disorder in water after removal of its local structuring around the hydrophobic solute molecule), even if

| Table 7. Commercia | ılly Available Surfactants ^a | | | | |
|---|--|---|---|--------------------------------|---|
| Commercial name | Vendor | Cognate oil phase | Features | Origin | Examples for use in protein engineering |
| FluoroSurfactant 008 | RAN Biotechnologies | HFE 7500, FC-40 | Most frequently used, allows for generation of stable droplet emulsions for various applications | Commercial based on ref 272 | 2,124,125 |
| Pico-Surf | Sphere Fluidics | HFE 7500, FC-40 | Similar properties to FluoroSurf 008 | Commercial | 128 |
| dSurf | Fluigent | HFE 7500 | For ddPCR, single-cell analysis and cell culture. Allows use of lower pressures for PDMS chips | Commercial | NA |
| FluoSurf | Dolomite, Emulseo | HFE 7500 | Compatibility with a broad range of reagents in the droplet phase. Fast droplet formation rate | Commercial | 241 |
| Droplet Generation Oil for Probes | Bio-Rad | Ready mix, can be diluted with HFE-7500 | For ddPCR with probes, frequently used for other applications | | NA |
| QX200 Droplet Generation Oil | Bio-Rad | Ready mix | For ddPCR with Eva Green dye, reduced leakage of hydrophobic compounds | 293 | NA |
| Fluoro-Phase | Dolomite | Ready mix, can be diluted with HFE-7500 | Substantially decreased leakage, Pickering emulsion with lower stability | 279,280 | NA |
| 1H,1H,2H,2H-Perfluoro- 1-octanol | Sigma Aldirch, Alfa Aesar, other general chemistry vendors | HFE-7500, FC-40 | Used to break emulsions, but also prevents wetting in the application with trains of noncontacting nano- or microliter droplets flowing along a channel | Commercial | 294 295 85 |
| Span 80/Tween 80/ Triton X-100 mixtures | Fluka, Sigma Aldrich and other vendors | Mineral oil | Used to stabilize polydisperse droplets | 31 | 23 296 |
| Abil Em 90 or Abil WE09 ^a NB: We excluded oil 1 | Evonik mixes that cannot be purchased s | Mineral oil, silicone oils separately (e.g. the oil in | Stable emulsions with mineral oil, also used to generate polydisperse emulsions 10X Genomics kits, where reagents are only available as a part of a larger kit | ²⁹⁷). | 109,131,153,154 |
| | | | | | |

Chemical Reviews

there is no enthalpic gain upon arrival in the fluorous phase (with a lack of attractive interactions). Nevertheless, combinations of fluorous oils and fluorinated surfactants are now widely used also because they compare favorably in terms of stability and viscosity (lower than mineral oil).

The problem that hydrophobic small molecules are prone to leakage is general, but the *extent* of this effect is difficult to predict and must be experimentally determined (e.g., by microscope imaging or fluorescence measurements on chip^{154,269,275,276} or using oil-based flow cytometry).²⁷⁰ A straightforward leakage assay involves visualization of two populations of droplets, of which one contains the detected substance and is mixed and incubated with droplets without the analyte. Histograms are recorded at various incubation times to investigate the concentration change between the two droplet species.¹⁵⁴

Modification of initially hydrophobic product (or substrate) molecules with charged groups helps to increase retention.^{130,244,275–277}

The surfactant itself plays a role in facilitating leakage and maintaining stability. Higher surfactant concentrations increase stability but also promote leakage. Table 7 lists commercially available surfactant preparations, but some of them suffer from batch-to-batch variation and different degrees of purity. Detailed synthetic procedures have become available and will facilitate custom synthesis. Published syntheses e.g. of di- and triblock fluorocarbon surfactants²⁷⁸ make these reagents available in the absence of a commercial supplier. New surfactants are emerging, e.g., silicone nanoparticles (modified with 1H,1H,2H,2H-perfluorooctyltriethoxysilane, FAS), that form stable Pickering emulsions with reduced leakage of hydrophobic molecules^{279,280} or glycerol-based fluorosurfactants for better thermostability²⁸¹ and reduced leakage.²⁸²

No universally accepted model for the molecular mechanisms of leakage exists that would allow prediction of leakage properties from the structure, but hypotheses include diffusive models and the involvement of submicrometric vesicular structures.²⁸³ While these models are further refined, quantitative empirical insight into the leaking properties of oil/surfactant combinations^{273,284} will be valuable, and finally their biochemical compatibility has to be tested (e.g., with *in vitro* expression).³⁴ In the absence of a predictive framework, iterative optimization of oil and surfactant combinations is necessary, as exemplified by Debon et al.¹⁶⁴ in a survey of oil/surfactant combinations and their effects on droplet confinement and leakage, shrinkage, and tertiary phase formation.

Interaction with the chip material can affect the droplet contents and properties. PDMS conducts gases (air and water) so it can "dry out" droplets, leading to droplet shrinkage and formation of a solid structure that retains the droplet morphology unable to be retrieved.¹⁵³ Storage in a closed system reduces droplet evaporation: sealing the inlet and outlet of a chamber device,¹⁵³ covering the droplets with mineral oil,^{2,89} integrating a continuous water supply system into the chip,²⁸⁵ or containing droplets in a closed chamber^{123,133} helps to keep these effects under control. PDMS can also absorb^{286,287} or transport²⁸⁸ small molecules, suggesting a change of the chip material.^{267,289} Finally the coating of the chip, i.e., surface modification for hydrophobic or hydrophilic coating to match the carrier phase, choice of oil,¹⁵ or silanization of the PDMS devices (to reduce wetting effects or friction at the channel walls),¹⁶⁴ can be considered.

9.2. Sensitivity

The assay sensitivity is, on the one hand, determined by the sensitivity of the detection method (Table 3). Yet, in a biochemical context, the background can also play a role: for example, in experiments with cell lysates, naturally occurring reactions such as carbohydrate-active enzymes¹⁹⁷ can collectively bring about a background activity that rivals the activity of the library member. For cell-based screening, phenotypic variation can play a prominent role (10-fold variation across a cell population), especially when high-copy-number plasmids (advantageous for recovery, see below) are used. Especially for metagenomic selections (with enzymes cloned in suboptimal position with respect to a promoter), weak expression is likely, and the narrow difference between signal and noise can make it hard to identify candidates. In this case, lowering the selection threshold near the background, so that oversampling can be followed up by re-screening in plates with a reasonable (1:10 to 1:100) chance to detect a hit, can be helpful.¹⁹⁷

9.3. DNA Recovery

Selecting a library member for its functional properties only provides molecular insight when its DNA sequence can be elucidated. This is nontrivial because the Poisson distribution with which each droplet experiment starts dictates just one type of DNA species per droplet. Therefore, the challenge is to amplify selected clones and decode the protein sequence on the basis of its DNA. Several strategies are possible:

- (i) Growth amplification in droplets. Cells are compartmentalized as single entities but left to grow in droplets. Lysis is triggered by the addition of reagents by picoinjection, and an assay is carried out. Having more cells also leads to more enzymes, so the sensitivity of the functional assay is increased, while phenotypic variation is minimized.
- (ii) DNA amplification in droplets. Especially for in vitro selections, where one DNA copy is compartmentalized, rolling circle amplification^{123,190} and isothermal amplifications^{290,291} and emulsion PCR²³² are attractive and would also increase protein expression (by providing more templates) as well as more recoverable DNA.
- (iii) Growth after recovery. When cells survive the assay, they can be regrown to ultimately produce enough DNA for sequencing. This can be achieved by in-droplet growth followed by partial lysis of cells (leaving enough cells to be recovered),¹³³ by triggering partial lysis with a kill switch,²⁴⁰ or by avoiding lysis altogether in display systems (on yeast¹²⁴ or *E. coli*¹²²).
- (iv) Use of high-copy-number plasmids. Near-perfect recovery (80%) can be achieved by employing high-copy-number plasmids in *E. coli*.^{2,120,197}
- (v) Postselection PCR. If very small quantities of DNA are recovered, their amount may preclude direct sequencing, but an amplification step recovers these. However, at the same time bias during the amplification may misrepresent selection outcomes, which will reduce the diversity of the recovered clones.

9.4. Uniformity of Droplet Operations in Long-Term Experiments

The premise of quantitative selection in directed evolution experiments is crucially dependent on producing identical droplet compartments, even over the hours that are necessary to reach millions of droplets. A range of practical problems can stand in the way—delamination of the PDMS chip, blocking of

Table 8. Microfluidic Systems for Kinetic Analysis Using Droplets Generated and Measured in Continuous Flow Devices^{*a,b*}

| Concentrations one-by-one or gradient? | Readout | Different reactions in parallel | Individual droplets or averaging over many droplets? | Time points from same or separate experiment | Datapoints per kinetic dataset | Datapoints per v₀ determination | Duration of operation | Reaction time scale | Kinetic analysis | Difficulty | Ref. | | | | | | | | |
|---|--|---------------------------------------|--|---|--------------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------|--------------|--|-------|--|--|--|--|-----|-----|
| | Fluorescence | | | Samo | 4 | | | | Dro otoody | 11 | 294 | | | | | | | | |
| One-by-one | intensity | | | Same | 10-15 | | _ | Fast | Pre-steady | ++ | 289 | | | | | | | | |
| | Electrochemistry |] | | Separate | 5 | ~10 | | | State analysis | +++ | 314,321 | | | | | | | | |
| Gradient (4 concentrations by laminar flow) | Fluorescence intensity | | Averaging | ing | 10 | | | | Steady-state analysis | +++ | 322 | | | | | | | | |
| One-by-one | Absorbance (LEDs) |] | | Same | 6 | 7 | | Slow | | ++ | 320 | | | | | | | | |
| One-by-one | Photothermal interferometry | | | | 5 | 4 | | | | | 213 | | | | | | | | |
| gradient (by flow rate variation) | Fluorescence intensity | 1 | | | ~10 ³ | 35 | min-h Fast | | | 306 | | | | | | | | | |
| Inhibitor gradient (generated in capillary prior to droplet formation) | Electrochemistry | | | | | | | | | | Individually | | 40-50 | | | | | +++ | 303 |
| One-by-one | Absorbance optical fiber- based) | | | n.a. veraging | 7 | 1 | | Slow | Inhibitor potency measurement | ++ | 323 | | | | | | | | |
| Inhibitor gradient (generated in capillary prior to droplet formation) | Laser-induced fluorescence | | Averaging | | 28 | | | | | ++ | 324 | | | | | | | | |

^aLow concentrations/linear range of Michaelis–Menten plot not captured. n.a.: not applicable. ^bTable updated from ref 307.

Table 9. Microfluidic Systems for Kinetic Analysis Using Droplets in Segmented Flow^a

| Concentrations one-by- one or gradient? | Readout | Different reactions in parallel | Individual droplets or averaging over many droplets? | Time points from same or separate experiment | Datapoints per kinetic dataset | Datapoints per V₀ determination | Duration of operation | Reaction time scale | Kinetic analysis | Difficulty | Ref. |
|---|---------------------------|---------------------------------------|--|---|--|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------|------|
| Inhibitor gradient in droplets-on-demand (pre- pipetted microtiter plate) | Laser-induced | | Individually | | 7 | 7 | hours | | Inhibitor | | 313 |
| Inhibitor gradient (5 concentrations by flow ratio adjustment) | nuorescence | | Averaging | | 5 substrate and 5 inhibitor concentrations | 6 | min-h | | measurement | | 325 |
| Gradient in droplets-on- demand (adjusted by relative flow-rates) | | 1 | Averaging | | 6 | 10 | hours | | Steady-state analysis | | 326 |
| Gradient in droplets-on- demand (by coalescing defined numbers of reagent droplets) | | | | | 32 | 12 | min-h | Slow | Inhibitor potency measurement | +++ | 305 |
| Concentration gradient in droplets-on-demand (generated in capillary prior to droplet formation) | Fluorescence intensity | Fluorescence intensity 102 | 102 | Same | 24 | 6 | hours | | Compound screening | | 301 |
| Gradient in droplets-on- demand (by valve-based system) | - | 2 | 2 | | | ~5 | 10 | | Steady-state analysis | _ | 315 |
| Gradient in droplets-on- demand (6 concentrations from separate syringes) | | | Individually | | ~5 | 20 | | Fast & slow | (Pre-)steady- state analysis | | 159 |
| Concentration gradient in droplets-on-demand (by merging droplets of different concentration and volume ratios) | Abcorbanco | 1 ce | 1 | | 24 | 10 | min-h | Slow | Steady-state analysis | | 84 |
| Concentration gradient in | Absorbance | | | | 150 | | | | | т | 85 |
| droplets-on-demand (droplets generated while changing concentration in source well) | | 12 | | | 60 | 6 | | | | | 307 |

^{*a*}Table updated from ref 307.

channels by dust particles, and uneven flow rates that lead to discontinuities are just a few examples. Table 6 summarizes these small but often annoying problems related to running microfluidic devices along with remedies.

10. CHARACTERIZATION

While the distribution functions obtained after sorting report on the kinetic profile of the library and the selected catalysts, further characterization is necessary (e.g., by measuring initial rates of product formation). Returning to the microtiter plate for this characterization is slow and cumbersome. Staying in a miniaturized format saves reagent volume and allows obtaining kinetic data for larger collections of mutants that are expected when ultrahigh-throughput screening is applied. More clones can be characterized in meaningful detail to draw up sequenceor structure—activity relationships and uncover mechanisms. The obtained kinetic data traces will also be useful for future modeling efforts when added into databases like EnzymeML.²⁹⁸ In addition to recording steady-state (Michaelis—Menten) or pre-steady-state kinetics, probing the acceptance of alternative promiscuous¹⁹⁵ substrates, the effects of inhibitors, and the temperature stability of newly identified enzymes will be

| Concentrations one- by-one or gradient? | Readout | Different reactions in parallel | Individual measure- ments or averaging over time? | Time points from same or separate experiment | Datapoints per kinetic dataset | Datapoints per v₀ determination | Duration of operation | Reaction time scale | Kinetic analysis | Difficulty | Ref. |
|--|-------------------------------|---------------------------------------|---|---|-----------------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------|---------------------------|---|------------|------|
| | Laser-induced fluorescence | | Averaging Separate | | 15-20 | main la | | Steady-state analysis | ++ | 327 | |
| One-by-one | Fluorescence intensity | | | Separate | <10 | ~5 | | - | Reuse of enzyme for | ++ | 328 |
| | Electrochemistry | 1 | | Geparate | | 5 | hours | | steady-state analysis | | 329 |
| Concentration gradient (in microprocessors) | Fluorescence | | Individually | | 11 | ~30 | nours | slow | Steady-state | ++++ | 304 |
| | intensity | | | | 12 | 60 | min-h | | analysis Expression, purification and steady- state analysis on one chip | + | 330 |
| | Infrared | | Averaging |] | 9 | 8 | hours | | | +++ | 319 |
| One-by-one | Fluorescence intensity | 1500 | Individually | Same | 10-15 | 15-20 | days | | | ++++ | 318 |

^aTable updated from ref 307.

instructive. Sequence–function studies will greatly benefit from such quantitative insights, and their future combination with structure prediction from deep learning approaches^{299,300} should provide renewed impetus for protein engineering, perhaps even allowing for the reliable prediction of function.

Many different microfluidic systems for the quantitative measurement of kinetic or biophysical data have been devised (Tables 8–10). Concentration gradients have been generated in capillaries prior to droplet formation,^{301–303} by merging droplets,^{84,304,305} by variation of flow rates in the supply stream,³⁰⁶ or by continuous variation of the substrate concentration in the source well while making droplets.^{85,307}

When they involve segmented flow (i.e., droplets or plugs), the systems can be classified into two categories:

10.1. Droplet-on-Demand (DoD) Systems

Full control over the sequence and composition of each droplet yields rich data sets: every droplet provides information. Here, the confidence in the data obtained from each droplet is the crucial basis for reducing droplet numbers (in turn enabling lower reagent consumption) without a loss in information quality. Early DoD systems were too limited in throughput to be useful when, e.g., one Michaelis-Menten curve ideally requires tens of data points along a concentration gradient and many mutants need to be characterized. On-chip DoD platforms based on valves³⁰⁸⁻³¹¹ or high-precision dosing pumps that allow formation of droplets at the junction of multiple inlet ports³¹² have been used to generate larger (μ L) droplets with highly accurate reagent dispensation to generate concentration gradients of analytes. Other systems require expensive robotics^{255,313} or sophisticated multilayer microfluidic chips with valves that require expertise in fabrication and oper-ation. $^{304,305,314-316}$

Technologically simpler alternatives have been developed (Figure 17): individual control over the size and content of droplets can be achieved with negative pressure that aspirates droplets, drawing defined volumes from reagent reservoirs, so that sequences of droplets with a dilution gradient emerge.^{84,86,317} Even simpler, coaxial aspiration from microwells can produce sets of droplets that reflect in their sequence the concentrations of reagents in the source well that are altered by injections during droplet formation. In 5 min, 150 combinations of reaction components (enzyme/substrate/inhibitor) can be produced and measured,⁸⁵ and multiplexing can further increase the throughput.³⁰⁷ Such DoD systems can automatically create



Figure 17. Droplet-on-demand systems. The content of each droplet in a sequence can vary by aspirating individual droplets from distinct aqueous solutions: either by alternately aspirating aqueous and oil phases or by aspirating from a well into an oil flow.

substrate concentration gradients and are suitable for deriving Michaelis–Menten parameters.^{85,307}

A completely different approach was taken by Miller et al.,³⁰² who generated a concentration gradient by Taylor–Aris dispersion and segmented the gradient microfluidically into droplets (140 pL). Here, the low confidence in the data obtained from single droplets required 10,000 data points to be measured in order to determine an IC_{50} value by massive statistical averaging.

A taste of the information obtained by completely miniaturized enzyme screening is given by Markin et al.,³¹⁸ who developed the most comprehensive analysis tool to date, albeit in chambers rather than droplets. HT-MEK (highthroughput microfluidic enzyme kinetics) gave insight into stability and folding, enzymatic activity, and inhibition characteristics for more than 1500 mutants with high precision and within a few weeks. Practically, the reliance on valves complicates operation, and furthermore, some conditions have to be met (a fusion protein must be *in vitro* expressed and a fluorogenic assay available) and may limit the convenience of its use,³¹⁸ leaving room for more versatile systems even if they have a lower throughput. This is the type of data that DoD systems should be able to provide in the future.

10.2. High-Throughput Production of Droplets with Identical Composition

Instead of setting up every droplet with a unique combination of reagents or conditions, several existing microfluidic systems rely on the high droplet production frequency to rapidly produce droplets with identical contents that can be interrogated. The reaction conditions can also be incrementally adjusted e.g. by varying flow rates and equilibration (see Figure 4C). The data quality in such systems is high due to the averaging of measurements from many droplets with the same contents e.g. at various positions in a delay line. ^{289,294,305,314,316,319,320} However, their throughput is limited, because these systems have to be reset, cleaned, and equilibrated for each new enzyme or variant, and the reagent consumption is multiplied compared to DoD systems, because identical droplets need to be produced. While some systems can reveal additional detail, e.g. very rapid, presteady-state kinetics, ^{157,294,314,321} it is necessary to assess on a case-by-case basis whether a droplet-based system is providing an advantage in terms of reagent volumes used (over the duration of the entire experiment, not just per droplet), mechanistic insight, throughput, and ease of operation.

11. PERSPECTIVES: MORE OF THE SAME (ALBEIT FASTER) OR ENTIRELY NEW WAYS OF WORKING?

Despite the emerging track record of droplet microfluidics, several issues remain that prevent it from becoming the *de facto* standard for high-throughput experiments (Figure 18).

11.1. Accessible Microfluidic Devices for the Future

A critical issue is a lack of standardization in the community, leading to siloed designs and "reinventing the wheel", amounting to wasted efforts and resources and a high entry barrier. Looking toward engineering disciplines, standardization of parts and open-source repositories are key in allowing rapid iterative



Figure 18. Areas for innovation. Droplet microfluidics, while a proven technology for protein engineering and single-cell analysis, still has areas for innovation. Standardization: Standardization of parts, designs, and software will allow greater portability and reproducibility of microfluidic experiments between research groups. This can be supplemented with designated online open-source repositories to enable rapid sharing of designs worldwide. Experimental setup: a host of areas for improvements in the experimental setup will allow the experimenter to access new ways of performing manipulations of droplets and open up new reaction types. Additionally more rapid prototyping methods are needed to iterate on designs during the experimental process. Interconnectivity: a great challenge for droplet microfluidics is to overcome issues when adding unit operations together, a large amount of the problem having to do with pressure differences in the device and the need for end-to-end workflows. Solving this problem will therefore lead to more complex devices becoming feasible. Integration of software and standard connections will reduce the incompatibility between set-ups. Device operation: automation of all on-chip processes, including droplet tracking and realtime feedback, will lead to the ability for process control of microfluidic devices. This requires software standardization which will increase accessibility of droplet microfluidics.

improvements on designs. Analogous to programming, the ability to rapidly build up on others' designs leverages the power of the community toward synergistic improvement. Commercialization of microfluidics has seen the introduction of standard designs, for example, the Luer lock and standard droplet-making chips. However, portability and reproducibility of experiments have room for improvement before a greater research community can readily adapt them, and the lack of a baseline microfluidic template prevents design iteration between groups.

The difficulty in simulating microfluidic devices, both continuous and droplet microfluidics, is due to the difficulty in solving the Navier–Stokes equations for complex geometries. As such, the computational demand makes this a challenging and costly endeavor, meaning that most groups use a trial-and-error approach based on historical designs. Innovation in the production of desktop fabrication methods could lead to more rapid design cycles through trial and error. Several groups have worked on creating software for the generation of microfluidic devices, e.g. a suite of software for design automatization.³³¹ This DAFD platform is a web-based application that can predict the performance of microfluidic devices and automate the design.³³¹ Taking inspiration from the electronics industry, MINT, a hardware language for describing components and devices for microfluidic devices,³³² was developed.

11.2. Tracking the Identity of Samples

Compared to the microtiter plate, tracking the identity of a particular sample in droplet microfluidics is nontrivial, since millions of droplets are typically involved in any one droplet microfluidic experiment. Droplets normally travel in single file, and so the droplet's chronological position can serve as an ID. However, it is difficult to maintain this sequential pattern, since the downstream analysis of the droplet contents destroys this position (droplets are usually collected in bulk after microfluidic analysis, and therefore, the positional information is lost). Furthermore, even if a droplet can be tracked, there are several problems in identifying a particular droplet, since their contents are not easily decipherable to an assay readout. This problem has been tackled in two different ways: optical and genetic encoding, which are both methods of barcoding droplets.³³³ Optical encoding usually involves the addition of chromophores or fluorescent molecules to droplets. Diversity of the barcodes can be introduced through variation in concentration during droplet generation or through mixing particles with contents prior to encapsulation. For example, the diversity of a million optical barcodes has been shown through stochastic encapsulation of beads of slightly different diameters.³³⁴ Droplets can also be indexed to an array similarly to microtiter plates. For example, Cole et al. used a method of sorting for positive droplet hits and then dispensing them in an array fashion.³³⁵ Genetic barcoding has revolutionized the field of single-cell sequencing; the general strategy for these methods involves generating a library of barcodes using DNA oligonucleotides. Cell genetic contents can then be linked to a particular barcode, and only that droplet's genetic contents will be associated. The limitation of this is that downstream sequencing is required to understand the contents of the droplets. There, therefore, remains a need for a highthroughput method to link the genetic contents of the droplet with the readout of the droplet, particularly for protein engineering, where the variant and phenotype need to be connected. For example, Abseq is a method for detecting epitopes of interest by linking antibodies with sequence tags allowing for multiplexing of protein expression in single cells.³

Increasing the number of "bins" can pool variants with similar characteristics together; for example, pooling different pheno-types into several bins using multiple sorting lanes has been shown.²⁰⁴

11.3. Complex Modular Devices

A challenge is building modular workflows on droplet microfluidics from several unit operations (e.g., droplet formation, picoinjection, sorting, and splitting) that mimic the macro-scale. However, problems may arise when trying to chain any individual operations. Typically, a microfluidic workflow with multiple steps is performed through multiple off-chip incubation steps using droplet chambers and re-injection steps. However, the chance of droplet instability increases with the amount of manual manipulation. Additionally, the complexity of droplet routing increases as the design complexity increases. It becomes very difficult to predict the flow behavior of droplets, leading to many device iterations to get this correct. Additionally, due to the unpredictability of flow, minor design changes can lead to unwanted effects and therefore need to be empirically tested and subjected to iterative improvements to obtain the correct design. Even a brief incubation for an additional 5 min (on the macro-scale) can become a complex problem when adjusting a multi-operational microfluidic device. Increased device length leads to increased back-pressure: as the length of the device increases and the complexity of interconnected channels increases, this leads to regions of high pressure that are hard to simulate. Currently, software is ad hoc, and running the device requires the use of several programs (e.g., camera control, real-time analysis, and pump operation). Integration of software would allow for more streamlined experiments and true digitization of the experiment carried out by having a digital record of all parameters. Furthermore, different microfluidic modules often require different droplet frequencies; for example, droplet generation can be performed at tens of thousands of hertz, whereas sorting generally occurs at hundreds or thousands of hertz. Trying to balance modules that have different operations and frequencies therefore requires attention. Examples of strategies to create modular micro-fluidics $^{337-341}$ have used a general strategy to link together microfluidic "blocks" through Luer connectors or smooth seals. More insight is required in understanding flow properties in more complex integrated chips and designing truly end-to-end chips.

11.4. Device Operation—Will There Ever Be One Device for All Directed Evolution Experiments?

We have visualized the design of droplet microfluidic workflows as connecting jigsaw pieces,³⁴² but questions of efficient integration remain: with increased device length comes increased pressure and complexity of interconnected channels, the consequences of which are hard to simulate. Different microfluidic modules often require different droplet frequencies (e.g., for droplet generation, which is often >10 kHz, compared to subsequent sorting which is often well below this value). Due to the large number of physical variables present when conducting a microfluidic experiment, even slight variations can lead to various problems. Computer vision can provide a potential solution to these problems, both in the setup and running of the microfluidic device. For example, by linking visual cues to the automation of pumps, variability or anomalous events can be countered by identifying the problem. Additionally, it may be helpful for devices to have a "flushing" regime in which the experiment can be automatically halted, flushed into a

waste outlet, with subsequent reconfiguration of the setup. Valves and computer vision provide a possible way of realizing such a design improvement. Automation of microfluidic devices is a promising route for microfluidics to achieve the same widespread use. A large part of the lack of implementation of droplet microfluidics as a standard for protein engineering likely lies within the difficulty in setting up and running the device and inertial adoption issues. A device setup whereby fluidic control, pressure issues, troubleshooting, droplet tracking, and analysis are contained and automated within the microfluidic system (process control) would remove a large barrier to entry for many would-be end users.

11.5. Future Device Architectures

3D architecture from 3D printing opens the possibility for much more complicated and integrated microfluidic chips. The ability to design in 3D, as opposed to the traditional 2D or 2.5D used in conventional microfluidic designs, offers several advantages. For example, channels can cross each other without interference, electronics can be more easily integrated within the chip, and standard connections for chip-to-world and other microfluidic devices can be built into the device itself. A further advantage of 3D printing is that ideas can be easily shared and distributed among scientific laboratories, whereas the quality of soft lithography can be highly operator-dependent. Integrating electronics with microfluidics is another avenue by which microfluidic functionality and ease of use can be expanded upon, the benefit being the portability of microfluidic devices with embedded electronics.

11.6. Key Technology Benefits of Droplet Microfluidics

Droplet microfluidics offers several key benefits that make it uniquely positioned to tackle biochemical problems, above and beyond other methods of enquiry.

11.6.1. Savings. Combinatorial approaches such as directed evolution and functional metagenomics are becoming increasingly popular, but their scale comes at a price. Liquid handling robots automatize steps that are normally carried out by manual pipetting and reach throughputs on the order of 10,000 per week.³⁴³ Plasticware and consumables have to be factored in as running costs as well as reagent consumption. Droplet-based approaches achieve massive miniaturization: in assay volume (10⁶-fold from pL to μ L), in plasticware (an afternoon's droplet experiment with ~10⁷ assays would require more than 26,000 384-well plates), and in total reagent volume (from thousands of liters to tens of μ L). Agresti et al.¹²⁴ calculated a million-fold decrease in cost (based on capital expenditure of several millions, plus staff).

In droplet microfluidics hard- and plasticware are largely replaced conceptually by a separation between phases, manipulation (routing and processing of droplets through active or passive methods), and in situ analysis of components. The maximum speed (and the throughput per time) is currently 1000-fold greater than robotics.¹²⁴ Additional factors such as evaporation and capillary action limit the maximum throughput of any robotic microtiter plate screening assay, since liquids will tend to "stick" to pipet ends or rapidly diffuse into the surrounding environment. On the other hand, section 9 outlines experimental challenges that are in turn intrinsic to work in droplets: overcoming leaking requires new substrates, oils, and surfactants and may need to be adjusted for every new reaction. Droplet stability is important for maintaining the monoclonality and impermeability of droplet compartments and, especially, in multistep workflows. The prerequisite for high fidelity of manipulation steps is based on the fluid dynamics of uniformly sized, structurally stable droplets.

11.6.2. Combining High-Throughput Selections with High-Throughput Analysis. The logic "*more at lower cost is better*" is compellingly universal when applied to screening, but there are approaches that realistically can *only* be addressed when an ultrahigh-throughput system is available:

11.6.2.1. Functional Metagenomics. The search for rare "needles" in the "haystack" of metagenomic DNA is an example that will benefit enormously from faster exploration by droplet approaches. The environment provides a rich recourse of enzymes with activities that can be harnessed in industrial biocatalysis. Yet, hits are very rare (estimated to be 1 in 10³ to 10⁵ library members or less, depending on the prevalence of the starting activity in the source microbiome).^{344,345} Droplet campaigns from million-membered libraries ended up with just a handful of hits,^{120,133,197} emphasizing that success was only possible with a throughput on the order of millions, while a throughput of around 10,000 (as in robots³⁴³ or colony screening³⁴⁶) would have gone nowhere.

We envisage a broader role of droplet microfluidics in exploring the functional repertoire of the natural environment, to build up and expand our repertoire of biocatalysts. Such enzymes can be presumed to exist in the biosphere, but an overwhelming majority of them have not been discovered. The sequencing of environmental DNA is now fast and cheap so that metagenomic databases are growing exponentially (e.g., EMBL's MGnify database now has more than 2.3 billion open reading frames),³⁴⁷ but minuscule reliable functional knowledge is recorded. Indeed, their automatic assignment to a putative function is somewhat deceptive: very few activities of open reading frames in these databases have been experimentally verified (compared to the large number of open reading frames that have never been studied in wet lab experiments). When simple sequence comparisons are used, predictions of very closely related activities may be reliable. But deriving new functions (or even promiscuous side activities that are useful starting points for evolution) from sequence comparisons is limited because we have not annotated enough sequences functionally based on experimental evidence to allow confident prediction. It remains to be seen when a sufficient number of reliable assignments is available to understand the functional potential of all deposited sequences.¹⁹⁷

The advent of AlphaFold2³⁴⁸ may make reliable structures available without the need to express and crystallize proteins. Nevertheless, the prediction of the function of these structures is difficult or impossible, even if the structural model is close to reality. The key problem of relating sequence (or structure) with function is unresolved. Unearthing valuable functional information on metagenomes in rapid (>kHz) and resource-saving (pL) fashion in droplet-based approaches will facilitate capturing information to bring about a comprehensive understanding of the determinants of function (and where in "sequence space" they are found). This functional metagenomics approach will be the basis for correct annotation, which in turn allows classification (and reclassification) to improve currently imperfect databases (such as CAZy^{349,350}). Promiscuous activities are highly interesting as a springboard for the evolution of new function¹⁹⁵ but are unpredictable, necessitating experimental evidence. The interplay of experimental functional annotation obtained at ultrahigh-throughput, bioinformatics, in silico modeling, and harvesting of database information will be a powerful combination in enzyme discovery, no doubt in the

future aided by machine learning and other artificial intelligence methods.

11.6.2.2. Mapping Fitness Landscapes: From Epistasis to Predictive Biology? The idea of walking through fitness landscapes has been used as a metaphor for the process of evolution. The shape of these landscapes is currently unpredictable; so, the more of this sequence space we can explore empirically, the greater the chances of finding hits and of empirically understanding how to navigate it (to obtain a notion of how evolvable an enzyme is).

- (i) Synergistic interactions. The possible combinatorial diversity of mutations is vast. However, randomizing single positions ignoring combinatorial effects of mutations often misses out on potential improvements by synergy.^{351,352} Moreover, epistasis-induced path dependence of directed evolution can limit the number of available productive trajectories. Consequently, trajectories to higher fitness are rare,^{352–354} so that ultrahigh-throughput screening is necessary to identify productive trajectories based on synergistic combinations of mutations against the odds.
- (ii) Focused vs unbiased exploration of sequence space. Sequence space is vast and can never be screened in its entirety (e.g., a 100 amino acid-long sequence can encode 20^{100} different proteins). Ultrahigh throughput provides the means for screening focused libraries of four to five completely randomized positions.^{125,130} Recent examples have shown that this enormous throughput can be used to improve biocatalysts 960-fold with extensive remodelling of the active site with only one round of directed evolution.¹²⁵ Another focused library also led to rapid evolutionary improvements of a phosphotriesterase.¹¹⁹ Indeed, such "smart" libraries^{355,356} are often used to increase the chance of success of directed evolution campaigns. This has helped, especially when only lowthroughput screens were available, but the library design also limits the outcomes eventually. Wrenbeck et al.³ have shown that substrate specificity is globally encoded. In addition, the largest improvements observed in the directed evolution of enzymes^{358,359} were not obtained from smart libraries. This raises the question of whether the unbiased exploration of sequence space using errorprone PCR libraries is sufficient if an ultrahighthroughput screen is used. Ultrahigh-throughput screening can be used to escape stalled evolutionary trajectories by providing access to large leaps in sequence space¹³⁰ or by enabling the introduction of mutations that bypass negative epistasis.³⁵⁴ The strength of droplet microfluidics would be to carry out many screens at a low cost and proceed through multiple rounds, even without characterization. This practice would be a break with the way how directed evolution has largely been carried out thus far. Historically many directed evolution campaigns remained highly bottlenecked, as after each round the best variant was chosen and used as a template for further library design.³⁵⁹ Such a strategy is the most economical one when only a low-throughout screening system is available: there is simply no capacity to carry forth multiple starting points. However, the focus on one (or a few) "best" mutant(s) misses out on permissive mutations that allow the fixation of highly improving further mutations.^{353,360} The availability of ultrahigh-throughput



Figure 19. Perspectives. The impact of ultrahigh-throughput screening on directed evolution. (A) Classical directed evolution constrains the campaign to the most improving variants after each round. This can yield highly improved variants in a very economical fashion but restricts the exploration of sequence space to one trajectory. With uHTS, multiple trajectories can be explored in an unbiased manner, also allowing rounds with less stringent screening regimes, increasing the likelihood of encountering synergistic effects or one-in-a-million events. (B) Droplet-based ultrahigh-throughput screening and characterization allows functional annotation of sequence space (left). Sequence similarity network from Neun et al.¹⁹⁷ showing a novel bridgehead for functional annotation of GH3 β -glucoronidases (red). An already annotated/characterized GH3 β -glucoronidase is shown in purple while sequences directly connected to the novel bridgehead are shown in yellow. Blue sequences show all significant search hits from a MGnify query. Using ultrahigh-throughput screening coupled to high-throughput sequencing, the effect of mutations on an enzyme can be characterized on a large scale (right). Combined, we envision this large-scale sequence–function mapping to provide data for the next generation of AI-based enzyme discovery and engineering efforts.

screening makes it possible to tolerate additional phylogenies that are not "best" in each round. They can be carried on into subsequent rounds in an inclusive fashion, where they may develop and "overtake" the frontrunners in earlier rounds (Figure 19A).³⁷ It remains to be seen whether this practice of simultaneously entertaining multiple trajectories in one experiment will overcome the "diminishing returns" syndrome³⁵⁹ that describes a situation in which long-term evolution comes to a halt after several rounds in a quasi cul-de sac. The ultrahigh droplet screening capacity thus changes the experimental options for exploring strategic options in directed evolution, affording the combinatorial luxury of relaxed stringency. The change of strategy (from "bottlenecked" to "inclusive") ties in with playing out alternative evolutionary scenarios, including a neutral drift regime that carries over a set of the best variants from each round.^{361–365} Neutral drift was applied in the evolution of an arylsulfatase (ultimately resulting in a >100,000-fold improvement) with medium-throughput screening (of ${\sim}10,000$ colonies), which remained unsuccessful prior to a "blind" neutral drift. ³⁵⁸ Characterizing the mutant networks (e.g., by analysis of the kinetics and structures of each) would reveal the roles that individual residues and their combinations play, but performing extensive analysis for the outcomes of each round will stretch the capacity of most laboratories (even when the methods outlined in

section 10 are used). Instead, one could go through multiple rounds of droplet screening and adjust the selection threshold to enter phases of adaptive vs nonadaptive (tolerant) regimes while always recovering not just a few but many mutants (so that entertaining multiple trajectories becomes plausible). Progress in microfluidic design and detection technologies (as outlined above) makes it less of a leap of faith to sort "blindly" without round-by-round characterization, but instead with reliable control of a selection threshold set by the operator to ensure a sufficient number of clones is recovered to capture multiple trajectories. Like continuous evolution, 366,367 such an approach would traverse large areas of sequence space quickly by virtue of the ultrahigh-throughput possible in droplet microfluidics. Not only would trajectories be explored, but *multiple* trajectories can be recorded (by next-generation sequencing) and characterized ex post, when frontrunners have been chosen by investigating their origin in a sequence network. It remains to be seen whether long-term-blind but traceable-evolution will generate data sets that not only record the history of an emerging functional protein but are also able to predict where future improved mutants can be found without additional experiments.

 (iii) Sequence description of evolutionary trajectories as unique data sets for AI/ML analysis. The combination of dropletbased ultrahigh-throughput screening (UHTS) and next-

generation sequencing (NGS) (deep mutational scanning; DMS) gives access to large-scale sequencefunction maps of enzymes (fitness landscapes).³⁶⁸ Droplet-based deep mutational scanning allows the deciphering of the encoding of fundamental enzyme properties such as enzymatic activity, thermodynamic stability, and substrate specificity^{113,137,369} which will be facilitated by the adaptation of novel workflows to disentangle enzyme expression level and activity.^{27,370} Novel long-read-based methodologies such as Oxford Nanopore³⁷¹ and PacBio³⁷² sequencing facilitate the resolution of epistasis in evolutionary trajectories¹²⁷ which previously relied on complex workflows combining short reads with an upper limit for gene length.³⁷ Nevertheless, very few such extensive data sets exist. DMS data have been used not only to infer information on single enzymes but also to extrapolate from it by machine learning,³⁷⁴ resulting in novel binders^{375,376} and industrially relevant biocatalysts.³⁷⁷ Intriguingly, machine learning can also be used to extrapolate into previously unexplored territories of sequence space, generating functional enzyme sequences solely based on observed sequence diversity.³⁷⁸ We envision that increased availability of data on the encoding of function by exploration of sequence space using DMS and functional metagenomics combined with more efficient machine learning algorithms³⁷⁹ will inform in silico directed evolution with higher fidelity (Figure 19B). In this scenario, droplet-based UHTS would not only elicit new functional proteins but also provide the data necessary for the in silico generation of the next wave of protein binders and biocatalysts.

12. CONCLUSIONS

In little more than two decades, ultrahigh-throughput assays in droplet compartments have come a long way from proof-ofprinciple enrichment experiments to identifying novel functional proteins for a range of target reactions in microfluidic devices screening almost routinely with high analytical precision on a scale of more than a million library members per day. The field is now poised to take advantage of the potential for automation at low capital expenditure and a step change in speed and capacity, while avoiding plasticware waste. The open source availability of device designs and the prospect of modular workflows and of interfacing custom-made devices with established flow cytometry facilities will lower the access barrier for new users. Fast design/testing cycles enabled by, e.g., soft lithography or in the future by benchtop 3D printing will put microfluidic devices rapidly in the hands of users. The chemical versatility of droplet screening is boosted by the increasing coverage of different chemical transformations and enzyme classes (directly and through coupled assays). An emerging framework for troubleshooting and protocol adjustments ensures that tailor-made assays can be implemented. Taken together, these advances will equip a broader circle of practitioners to use droplet microfluidics and establish accelerated protein engineering campaigns in the toolkit of the protein engineer.

Protein engineering has been rapidly revolutionized by the integration of next-generation sequencing, AI/ML-enabled structural modeling,³⁴⁸ and integration with comprehensive databases (e.g., the MGnify database containing >2 billion open reading frames³⁴⁷). All these approaches are, however, unable to

reliably predict function: functional assignments still have to be experimentally addressed, making this the rate-limiting step in discovery efforts. Droplet microfluidics will accelerate the slowest process in protein engineering, and its increases in throughput and speed will resonate well beyond the increased convenience of faster and cheaper screening. Tracking the dynamics of evolution not only in genotype-space but also at the level of phenotype (e.g., catalysis or binding) will generate data sets that will overcome current "blind" discovery campaigns and "map" navigation through the vastness of sequence space in the search for novel functional proteins.

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

Florian Hollfelder – Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 1GA, U.K.; © orcid.org/0000-0002-1367-6312; Email: fh111@cam.ac.uk

Authors

- Maximilian Gantz Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 1GA, U.K.
- Stefanie Neun Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 1GA, U.K.; orcid.org/0000-0002-2469-6984
- Elliot J. Medcalf Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 1GA, U.K.
- Liisa D. van Vliet Department of Biochemistry, University of Cambridge, Cambridge CB2 1GA, U.K.

Complete contact information is available at: https://pubs.acs.org/10.1021/acs.chemrev.2c00910

Author Contributions

[†]M.G, S.N., E.J.M., and L.D.v.V. contributed equally. CRediT: F.H. conceptualization and supervision. M.G., S.N., E.J.M., L.D.v.V. and F.H. writing-original draft. M.G., E.J.M., L.D.v.V., S.N. and F.H. writing-review and editing. CRediT: **Maximilian Gantz** data curation, formal analysis, investigation, visualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; **Stefanie Neun** data curation, formal analysis, investigation, visualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; **Elliot J Medcalf** data curation, formal analysis, investigation, visualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; **Liisa van Vliet** data curation, formal analysis, investigation, visualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing; **Florian Hollfelder** conceptualization, data curation, formal analysis, funding acquisition, investigation, supervision, visualization, writing-original draft, writing-review & editing:

Notes

The authors declare the following competing financial interest(s): F.H. and L.D.v.V. are co-founders of the companies Drop-Tech Ltd and Evoralis Ltd that commercialize droplet-based microfluidic solutions for protein engineering. All other authors declare no competing financial interests.

Biographies

Maximilian Gantz studied Biochemistry at TU Munich. After a stay at Donald Hilvert's laboratory at ETH Zurich to work on engineering nonribosomal peptide synthetases he worked on site-specific protein labeling using unnatural amino acids and transpeptidases in the laboratory of Kathrin Lang. In 2020 he joined Florian Hollfelder's group at the University of Cambridge for PhD studies funded by a Trinity College Benn W Levy studentship. His PhD is focused on developing novel methodologies on the interface of droplet microfluidics and deep sequencing to study the sequence-function relationship of enzymes at a large scale.

Stefanie Neun studied biochemistry (B. Sc. and M. Sc.) at TU Munich with stays at Université de Montréal and McGill University, Canada. For her Master's thesis, she joined King's College Cambridge as a visiting student conducting research under the supervision of Florian Hollfelder. With a studentship sponsored by AstraZeneca, Stefanie continued as a doctoral student at Trinity College, Cambridge, and in the Hollfelder lab, where she developed functional metagenomic screening assays in microfluidic droplets, discovered new carbohydrate active enzymes, and established a microfluidic method for the high throughput kinetic characterisation of enzymes. After obtaining her PhD in 2022, Stefanie is now a research scientist at Novozymes.

Elliot J. Medcalf studied Biotechnology with Management at Imperial College London and subsequently worked at a pharmaceutical management consultancy company (Eradigm). He joined the Hollfelder group at the University of Cambridge in 2020 as a PhD student funded by a BBSRC DTP scholarship. His PhD focuses on the hardware and software development for droplet microfluidics with a particular focus on standardisation and useability. He has designed and published UHT-AADS and has been developing methodologies for directed evolution and metagenomics of enzymes.

Liisa D. van Vliet graduated from Bowdoin College (Maine, USA) in 2000 with a B.A. in Biochemistry and Latin American studies. She obtained her M.Phil and Ph.D. in Biochemistry from St John's College Cambridgeunder the supervision of Florian Hollfelder, studying the mechanism of action of quinolones on DNA Gyrase and the intercalative properties of bifunctional acridines as potential cancer agents (M.Phil), and exploring chemical space for nonviral gene delivery agents (Ph.D.). She received a BBSRC Enterprise Fellowship in 2009, and has been a postdoctoral research associate in the Hollfelder lab developing microfluidic screening assays for therapeutic, cell and biocatalytic applications as well as the manager of two EU Marie Curie networks. She is the cofounder and director of a microfluidic technology and consultancy company, Drop-Tech Ltd, and is a cofounder of Evoralis Ltd (discovery of plastic degrading enzymes).

Florian Hollfelder was born in Berlin and educated at Technical University Berlin (Diplom-Chemiker) and Queens' College Cambridge (M.Phil). After a visiting fellowship at Stanford (with D. Herschlag), he obtained his PhD at Cambridge's Department of Chemistry (with A.J. Kirby, collaborating with D. Tawfik) as a member of St John's College and carried out postdoctoral work at Harvard Medical School (with C. T. Walsh). Returning to Europe, Florian set up his group at the Biochemistry Department of the University of Cambridge/UK in 2001, where he has remained ever since rising through the ranks to become Professor for Chemical and Synthetic Biology, and acting as quondam Tutor, Director of Studies and Graduate Mentor at Trinity Hall. He received Starting and Advanced Investigator grants from the ERC. His interests are attracted by anything where mechanism shows through, from physical-organic analysis of solution reactions to enzyme models, enzymology, and, more recently, developmental biology, using single cell transcriptomics. He hopes that ultrahigh throughput experiments in droplets will ultimately provide insight into the mechanistic origins of enzymatic rate accelerations and how Nature has brought about catalysis in evolution.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

M.G. received scholarship support from a Trinity College/Benn W Levy SBS DTP studentship, S.N. from AstraZeneca, and E.J.M. from a BBSRC DTP (BB/M011194/1). L.D.v.V. was

funded by the BBSRC(BB/T003545/1). F.H. is an ERC Advanced Investigator (695669). We thank members of the Hollfelder group for comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

(1) Abate, A. R.; Hung, T.; Mary, P.; Agresti, J. J.; Weitz, D. A. High-Throughput Injection with Microfluidics Using Picoinjectors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107*, 19163–19166.

(2) Kintses, B.; Hein, C.; Mohamed, M. F.; Fischlechner, M.; Courtois, F.; Laine, C.; Hollfelder, F. Picoliter Cell Lysate Assays in Microfluidic Droplet Compartments for Directed Enzyme Evolution. *Chem. Biol.* **2012**, *19*, 1001–1009.

(3) Ogden, P. J.; Kelsic, E. D.; Sinai, S.; Church, G. M. Comprehensive Aav Capsid Fitness Landscape Reveals a Viral Gene and Enables Machine-Guided Design. *Science* **2019**, *366*, 1139–1143.

(4) Mazurenko, S.; Prokop, Z.; Damborsky, J. Machine Learning in Enzyme Engineering. *ACS Catal.* **2020**, *10*, 1210–1223.

(5) Yang, K. K.; Wu, Z.; Arnold, F. H. Machine-Learning-Guided Directed Evolution for Protein Engineering. *Nat. Methods* **2019**, *16*, 687–694.

(6) Shang, L.; Cheng, Y.; Zhao, Y. Emerging Droplet Microfluidics. *Chem. Rev.* **2017**, *117*, 7964–8040.

(7) Sohrabi, S.; Kassir, N.; Keshavarz Moraveji, M. Droplet Microfluidics: Fundamentals and Its Advanced Applications. *RSC Adv.* **2020**, *10*, 27560–27574.

(8) Stucki, A.; Vallapurackal, J.; Ward, T. R.; Dittrich, P. S. Droplet Microfluidics and Directed Evolution of Enzymes: An Intertwined Journey. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 24368–24387.

(9) Payne, E. M.; Holland-Moritz, D. A.; Sun, S.; Kennedy, R. T. High-Throughput Screening by Droplet Microfluidics: Perspective into Key Challenges and Future Prospects. *Lab Chip* **2020**, *20*, 2247–2262.

(10) Theberge, A. B.; Courtois, F.; Schaerli, Y.; Fischlechner, M.; Abell, C.; Hollfelder, F.; Huck, W. T. Microdroplets in Microfluidics: An Evolving Platform for Discoveries in Chemistry and Biology. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2010**, *49*, 5846–5868.

(11) Bouzetos, E.; Ganar, K. A.; Mastrobattista, E.; Deshpande, S.; van der Oost, J. (R)Evolution-on-a-Chip. *Trends Biotechnol.* **2022**, *40*, 60–76.

(12) Suea-Ngam, A.; Howes, P. D.; Srisa-Art, M.; deMello, A. J. Droplet Microfluidics: From Proof-of-Concept to Real-World Utility? *Chem. Commun.* **2019**, *55*, 9895–9903.

(13) Schaerli, Y.; Hollfelder, F. The Potential of Microfluidic Waterin-Oil Droplets in Experimental Biology. *Mol. Bio. Sys.* **2009**, *5*, 1392– 1404.

(14) Guo, M. T.; Rotem, A.; Heyman, J. A.; Weitz, D. A. Droplet Microfluidics for High-Throughput Biological Assays. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 2146–2155.

(15) Elvira, K. S.; Gielen, F.; Tsai, S. S. H.; Nightingale, A. M. Materials and Methods for Droplet Microfluidic Device Fabrication. *Lab Chip* **2022**, *22*, 859–875.

(16) Xi, H. D.; Zheng, H.; Guo, W.; Ganan-Calvo, A. M.; Ai, Y.; Tsao, C. W.; Zhou, J.; Li, W.; Huang, Y.; Nguyen, N. T.; et al. Active Droplet Sorting in Microfluidics: A Review. *Lab Chip* **201**7, *17*, 751–771.

(17) Liu, W. W.; Zhu, Y. Development and Application of Analytical Detection Techniques for Droplet -Based Micro Fluidics -a Review. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2020**, *1113*, 66–84.

(18) Devenish, S. R.; Kaltenbach, M.; Fischlechner, M.; Hollfelder, F. Droplets as Reaction Compartments for Protein Nanotechnology. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **2013**, *996*, 269–286.

(19) Huebner, A.; Sharma, S.; Srisa-Art, M.; Hollfelder, F.; Edel, J. B.; Demello, A. J. Microdroplets: A Sea of Applications? *Lab Chip* **2008**, *8*, 1244–1254.

(20) Lederberg, J. A Simple Method for Isolating Individual Microbes. *J. Bacteriol.* **1954**, *68*, 258.

(21) Nossal, G. J.; Lederberg, J. Antibody Production by Single Cells. *Nature* **1958**, *181*, 1419–1420.

(22) Rotman, B. Measurement of Activity of Single Molecules of B-D-Galactosidase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **1961**, 47, 1981.

(23) Ghadessy, F. J.; Ong, J. L.; Holliger, P. Directed Evolution of Polymerase Function by Compartmentalized Self-Replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2001**, *98*, 4552–4557.

(24) Ghadessy, F. J.; Ramsay, N.; Boudsocq, F.; Loakes, D.; Brown, A.; Iwai, S.; Vaisman, A.; Woodgate, R.; Holliger, P. Generic Expansion of the Substrate Spectrum of a DNA Polymerase by Directed Evolution. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2004**, *22*, 755–759.

(25) Wochner, A.; Attwater, J.; Coulson, A.; Holliger, P. Ribozyme-Catalyzed Transcription of an Active Ribozyme. *Science* **2011**, *332*, 209–212.

(26) Mastrobattista, E.; Taly, V.; Chanudet, E.; Treacy, P.; Kelly, B. T.; Griffiths, A. D. High-Throughput Screening of Enzyme Libraries: In Vitro Evolution of a B-Galactosidase by Fluorescence-Activated Sorting of Double Emulsions. *Chem. Biol.* **2005**, *12*, 1291–1300.

(27) Aharoni, A.; Amitai, G.; Bernath, K.; Magdassi, S.; Tawfik, D. S. High-Throughput Screening of Enzyme Libraries: Thiolactonases Evolved by Fluorescence-Activated Sorting of Single Cells in Emulsion Compartments. *Chem. Biol.* **2005**, *12*, 1281–1289.

(28) Scheele, R. A.; Lindenburg, L. H.; Petek, M.; Schober, M.; Dalby, K. N.; Hollfelder, F. Droplet-Based Screening of Phosphate Transfer Catalysis Reveals How Epistasis Shapes Map Kinase Interactions with Substrates. *Nat. Commun.* **2022**, *13*, 844.

(29) Huebner, A.; Srisa-Art, M.; Holt, D.; Abell, C.; Hollfelder, F.; deMello, A. J.; Edel, J. B. Quantitative detection of protein expression in single cells using droplet microfluidics. *Chem. Comm.* **2007**, 1218–1220.

(30) Huebner, A.; Bratton, D.; Whyte, G.; Yang, M.; deMello, A. J.; Abell, C.; Hollfelder, F. Static microdroplet arrays: a microfluidic device for droplet trapping, incubation and release for enzymatic and cellbased assays. *Lab Chip* **2009**, *9*, 692–698.

(31) Tawfik, D. S.; Griffiths, A. D. Man-Made Cell-Like Compartments for Molecular Evolution. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **1998**, *16*, 652–656.

(32) Griffiths, A. D.; Tawfik, D. S. Directed Evolution of an Extremely Fast Phosphotriesterase by in Vitro Compartmentalization. *EMBO J.* **2003**, *22*, 24–35.

(33) Houlihan, G.; Gatti-Lafranconi, P.; Kaltenbach, M.; Lowe, D.; Hollfelder, F. An Experimental Framework for Improved Selection of Binding Proteins Using Snap Display. *J. Immunol. Methods* **2014**, *405*, 47–56.

(34) Kaltenbach, M.; Devenish, S. R.; Hollfelder, F. A Simple Method to Evaluate the Biochemical Compatibility of Oil/Surfactant Mixtures for Experiments in Microdroplets. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 4185–4192.

(35) Lim, S. W.; Abate, A. R. Ultrahigh-Throughput Sorting of Microfluidic Drops with Flow Cytometry. *Lab Chip* **2013**, *13*, 4563–4572.

(36) Miller, O. J.; Bernath, K.; Agresti, J. J.; Amitai, G.; Kelly, B. T.; Mastrobattista, E.; Taly, V.; Magdassi, S.; Tawfik, D. S.; Griffiths, A. D. Directed Evolution by in Vitro Compartmentalization. *Nat. Methods* **2006**, 3, 561–570.

(37) Colin, P. Y.; Zinchenko, A.; Hollfelder, F. Enzyme Engineering in Biomimetic Compartments. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **2015**, 33, 42–51.

(38) Anna, S. L.; Bontoux, N.; Stone, H. A. Formation of Dispersions Using "Flow Focusing" in Microchannels. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2003**, *82*, 364–366.

(39) Umbanhowar, P. B.; Prasad, V.; Weitz, D. A. Monodisperse Emulsion Generation Via Drop Break Off in a Coflowing Stream. *Langmuir* **2000**, *16*, 347–351.

(40) Link, D. R.; Anna, S. L.; Weitz, D. A.; Stone, H. A. Geometrically Mediated Breakup of Drops in Microfluidic Devices. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2004**, *92*, 054503.

(41) Garstecki, P.; Stone, H. A.; Whitesides, G. M. Mechanism for Flow-Rate Controlled Breakup in Confined Geometries: A Route to Monodisperse Emulsions. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2005**, *94*, 164501.

(42) Utada, A. S.; Lorenceau, E.; Link, D. R.; Kaplan, P. D.; Stone, H. A.; Weitz, D. A. Monodisperse Double Emulsions Generated from a Microcapillary Device. *Science* **2005**, 308, 537–541.

(43) Lashkaripour, A.; Rodriguez, C.; Ortiz, L.; Densmore, D. Performance Tuning of Microfluidic Flow-Focusing Droplet Generators. *Lab Chip* **2019**, *19*, 1041–1053.

(44) Kalantarifard, A.; Alizadeh-Haghighi, E.; Saateh, A.; Elbuken, C. Theoretical and Experimental Limits of Monodisperse Droplet Generation. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2021**, *229*, 116093.

(45) Thorsen, T.; Roberts, R. W.; Arnold, F. H.; Quake, S. R. Dynamic Pattern Formation in a Vesicle-Generating Microfluidic Device. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2001**, *86*, 4163–4166.

(46) Tice, J. D.; Song, H.; Lyon, A. D.; Ismagilov, R. F. Formation of Droplets and Mixing in Multiphase Microfluidics at Low Values of the Reynolds and the Capillary Numbers. *Langmuir* **2003**, *19*, 9127–9133.

(47) Garstecki, P.; Fuerstman, M. J.; Stone, H. A.; Whitesides, G. M. Formation of Droplets and Bubbles in a Microfluidic T-Junction-Scaling and Mechanism of Break-Up. *Lab Chip* **2006**, *6*, 437–446.

(48) Cramer, C.; Fischer, P.; Windhab, E. J. Drop Formation in a Co-Flowing Ambient Fluid. *Chem. Eng. Sci.* **2004**, *59*, 3045–3058.

(49) Utada, A. S.; Fernandez-Nieves, A.; Stone, H. A.; Weitz, D. A. Dripping to Jetting Transitions in Coflowing Liquid Streams. *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **2007**, *99*, 094502.

(50) Sugiura, S.; Nakajima, M.; Seki, M. Prediction of Droplet Diameter for Microchannel Emulsification. *Langmuir* **2002**, *18*, 3854–3859.

(51) Dangla, R.; Kayi, S. C.; Baroud, C. N. Droplet Microfluidics Driven by Gradients of Confinement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2013**, *110*, 853–858.

(52) Li, Z.; Leshansky, A. M.; Metais, S.; Pismen, L. M.; Tabeling, P. Step-Emulsification in a Microfluidic Device. *Lab Chip* **2015**, *15*, 1023–1031.

(53) Nishimura, K.; Matsuura, T.; Nishimura, K.; Sunami, T.; Suzuki, H.; Yomo, T. Cell-Free Protein Synthesis inside Giant Unilamellar Vesicles Analyzed by Flow Cytometry. *Langmuir* **2012**, *28*, 8426–8432.

(54) Pautot, S.; Frisken, B. J.; Weitz, D. A. Production of Unilamellar Vesicles Using an Inverted Emulsion. *Langmuir* **2003**, *19*, 2870–2879.

(55) Fujii, S.; Matsuura, T.; Sunami, T.; Nishikawa, T.; Kazuta, Y.; Yomo, T. Liposome Display for in Vitro Selection and Evolution of Membrane Proteins. *Nat. Protoc.* **2014**, *9*, 1578–1591.

(56) Uyeda, A.; Nakayama, S.; Kato, Y.; Watanabe, H.; Matsuura, T. Construction of an in Vitro Gene Screening System of the E. Coli Emre Transporter Using Liposome Display. *Anal. Chem.* **2016**, *88*, 12028–12035.

(57) Uyeda, A.; Watanabe, T.; Kato, Y.; Watanabe, H.; Yomo, T.; Hohsaka, T.; Matsuura, T. Liposome-Based in Vitro Evolution of Aminoacyl-Trna Synthetase for Enhanced Pyrrolysine Derivative Incorporation. *ChemBioChem* **2015**, *16*, 1797–1802.

(58) Kumachev, A.; Greener, J.; Tumarkin, E.; Eiser, E.; Zandstra, P. W.; Kumacheva, E. High-Throughput Generation of Hydrogel Microbeads with Varying Elasticity for Cell Encapsulation. *Biomaterials* **2011**, *32*, 1477–1483.

(59) Eun, Y. J.; Utada, A. S.; Copeland, M. F.; Takeuchi, S.; Weibel, D. B. Encapsulating Bacteria in Agarose Microparticles Using Micro-fluidics for High-Throughput Cell Analysis and Isolation. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2011**, *6*, 260–266.

(60) Desbois, L.; Padirac, A.; Kaneda, S.; Genot, A. J.; Rondelez, Y.; Hober, D.; Collard, D.; Fujii, T. A Microfluidic Device for on-Chip Agarose Microbead Generation with Ultralow Reagent Consumption. *Biomicrofluidics* **2012**, *6*, 044101.

(61) Fischlechner, M.; Schaerli, Y.; Mohamed, M. F.; Patil, S.; Abell, C.; Hollfelder, F. Evolution of Enzyme Catalysts Caged in Biomimetic Gel-Shell Beads. *Nat. Chem.* **2014**, *6*, 791–796.

(62) Di Girolamo, S.; Puorger, C.; Lipps, G. Stable and Selective Permeable Hydrogel Microcapsules for High-Throughput Cell Cultivation and Enzymatic Analysis. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **2020**, *19*, DOI: 10.1186/s12934-020-01427-9.

(63) Zhang, H.; Tumarkin, E.; Peerani, R.; Nie, Z.; Sullan, R. M. A.; Walker, G. C.; Kumacheva, E. Microfluidic Production of Biopolymer Microcapsules with Controlled Morphology. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2006**, *128*, 12205–12210.

(64) Tan, W. H.; Takeuchi, S. Monodisperse Alginate Hydrogel Microbeads for Cell Encapsulation. *Adv. Mater.* **2007**, *19*, 2696.

(65) Amici, E.; Tetradis-Meris, G.; de Torres, P.; Jousse, F. Alginate Gelation in Microfluidic Channels. *Food Hydrocolloids* **2008**, *22*, 97–104.

(66) Chen, Q. S.; Utech, S.; Chen, D.; Prodanovic, R.; Lin, J. M.; Weitz, D. A. Controlled Assembly of Heterotypic Cells in a Core-Shell Scaffold: Organ in a Droplet. *Lab Chip* **2016**, *16*, 1346–1349.

(67) Park, J. K.; Chang, H. N. Microencapsulation of Microbial Cells. *Biotechnol. Adv.* **2000**, *18*, 303–319.

(68) Walser, M.; Leibundgut, R. M.; Pellaux, R.; Panke, S.; Held, M. Isolation of Monoclonal Microcarriers Colonized by Fluorescent E. Coli. *Cytometry, Part A* **2008**, *73*, 788–798.

(69) Walser, M.; Pellaux, R.; Meyer, A.; Bechtold, M.; Vanderschuren, H.; Reinhardt, R.; Magyar, J.; Panke, S.; Held, M. Novel Method for High-Throughput Colony Pcr Screening in Nanoliter-Reactors. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2009**, *37*, e57.

(70) Femmer, C.; Bechtold, M.; Held, M.; Panke, S. In Vivo Directed Enzyme Evolution in Nanoliter Reactors with Antimetabolite Selection. *Metab. Eng.* **2020**, *59*, 15–23.

(71) Femmer, C.; Bechtold, M.; Panke, S. Semi-Rational Engineering of an Amino Acid Racemase That Is Stabilized in Aqueous/Organic Solvent Mixtures. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **2020**, *117*, 2683–2693.

(72) Shah, R. K.; Kim, J. W.; Agresti, J. J.; Weitz, D. A.; Chu, L. Y. Fabrication of Monodisperse Thermosensitive Microgels and Gel Capsules in Microfluidic Devices. *Soft Matter* **2008**, *4*, 2303–2309.

(73) Seiffert, S.; Thiele, J.; Abate, A. R.; Weitz, D. A. Smart Microgel Capsules from Macromolecular Precursors. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2010, 132, 6606–6609.

(74) Hatori, M. N.; Kim, S. C.; Abate, A. R. Particle-Templated Emulsification for Microfluidics-Free Digital Biology. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 9813–9820.

(75) Miwa, H.; Dimatteo, R.; de Rutte, J.; Ghosh, R.; Di Carlo, D. Single-Cell Sorting Based on Secreted Products for Functionally Defined Cell Therapies. *Microsyst. Nanoeng.* **2022**, *8*, 84.

(76) Clark, I. C.; Fontanez, K. M.; Meltzer, R. H.; Xue, Y.; Hayford, C.; May-Zhang, A.; D'Amato, C.; Osman, A.; Zhang, J. Q.; Hettige, P.; et al. Microfluidics-Free Single-Cell Genomics with Templated Emulsification. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2023**, DOI: 10.1038/s41587-023-01685-z.

(77) Diamante, L.; Gatti-Lafranconi, P.; Schaerli, Y.; Hollfelder, F. In Vitro Affinity Screening of Protein and Peptide Binders by Megavalent Bead Surface Display. *Protein Eng., Des. Sel.* **2013**, *26*, 713–724.

(78) Prodanovic, R.; Ostafe, R.; Blanusa, M.; Schwaneberg, U. Vanadium Bromoperoxidase-Coupled Fluorescent Assay for Flow Cytometry Sorting of Glucose Oxidase Gene Libraries in Double Emulsions. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2012**, *404*, 1439–1447.

(79) Bernath, K.; Hai, M.; Mastrobattista, E.; Griffiths, A. D.; Magdassi, S.; Tawfik, D. S. In Vitro Compartmentalization by Double Emulsions: Sorting and Gene Enrichment by Fluorescence Activated Cell Sorting. *Anal. Biochem.* **2004**, *325*, 151–157.

(80) Sukovich, D. J.; Kim, S. C.; Ahmed, N.; Abate, A. R. Bulk Double Emulsification for Flow Cytometric Analysis of Microfluidic Droplets. *Analyst* **2017**, *142*, 4618–4622.

(81) Abate, A. R.; Thiele, J.; Weitz, D. A. One-Step Formation of Multiple Emulsions in Microfluidics. *Lab Chip* **2011**, *11*, 253–258.

(82) Huebner, A.; Olguin, L. F.; Bratton, D.; Whyte, G.; Huck, W. T. S.; de Mello, A. J.; Edel, J. B.; Abell, C.; Hollfelder, F. Development of Quantitative Cell-Based Enzyme Assays in Microdroplets. *Anal. Chem.* **2008**, *80*, 3890–3896.

(83) Shim, J. U.; Ranasinghe, R. T.; Smith, C. A.; Ibrahim, S. M.; Hollfelder, F.; Huck, W. T. S.; Klenerman, D.; Abell, C. Ultrarapid Generation of Femtoliter Microfluidic Droplets for Single-Molecule-Counting Immunoassays. *ACS Nano* **2013**, *7*, 5955–5964.

(84) Gielen, F.; van Vliet, L.; Koprowski, B. T.; Devenish, S. R.; Fischlechner, M.; Edel, J. B.; Niu, X.; deMello, A. J.; Hollfelder, F. A Fully Unsupervised Compartment-on-Demand Platform for Precise Nanoliter Assays of Time-Dependent Steady-State Enzyme Kinetics and Inhibition. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 4761–4769.

(85) Gielen, F.; Buryska, T.; Van Vliet, L.; Butz, M.; Damborsky, J.; Prokop, Z.; Hollfelder, F. Interfacing Microwells with Nanoliter Compartments: A Sampler Generating High-Resolution Concentration Gradients for Quantitative Biochemical Analyses in Droplets. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 624–632.

(86) Chabert, M.; Dorfman, K. D.; de Cremoux, P.; Roeraade, J.; Viovy, J. L. Automated Microdroplet Platform for Sample Manipulation and Polymerase Chain Reaction. *Anal. Chem.* **2006**, *78*, 7722–7728.

(87) Bauer, W. A. C.; Fischlechner, M.; Abell, C.; Huck, W. T. S. Hydrophilic Pdms Microchannels for High-Throughput Formation of Oil-in-Water Microdroplets and Water-in-Oil-in-Water Double Emulsions. *Lab Chip* **2010**, *10*, 1814–1819.

(88) Yan, J.; Bauer, W. A. C.; Fischlechner, M.; Hollfelder, F.; Kaminski, C. F.; Huck, W. T. S. Monodisperse Water-in-Oil-in-Water (W/O/W) Double Emulsion Droplets as Uniform Compartments for High-Throughput Analysis Via Flow Cytometry. *Micromachines* **2013**, *4*, 402–413.

(89) Zinchenko, A.; Devenish, S. R. A.; Kintses, B.; Colin, P.-Y.; Fischlechner, M.; Hollfelder, F. One in a Million: Flow Cytometric Sorting of Single Cell-Lysate Assays in Monodisperse Picolitre Double Emulsion Droplets for Directed Evolution. *Anal. Chem.* **2014**, *86*, 2526–2533.

(90) Takeuchi, R.; Choi, M.; Stoddard, B. L. Redesign of Extensive Protein-DNA Interfaces of Meganucleases Using Iterative Cycles of in Vitro Compartmentalization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2014**, *111*, 4061–4066.

(91) Lee, Y. F.; Tawfik, D. S.; Griffiths, A. D. Investigating the Target Recognition of DNA Cytosine-5 Methyltransferase Hha I by Library Selection Using in Vitro Compartmentalisation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2002**, *30*, 4937–4944.

(92) Cohen, H. M.; Tawfik, D. S.; Griffiths, A. D. Altering the Sequence Specificity of Haeiii Methyltransferase by Directed Evolution Using in Vitro Compartmentalization. *Protein Eng., Des. Sel.* 2004, *17*, 3–11.

(93) Loakes, D.; Gallego, J.; Pinheiro, V. B.; Kool, E. T.; Holliger, P. Evolving a Polymerase for Hydrophobic Base Analogues. *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **2009**, *131*, 14827–14837.

(94) Pinheiro, V. B.; Taylor, A. I.; Cozens, C.; Abramov, M.; Renders, M.; Zhang, S.; Chaput, J. C.; Wengel, J.; Peak-Chew, S.-Y.; McLaughlin, S. H.; et al. Synthetic Genetic Polymers Capable of Heredity and Evolution. *Science* **2012**, *336*, 341–344.

(95) d'Abbadie, M.; Hofreiter, M.; Vaisman, A.; Loakes, D.; Gasparutto, D.; Cadet, J.; Woodgate, R.; Pääbo, S.; Holliger, P. Molecular Breeding of Polymerases for Amplification of Ancient DNA. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2007**, *25*, 939–943.

(96) Ong, J. L.; Loakes, D.; Jaroslawski, S.; Too, K.; Holliger, P. Directed Evolution of DNA Polymerase, Rna Polymerase and Reverse Transcriptase Activity in a Single Polypeptide. *J. Mol. Biol.* **2006**, *361*, 537–550.

(97) Milligan, J. N.; Shroff, R.; Garry, D. J.; Ellington, A. D. Evolution of a Thermophilic Strand-Displacing Polymerase Using High-Temperature Isothermal Compartmentalized Self-Replication. *Biochemistry* **2018**, *57*, 4607–4619.

(98) Povilaitis, T.; Alzbutas, G.; Sukackaite, R.; Siurkus, J.; Skirgaila, R. In Vitro Evolution of Phi29 DNA Polymerase Using Isothermal Compartmentalized Self Replication Technique. *Protein Eng., Des. Sel.* **2016**, *29*, 617–628.

(99) Baar, C.; d'Abbadie, M.; Vaisman, A.; Arana, M. E.; Hofreiter, M.; Woodgate, R.; Kunkel, T. A.; Holliger, P. Molecular Breeding of Polymerases for Resistance to Environmental Inhibitors. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2011**, *39*, No. e51.

(100) Meyer, A. J.; Ellefson, J. W.; Ellington, A. D. Directed Evolution of a Panel of Orthogonal T7 Rna Polymerase Variants for in Vivo or in Vitro Synthetic Circuitry. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2015**, *4*, 1070–1076.

(101) Arezi, B.; McKinney, N.; Hansen, C.; Cayouette, M.; Fox, J.; Chen, K.; Lapira, J.; Hamilton, S.; Hogrefe, H. Compartmentalized Self-Replication under Fast Pcr Cycling Conditions Yields Taq DNA Polymerase Mutants with Increased DNA-Binding Affinity and Blood Resistance. *Front. Microbiol.* **2014**, *5*, 408. (102) Aye, S. L.; Fujiwara, K.; Ueki, A.; Doi, N. Engineering of DNA Polymerase I from Thermus Thermophilus Using Compartmentalized Self-Replication. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* **2018**, 499, 170–176. (103) Laos, R.; Shaw, R.; Leal, N. A.; Gaucher, E.; Benner, S. Directed Evolution of Polymerases to Accept Nucleotides with Nonstandard

Hydrogen Bond Patterns. *Biochemistry* **2013**, *52*, 5288–5294. (104) Ellefson, J. W.; Meyer, A. J.; Hughes, R. A.; Cannon, J. R.; Brodbelt, J. S.; Ellington, A. D. Directed Evolution of Genetic Parts and Circuits by Compartmentalized Partnered Replication. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2014**, *32*, 97–101.

(105) Zaher, H. S.; Unrau, P. J. Selection of an Improved Rna Polymerase Ribozyme with Superior Extension and Fidelity. *RNA* **2007**, *13*, 1017–1026.

(106) Agresti, J. J.; Kelly, B. T.; Jaschke, A.; Griffiths, A. D. Selection of Ribozymes That Catalyse Multiple-Turnover Diels-Alder Cycloadditions by Using in Vitro Compartmentalization. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2005**, *102*, 16170–16175.

(107) Gianella, P.; Snapp, E. L.; Levy, M. An in Vitro Compartmentalization-Based Method for the Selection of Bond-Forming Enzymes from Large Libraries. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* 2016, 113, 1647–1657.

(108) Goto, H.; Kanai, Y.; Yotsui, A.; Shimokihara, S.; Shitara, S.; Oyobiki, R.; Fujiwara, K.; Watanabe, T.; Einaga, Y.; Matsumoto, Y.; et al. Microfluidic Screening System Based on Boron-Doped Diamond Electrodes and Dielectrophoretic Sorting for Directed Evolution of Nad(P)-Dependent Oxidoreductases. *Lab Chip* **2020**, *20*, 852–861.

(109) Houlihan, G.; Arangundy-Franklin, S.; Porebski, B. T.; Subramanian, N.; Taylor, A. I.; Holliger, P. Discovery and Evolution of Rna and Xna Reverse Transcriptase Function and Fidelity. *Nat. Chem.* **2020**, *12*, 683–690.

(110) Levy, M.; Griswold, K. E.; Ellington, A. D. Direct Selection of Trans-Acting Ligase Ribozymes by in Vitro Compartmentalization. *RNA* **2005**, *11*, 1555–1562.

(111) Gupta, R. D.; Goldsmith, M.; Ashani, Y.; Simo, Y.; Mullokandov, G.; Bar, H.; Ben-David, M.; Leader, H.; Margalit, R.; Silman, I.; et al. Directed Evolution of Hydrolases for Prevention of G-Type Nerve Agent Intoxication. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2011**, *7*, 120–125.

(112) Nishikawa, T.; Sunami, T.; Matsuura, T.; Yomo, T. Directed Evolution of Proteins through in Vitro Protein Synthesis in Liposomes. *J. Nucleic Acids* **2012**, *2012*, 923214.

(113) Romero, P. A.; Tran, T. M.; Abate, A. R. Dissecting Enzyme Function with Microfluidic-Based Deep Mutational Scanning. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2015**, *112*, 7159–7164.

(114) Balasubramanian, S.; Chen, J.; Wigneswaran, V.; Bang-Berthelsen, C. H.; Jensen, P. R. Droplet-Based Microfluidic High Throughput Screening of Corynebacterium Glutamicum for Efficient Heterologous Protein Production and Secretion. *Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol.* **2021**, *9*, DOI: 10.3389/fbioe.2021.668513.

(115) Sjostrom, S. L.; Bai, Y.; Huang, M.; Liu, Z.; Nielsen, J.; Joensson, H. N.; Andersson Svahn, H. High-Throughput Screening for Industrial Enzyme Production Hosts by Droplet Microfluidics. *Lab Chip* **2014**, *14*, 806–813.

(116) Beneyton, T.; Wijaya, I. P. M.; Postros, P.; Najah, M.; Leblond, P.; Couvent, A.; Mayot, E.; Griffiths, A. D.; Drevelle, A. High-Throughput Screening of Filamentous Fungi Using Nanoliter-Range Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 27223.

(117) Zhang, G.; Chen, Y.; Li, Q.; Zhou, J.; Li, J.; Du, G. Growth-Coupled Evolution and High-Throughput Screening Assisted Rapid Enhancement for Amylase-Producing Bacillus Licheniformis. *Bioresour. Technol.* **2021**, 337, 125467.

(118) Tu, R.; Zhang, Y.; Hua, E.; Bai, L.; Huang, H.; Yun, K.; Wang, M. Droplet-Based Microfluidic Platform for High-Throughput Screening of Streptomyces. *Commun. Biol.* **2021**, *4*, 647.

(119) Schnettler, D. J.; Klein, O. J.; Kaminski, T. S.; Colin, P.-Y.; Hollfelder, F. Ultrahigh-Throughput Directed Evolution of a Metal-Free A/B-Hydrolase with a Cys-His-Asp Triad into an Efficient Phosphotriesterase. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2023**, 145, 1083–1096.

(120) Colin, P. Y.; Kintses, B.; Gielen, F.; Miton, C. M.; Fischer, G.; Mohamed, M. F.; Hyvonen, M.; Morgavi, D. P.; Janssen, D. B.; Hollfelder, F. Ultrahigh-Throughput Discovery of Promiscuous Enzymes by Picodroplet Functional Metagenomics. *Nat. Commun.* **2015**, *6*, 10008.

(121) Ma, F.; Chung, M. T.; Yao, Y.; Nidetz, R.; Lee, L. M.; Liu, A. P.; Feng, Y.; Kurabayashi, K.; Yang, G.-Y. Efficient Molecular Evolution to Generate Enantioselective Enzymes Using a Dual-Channel Microfluidic Droplet Screening Platform. *Nat. Commun.* **2018**, *9*, 1030.

(122) van Loo, B.; Heberlein, M.; Mair, P.; Zinchenko, A.; Schuurmann, J.; Eenink, B. D. G.; Holstein, J. M.; Dilkaute, C.; Jose, J.; Hollfelder, F.; et al. High-Throughput, Lysis-Free Screening for Sulfatase Activity Using Escherichia Coli Autodisplay in Microdroplets. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2019**, *8*, 2690–2700.

(123) Holstein, J. M.; Gylstorff, C.; Hollfelder, F. Cell-Free Directed Evolution of a Protease in Microdroplets at Ultrahigh Throughput. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2021**, *10*, 252–257.

(124) Agresti, J. J.; Antipov, E.; Abate, A. R.; Ahn, K.; Rowat, A. C.; Baret, J.-C.; Marquez, M.; Klibanov, A. M.; Griffiths, A. D.; Weitz, D. A. Ultrahigh-Throughput Screening in Drop-Based Microfluidics for Directed Evolution. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2010**, *107*, 4004– 4009.

(125) Debon, A.; Pott, M.; Obexer, R.; Green, A. P.; Friedrich, L.; Griffiths, A. D.; Hilvert, D. Ultrahigh-Throughput Screening Enables Efficient Single-Round Oxidase Remodelling. *Nat. Catal.* **2019**, *2*, 740–747.

(126) Prodanović, R.; Ung, W. L.; Ilić Đurđić, K.; Fischer, R.; Weitz, D. A.; Ostafe, R. A High-Throughput Screening System Based on Droplet Microfluidics for Glucose Oxidase Gene Libraries. *Molecules* **2020**, *25*, 2418.

(127) Zurek, P. J.; Knyphausen, P.; Neufeld, K.; Pushpanath, A.; Hollfelder, F. UMI-Linked Consensus Sequencing Enables Phylogenetic Analysis of Directed Evolution. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 6023.

(128) Gielen, F.; Hours, R.; Emond, S.; Fischlechner, M.; Schell, U.; Hollfelder, F. Ultrahigh-Throughput-Directed Enzyme Evolution by Absorbance-Activated Droplet Sorting (Aads). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2016**, *113*, E7383–E7389.

(129) Obexer, R.; Pott, M.; Zeymer, C.; Griffiths, A. D.; Hilvert, D. Efficient Laboratory Evolution of Computationally Designed Enzymes with Low Starting Activities Using Fluorescence-Activated Droplet Sorting. *Protein Eng., Des. Sel.* **2016**, *29*, 355–366.

(130) Obexer, R.; Godina, A.; Garrabou, X.; Mittl, P. R. E.; Baker, D.; Griffiths, A. D.; Hilvert, D. Emergence of a Catalytic Tetrad During Evolution of a Highly Active Artificial Aldolase. *Nat. Chem.* **2017**, *9*, 50–56.

(131) Paegel, B. M.; Joyce, G. F. Microfluidic Compartmentalized Directed Evolution. *Chem. Biol.* **2010**, *17*, 717–724.

(132) Ryckelynck, M.; Baudrey, S.; Rick, C.; Marin, A.; Coldren, F.; Westhof, E.; Griffiths, A. D. Using Droplet-Based Microfluidics to Improve the Catalytic Properties of Rna under Multiple-Turnover Conditions. RNA **2015**, *21*, 458–469.

(133) Tauzin, A. S.; Pereira, M. R.; Van Vliet, L. D.; Colin, P. Y.; Laville, E.; Esque, J.; Laguerre, S.; Henrissat, B.; Terrapon, N.; Lombard, V.; et al. Investigating Host-Microbiome Interactions by Droplet Based Microfluidics. *Microbiome* **2020**, *8*, 141.

(134) Terekhov, S. S.; Smirnov, I. V.; Stepanova, A. V.; Bobik, T. V.; Mokrushina, Y. A.; Ponomarenko, N. A.; Belogurov, A. A.; Rubtsova, M. P.; Kartseva, O. V.; Gomzikova, M. O.; et al. Microfluidic Droplet Platform for Ultrahigh-Throughput Single-Cell Screening of Biodiversity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **201**7, *114*, 2550–2555.

(135) Ma, F.; Guo, T.; Zhang, Y.; Bai, X.; Li, C.; Lu, Z.; Deng, X.; Li, D.; Kurabayashi, K.; Yang, G.-y. An Ultrahigh-Throughput Screening Platform Based on Flow Cytometric Droplet Sorting for Mining Novel Enzymes from Metagenomic Libraries. *Environ. Microbiol.* **2021**, *23*, 996–1008.

(136) Larsen, A. C.; Dunn, M. R.; Hatch, A.; Sau, S. P.; Youngbull, C.; Chaput, J. C. A General Strategy for Expanding Polymerase Function by Droplet Microfluidics. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 11235.

(137) Nikoomanzar, A.; Vallejo, D.; Chaput, J. C. Elucidating the Determinants of Polymerase Specificity by Microfluidic-Based Deep Mutational Scanning. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2019**, *8*, 1421–1429.

(138) Meyer, A.; Pellaux, R.; Potot, S.; Becker, K.; Hohmann, H. P.; Panke, S.; Held, M. Optimization of a Whole-Cell Biocatalyst by Employing Genetically Encoded Product Sensors inside Nanolitre Reactors. *Nat. Chem.* **2015**, *7*, 673–678.

(139) Napiorkowska, M.; Pestalozzi, L.; Panke, S.; Held, M.; Schmitt, S. High-Throughput Optimization of Recombinant Protein Production in Microfluidic Gel Beads. *Small* **2021**, *17*, No. e2005523.

(140) Pitzler, C.; Wirtz, G.; Vojcic, L.; Hiltl, S.; Boker, A.; Martinez, R.; Schwaneberg, U. A Fluorescent Hydrogel-Based Flow Cytometry High-Throughput Screening Platform for Hydrolytic Enzymes. *Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *21*, 1733–1742.

(141) Song, H.; Chen, D. L.; Ismagilov, R. F. Reactions in Droplets in Microfluidic Channels. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2006**, *45*, 7336–7356.

(142) Niu, X.; Gulati, S.; Edel, J. B.; deMello, A. J. Pillar-Induced Droplet Merging in Microfluidic Circuits. *Lab Chip* **2008**, *8*, 1837–1841.

(143) Ahn, K.; Agresti, J.; Chong, H.; Marquez, M.; Weitz, D. A. Electrocoalescence of Drops Synchronized by Size-Dependent Flow in Microfluidic Channels. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2006**, *88*, 264105.

(144) Theberge, A. B.; Mayot, E.; El Harrak, A.; Kleinschmidt, F.; Huck, W. T. S.; Griffiths, A. D. Microfluidic Platform for Combinatorial Synthesis in Picolitre Droplets. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 1320–1326.

(145) Bhattacharjee, B.; Vanapalli, S. A. Electrocoalescence Based Serial Dilution of Microfluidic Droplets. *Biomicrofluidics* **2014**, *8*, 044111.

(146) Zurek, P. J.; Hours, R.; Schell, U.; Pushpanath, A.; Hollfelder, F. Growth Amplification in Ultrahigh-Throughput Microdroplet Screening Increases Sensitivity of Clonal Enzyme Assays and Minimizes Phenotypic Variation. *Lab Chip* **2021**, *21*, 163–173.

(147) Rhee, M.; Light, Y. K.; Yilmaz, S.; Adams, P. D.; Saxena, D.; Meagher, R. J.; Singh, A. K. Pressure Stabilizer for Reproducible Picoinjection in Droplet Microfluidic Systems. *Lab Chip* **2014**, *14*, 4533–4539.

(148) Breukers, J.; Op de Beeck, H.; Rutten, I.; López Fernandez, M.; Eyckerman, S.; Lammertyn, J. Highly Flexible and Accurate Serial Picoinjection in Droplets by Combined Pressure and Flow Rate Control. *Lab Chip* **2022**, *22*, 3475–3488.

(149) Siedlik, M. J.; Issadore, D. Pico-Washing: Simultaneous Liquid Addition and Removal for Continuous-Flow Washing of Microdroplets. *Microsyst. Nanoeng.* **2022**, *8*, 46.

(150) Koster, S.; Angile, F. E.; Duan, H.; Agresti, J. J.; Wintner, A.; Schmitz, C.; Rowat, A. C.; Merten, C. A.; Pisignano, D.; Griffiths, A. D.; et al. Drop-Based Microfluidic Devices for Encapsulation of Single Cells. *Lab Chip* **2008**, *8*, 1110–1115.

(151) Frenz, L.; Blank, K.; Brouzes, E.; Griffiths, A. D. Reliable Microfluidic on-Chip Incubation of Droplets in Delay-Lines. *Lab Chip* **2009**, *9*, 1344–1348.

(152) Mazutis, L.; Baret, J. C.; Treacy, P.; Skhiri, Y.; Araghi, A. F.; Ryckelynck, M.; Taly, V.; Griffiths, A. D. Multi-Step Microfluidic Droplet Processing: Kinetic Analysis of an in Vitro Translated Enzyme. *Lab Chip* **2009**, *9*, 2902–2908.

(153) Courtois, F.; Olguin, L. F.; Whyte, G.; Bratton, D.; Huck, W. T. S.; Abell, C.; Hollfelder, F. An Integrated Device for Monitoring Time-Dependent in Vitro Expression from Single Genes in Picolitre Droplets. *ChemBioChem* **2008**, *9*, 439–446.

(154) Courtois, F.; Olguin, L. F.; Whyte, G.; Theberge, A. B.; Huck, W. T.; Hollfelder, F.; Abell, C. Controlling the Retention of Small Molecules in Emulsion Microdroplets for Use in Cell-Based Assays. *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 3008–3016.

(155) Cho, S.; Kang, D. K.; Sim, S.; Geier, F.; Kim, J. Y.; Niu, X. Z.; Edel, J. B.; Chang, S. I.; Wootton, R. C. R.; Elvira, K. S.; et al. Droplet-Based Microfluidic Platform for High-Throughput, Multi-Parameter Screening of Photosensitizer Activity. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 8866– 8872.

(156) Di Carlo, D.; Aghdam, N.; Lee, L. P. Single-Cell Enzyme Concentrations, Kinetics, and Inhibition Analysis Using High-Density Hydrodynamic Cell Isolation Arrays. *Anal. Chem.* **2006**, *78*, 4925–4930.

(157) Huebner, A. M.; Abell, C.; Huck, W. T.; Baroud, C. N.; Hollfelder, F. Monitoring a Reaction at Submillisecond Resolution in Picoliter Volumes. *Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *83*, 1462–1468.

(158) Kleine-Bruggeney, H.; van Vliet, L. D.; Mulas, C.; Gielen, F.; Agley, C. C.; Silva, J. C. R.; Smith, A.; Chalut, K.; Hollfelder, F. Long-Term Perfusion Culture of Monoclonal Embryonic Stem Cells in 3d Hydrogel Beads for Continuous Optical Analysis of Differentiation. *Small* **2019**, *15*, No. e1804576.

(159) Fradet, E.; Bayer, C.; Hollfelder, F.; Baroud, C. N. Measuring Fast and Slow Enzyme Kinetics in Stationary Droplets. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 11915–11922.

(160) Dai, J.; Kim, H. S.; Guzman, A. R.; Shim, W. B.; Han, A. A Large-Scale on-Chip Droplet Incubation Chamber Enables Equal Microbial Culture Time. *RSC Adv.* **2016**, *6*, 20516–20519.

(161) Brehmer, M.; Conrad, L.; Funk, L. New Developments in Soft Lithography. J. Dispersion Sci. Technol. 2003, 24, 291–304.

(162) Ohtani, K.; Tsuchiya, M.; Sugiyama, H.; Katakura, T.; Hayakawa, M.; Kanai, T. Surface Treatment of Flow Channels in Microfluidic Devices Fabricated by Stereolithography. *J. Oleo Sci.* **2014**, *63*, 93–96.

(163) Xia, Y.; Whitesides, G. M. Soft Lithography. Annu. Rev. Mater. Sci. 1998, 28, 153–184.

(164) Debon, A. P.; Wootton, R. C.; Elvira, K. S. Droplet Confinement and Leakage: Causes, Underlying Effects, and Amelioration Strategies. *Biomicrofluidics* **2015**, *9*, 024119.

(165) *Dropbase*. Hollfelder Laboratory, https://openwetware.org/ wiki/DropBase (accessed 2023-03-14).

(166) *Grabcad Community*. Stratasys Software, https://grabcad.com/ library/tag/microfluidics (accessed 2023-03-15).

(167) *Metafluidics*. MIT Lincoln Laboratory, https://metafluidics.org (accessed 2023-03-14).

(168) Nielsen, A. V.; Beauchamp, M. J.; Nordin, G. P.; Woolley, A. T. 3d Printed Microfluidics. *Annu. Rev. Anal. Chem.* **2020**, *13*, 45–65.

(169) Waheed, S.; Cabot, J. M.; Macdonald, N. P.; Lewis, T.; Guijt, R. M.; Paull, B.; Breadmore, M. C. 3d Printed Microfluidic Devices: Enablers and Barriers. *Lab Chip* **2016**, *16*, 1993–2013.

(170) Ho, C. M. B.; Ng, S. H.; Li, K. H. H.; Yoon, Y.-J. 3d Printed Microfluidics for Biological Applications. *Lab Chip* **2015**, *15*, 3627–3637.

(171) Au, A. K.; Huynh, W.; Horowitz, L. F.; Folch, A. 3d-Printed Microfluidics. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 3862–3881.

(172) Bhattacharjee, N.; Urrios, A.; Kang, S.; Folch, A. The Upcoming 3d-Printing Revolution in Microfluidics. *Lab Chip* **2016**, *16*, 1720–1742.

(173) Aladese, A. D.; Jeong, H.-H. Recent Developments in 3d Printing of Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *BioChip J.* **2021**, *15*, 313–333.

(174) Macdonald, N. P.; Cabot, J. M.; Smejkal, P.; Guijt, R. M.; Paull, B.; Breadmore, M. C. Comparing Microfluidic Performance of Three-Dimensional (3d) Printing Platforms. *Anal. Chem.* **2017**, *89*, 3858–3866.

(175) Quero, R. F.; Costa, B. M. d. C.; da Silva, J. A. F.; de Jesus, D. P. Using Multi-Material Fused Deposition Modeling (Fdm) for One-Step 3d Printing of Microfluidic Capillary Electrophoresis with Integrated Electrodes for Capacitively Coupled Contactless Conductivity Detection. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2022**, *365*, 131959.

(176) Behroodi, E.; Latifi, H.; Najafi, F. A Compact Led-Based Projection Microstereolithography for Producing 3d Microstructures. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9*, 19692.

(177) Gong, H.; Bickham, B. P.; Woolley, A. T.; Nordin, G. P. Custom 3d Printer and Resin for 18 Mm × 20 Mm Microfluidic Flow Channels. *Lab Chip* **2017**, *17*, 2899–2909.

(178) Github: Hollfelder Lab. https://github.com/fhlab (accessed 2023-03-14).

(179) Kane, R. S.; Stroock, A. D.; Li Jeon, N.; Ingber, D. E.; Whitesides, G. M. Soft Lithography and Microfluidics. In *Optical Biosensors: Present and Future*; Ligler, F. S., Rowe Taitt, C. A., Eds.; Elsevier Science Amsterdam, 2002; Chapter 18, pp 571–595. (180) Waldbaur, A.; Rapp, H.; Länge, K.; Rapp, B. E. Let There Be Chip—Towards Rapid Prototyping of Microfluidic Devices: One-Step Manufacturing Processes. *Anal. Methods* **2011**, *3*, 2681–2716.

(181) Vanderpoorten, O.; Peter, Q.; Challa, P. K.; Keyser, U. F.; Baumberg, J.; Kaminski, C. F.; Knowles, T. P. J. Scalable Integration of Nano-, and Microfluidics with Hybrid Two-Photon Lithography. *Microsyst. Nanoeng.* **2019**, *5*, 40.

(182) Attia, U. M.; Marson, S.; Alcock, J. R. Micro-Injection Moulding of Polymer Microfluidic Devices. *Microfluid. Nanofluid.* **2009**, *7*, 1.

(183) Glinsner, T.; Veres, T.; Kreindl, G.; Roy, E.; Morton, K.; Wieser, T.; Thanner, C.; Treiblmayr, D.; Miller, R.; Lindner, P. Fully Automated Hot Embossing Processes Utilizing High Resolution Working Stampsa). J. Vac. Sci. Technol., B: Nanotechnol. Microelectron.: Mater., Process., Meas., Phenom. 2010, 28, 36–41.

(184) Gómez, D.; Goenaga, I.; Lizuain, I.; Ozaita, M. Femtosecond Laser Ablation for Microfluidics. *Opt. Eng.* **2005**, *44*, 051105–051108.

(185) Hernandez-Cedillo, L. M.; Vazquez-Cuevas, F. G.; Quintero-Torres, R.; Aragon, J. L.; Ocampo Mortera, M. A.; Ordonez-Romero, C. L.; Dominguez-Juarez, J. L. Microfabrication with Very Low-Average Power of Green Light to Produce Pdms Microchips. *Polymers* **2021**, *13*, 607.

(186) Guckenberger, D. J.; de Groot, T. E.; Wan, A. M. D.; Beebe, D. J.; Young, E. W. K. Micromilling: A Method for Ultra-Rapid Prototyping of Plastic Microfluidic Devices. *Lab Chip* **2015**, *15*, 2364–2378.

(187) Owens, C. E.; Hart, A. J. High-Precision Modular Microfluidics by Micromilling of Interlocking Injection-Molded Blocks. *Lab Chip* **2018**, *18*, 890–901.

(188) Scott, S. M.; Ali, Z. Fabrication Methods for Microfluidic Devices: An Overview. *Micromachines* **2021**, *12*, 319.

(189) Moolman, M. C.; Huang, Z.; Krishnan, S. T.; Kerssemakers, J. W. J.; Dekker, N. H. Electron Beam Fabrication of a Microfluidic Device for Studying Submicron-Scale Bacteria. *J. Nanobiotechnol.* **2013**, *11*, 12.

(190) Mali, P.; Sarkar, A.; Lal, R. Facile Fabrication of Microfluidic Systems Using Electron Beam Lithography. *Lab Chip* **2006**, *6*, 310–315.

(191) Butkutė, A.; Baravykas, T.; Stančikas, J.; Tičkūnas, T.; Vargalis, R.; Paipulas, D.; Sirutkaitis, V.; Jonušauskas, L. Optimization of Selective Laser Etching (Sle) for Glass Micromechanical Structure Fabrication. *Opt. Express* **2021**, *29*, 23487.

(192) Gottmann, J.; Hermans, M.; Repiev, N.; Ortmann, J. Selective Laser-Induced Etching of 3d Precision Quartz Glass Components for Microfluidic Applications—up-Scaling of Complexity and Speed. *Micromachines* **2017**, *8*, 110.

(193) Speller, N. C.; Morbioli, G. G.; Cato, M. E.; Cantrell, T. P.; Leydon, E. M.; Schmidt, B. E.; Stockton, A. M. Cutting Edge Microfluidics: Xurography and a Microwave. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2019**, *291*, 250–256.

(194) Katsimpouras, C.; Stephanopoulos, G. Enzymes in Biotechnology: Critical Platform Technologies for Bioprocess Development. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2021**, *69*, 91–102.

(195) Babtie, A. C.; Tokuriki, N.; Hollfelder, F. What Makes an Enzyme Promiscuous? *Curr. Op. Chem. Biol* **2010**, *14*, 200–207.

(196) Khersonsky, O.; Tawfik, D. S. Enzyme Promiscuity: A Mechanistic and Evolutionary Perspective. *Annu. Rev. Biochem.* 2010, 79, 471–505.

(197) Neun, S.; Brear, P.; Campbell, E.; Tryfona, T.; El Omari, K.; Wagner, A.; Dupree, P.; Hyvonen, M.; Hollfelder, F. Functional Metagenomic Screening Identifies an Unexpected Beta-Glucuronidase. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2022**, *18*, 1096–1103.

(198) You, L.; Arnold, F. H. Directed Evolution of Subtilisin E in Bacillus Subtilis to Enhance Total Activity in Aqueous Dimethylformamide. *Protein Eng.* **1996**, *9*, 77–83.

(199) Ahn, K.; Kerbage, C.; Hunt, T. P.; Westervelt, R. M.; Link, D. R.; Weitz, D. A. Dielectrophoretic Manipulation of Drops for High-Speed Microfluidic Sorting Devices. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2006**, *88*, 024104. (200) Link, D. R.; Grasland-Mongrain, E.; Duri, A.; Sarrazin, F.; Cheng, Z. D.; Cristobal, G.; Marquez, M.; Weitz, D. A. Electric Control

of Droplets in Microfluidic Devices. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 2556-2560.

(201) Ahn, B.; Lee, K.; Louge, R.; Oh, K. W. Concurrent Droplet Charging and Sorting by Electrostatic Actuation. *Biomicrofluidics* **2009**, *3*, 044102.

(202) Baret, J.-C.; Miller, O. J.; Taly, V.; Ryckelynck, M.; El-Harrak, A.; Frenz, L.; Rick, C.; Samuels, M. L.; Hutchison, J. B.; Agresti, J. J.; et al. Fluorescence-Activated Droplet Sorting (Fads): Efficient Microfluidic Cell Sorting Based on Enzymatic Activity. *Lab Chip* **2009**, *9*, 1850–1858.

(203) Sciambi, A.; Abate, A. R. Accurate Microfluidic Sorting of Droplets at 30 Khz. *Lab Chip* **2015**, *15*, 47–51.

(204) Caen, O.; Schütz, S.; Jammalamadaka, M. S. S.; Vrignon, J.; Nizard, P.; Schneider, T. M.; Baret, J. C.; Taly, V. High-Throughput Multiplexed Fluorescence-Activated Droplet Sorting. *Microsyst. Nanoeng.* **2018**, *4*, 33.

(205) Mankowska, S. A.; Gatti-Lafranconi, P.; Chodorge, M.; Sridharan, S.; Minter, R. R.; Hollfelder, F. A Shorter Route to Antibody Binders Via Quantitative in Vitro Bead-Display Screening and Consensus Analysis. *Sci. Rep.* **2016**, *6*, 36391.

(206) Duncombe, T. A.; Ponti, A.; Seebeck, F. P.; Dittrich, P. S. Uv-Vis Spectra-Activated Droplet Sorting for Label-Free Chemical Identification and Collection of Droplets. *Anal. Chem.* **2021**, *93*, 13008–13013.

(207) Richter, E. S.; Link, A.; McGrath, J. S.; Sparrow, R.; Gantz, M.; Medcalf, E. J.; Hollfelder, F.; Franke, T. Acoustic Sorting of Microfluidic Droplets at Khz Rates Using Optical Absorbance. *Lab Chip* **2022**, 23, 195–202.

(208) Medcalf, E. J.; Gantz, M.; Kaminski, T. S.; Hollfelder, F. Ultra-High-Throughput Absorbance-Activated Droplet Sorting for Enzyme Screening at Kilohertz Frequencies. *Anal. Chem.* **2023**, *95*, 4597–4604.

(209) Lindenburg, L. H.; Pantelejevs, T.; Gielen, F.; Zuazua-Villar, P.; Butz, M.; Rees, E.; Kaminski, C. F.; Downs, J. A.; Hyvonen, M.; Hollfelder, F. Improved Rad51 Binders through Motif Shuffling Based on the Modularity of Brc Repeats. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2021**, *118*, e2017708118.

(210) Gielen, F.; Butz, M.; Rees, E. J.; Erdelyi, M.; Moschetti, T.; Hyvonen, M.; Edel, J. B.; Kaminski, C. F.; Hollfelder, F. Quantitative Affinity Determination by Fluorescence Anisotropy Measurements of Individual Nanoliter Droplets. *Anal. Chem.* **2017**, *89*, 1092–1101.

(211) Hasan, S.; Blaha, M. E.; Piendl, S. K.; Das, A.; Geissler, D.; Belder, D. Two-Photon Fluorescence Lifetime for Label-Free Microfluidic Droplet Sorting. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2022**, *414*, 721–730.

(212) Blaha, M. E.; Hasan, S.; Dusny, C.; Belder, D. Fluorescence Lifetime Activated Droplet Sorting (Flads) for Label-Free Sorting of Synechocystis Sp. Pcc6803. *Lab Chip* **2022**, *22*, 1604–1614.

(213) Maceiczyk, R. M.; Hess, D.; Chiu, F. W. Y.; Stavrakis, S.; deMello, A. J. Differential Detection Photothermal Spectroscopy: Towards Ultra-Fast and Sensitive Label-Free Detection in Picoliter & Femtoliter Droplets. *Lab Chip* **2017**, *17*, 3654–3663.

(214) Song, C.; Jin, T.; Yan, R.; Qi, W.; Huang, T.; Ding, H.; Tan, S. H.; Nguyen, N. T.; Xi, L. Opto-Acousto-Fluidic Microscopy for Three-Dimensional Label-Free Detection of Droplets and Cells in Microchannels. *Lab Chip* **2018**, *18*, 1292–1297.

(215) Wang, X.; Ren, L.; Su, Y.; Ji, Y.; Liu, Y.; Li, C.; Li, X.; Zhang, Y.; Wang, W.; Hu, Q.; et al. Raman-Activated Droplet Sorting (Rads) for Label-Free High-Throughput Screening of Microalgal Single-Cells. *Anal. Chem.* **201**7, *89*, 12569–12577.

(216) Chan, K. L.; Kazarian, S. G. Ft-Ir Spectroscopic Imaging of Reactions in Multiphase Flow in Microfluidic Channels. *Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *84*, 4052–4056.

(217) Liu, X.; Painter, R. E.; Enesa, K.; Holmes, D.; Whyte, G.; Garlisi, C. G.; Monsma, F. J.; Rehak, M.; Craig, F. F.; Smith, C. A. High-Throughput Screening of Antibiotic-Resistant Bacteria in Picodroplets. *Lab Chip* **2016**, *16*, 1636–1643.

(218) Girault, M.; Beneyton, T.; Pekin, D.; Buisson, L.; Bichon, S.; Charbonnier, C.; Del Amo, Y.; Baret, J. C. High-Content Screening of Plankton Alkaline Phosphatase Activity in Microfluidics. *Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *90*, 4174–4181. (219) Wang, G.; Lim, C.; Chen, L.; Chon, H.; Choo, J.; Hong, J.; deMello, A. J. Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering in Nanoliter Droplets: Towards High-Sensitivity Detection of Mercury (Ii) Ions. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2009**, 394, 1827–1832.

(220) Fidalgo, L. M.; Whyte, G.; Ruotolo, B. T.; Benesch, J. L.; Stengel, F.; Abell, C.; Robinson, C. V.; Huck, W. T. Coupling Microdroplet Microreactors with Mass Spectrometry: Reading the Contents of Single Droplets Online. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2009**, *48*, 3665–3668.

(221) Heiligenthal, L.; van der Loh, M.; Polack, M.; Blaha, M. E.; Moschutz, S.; Keim, A.; Strater, N.; Belder, D. Analysis of Double-Emulsion Droplets with Esi Mass Spectrometry for Monitoring Lipase-Catalyzed Ester Hydrolysis at Nanoliter Scale. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2022**, 414, 6977–6987.

(222) Sun, S.; Kennedy, R. T. Droplet Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry for High Throughput Screening for Enzyme Inhibitors. *Anal. Chem.* **2014**, *86*, 9309–9314.

(223) Holland-Moritz, D. A.; Wismer, M. K.; Mann, B. F.; Farasat, I.; Devine, P.; Guetschow, E. D.; Mangion, I.; Welch, C. J.; Moore, J. C.; Sun, S.; et al. Mass Activated Droplet Sorting (Mads) Enables High-Throughput Screening of Enzymatic Reactions at Nanoliter Scale. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2020**, *59*, 4470–4477.

(224) Swyer, I.; Soong, R.; Dryden, M. D.; Fey, M.; Maas, W. E.; Simpson, A.; Wheeler, A. R. Interfacing Digital Microfluidics with High-Field Nuclear Magnetic Resonance Spectroscopy. *Lab Chip* **2016**, *16*, 4424–4435.

(225) Horvath, D. G.; Braza, S.; Moore, T.; Pan, C. W.; Zhu, L.; Pak, O. S.; Abbyad, P. Sorting by Interfacial Tension (Sift): Label-Free Enzyme Sorting Using Droplet Microfluidics. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2019**, *1089*, 108–114.

(226) Schmitt, S.; Walser, M.; Rehmann, M.; Oesterle, S.; Panke, S.; Held, M. Archimedes' Principle for Characterisation of Recombinant Whole Cell Biocatalysts. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 3000.

(227) Dittrich, P. S.; Jahnz, M.; Schwille, P. A New Embedded Process for Compartmentalized Cell-Free Protein Expression and on-Line Detection in Microfluidic Devices. *ChemBioChem* **2005**, *6*, 811–814.

(228) Hübner, J.; Mogensen, K. B.; Jorgensen, A. M.; Friis, P.; Telleman, P.; Kutter, J. P. Integrated Optical Measurement System for Fluorescence Spectroscopy in Microfluidic Channels. *Rev. Sci. Instrum.* **2001**, *72*, 229–233.

(229) Wang, X.; Xin, Y.; Ren, L.; Sun, Z.; Zhu, P.; Ji, Y.; Li, C.; Xu, J.; Ma, B. Positive Dielectrophoresis-Based Raman-Activated Droplet Sorting for Culture-Free and Label-Free Screening of Enzyme Function in Vivo. *Sci. Adv.* **2020**, *6*, No. eabb3521.

(230) Chabert, M.; Viovy, J. L. Microfluidic High-Throughput Encapsulation and Hydrodynamic Self-Sorting of Single Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2008**, *105*, 3191–3196.

(231) Li, M.; van Zee, M.; Goda, K.; Di Carlo, D. Size-Based Sorting of Hydrogel Droplets Using Inertial Microfluidics. *Lab Chip* **2018**, *18*, 2575–2582.

(232) Fallah-Araghi, A.; Baret, J.-C.; Ryckelynck, M.; Griffiths, A. D. A Completely in Vitro Ultrahigh-Throughput Droplet-Based Microfluidic Screening System for Protein Engineering and Directed Evolution. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 882–891.

(233) Buryk-Iggers, S.; Kieda, J.; Tsai, S. S. H. Diamagnetic Droplet Microfluidics Applied to Single-Cell Sorting. *AIP Adv.* **2019**. *9*, 075106.

(234) Cao, Z. N.; Chen, F. Y.; Bao, N.; He, H. C.; Xu, P. S.; Jana, S.; Jung, S. H.; Lian, H. Z.; Lu, C. Droplet Sorting Based on the Number of Encapsulated Particles Using a Solenoid Valve. *Lab Chip* **2013**, *13*, 171–178.

(235) Wu, L.; Chen, P.; Dong, Y. S.; Feng, X. J.; Liu, B. F. Encapsulation of Single Cells on a Microfluidic Device Integrating Droplet Generation with Fluorescence-Activated Droplet Sorting. *Biomed. Microdevices* **2013**, *15*, 553–560.

(236) Abate, A. R.; Weitz, D. A. Single-Layer Membrane Valves for Elastomeric Microfluidic Devices. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* **2008**, *92*, 243509. (237) Schaerli, Y.; Kintses, B.; Hollfelder, F. Protein Engineering in

Microdroplets. In *Protein Engineering Handbook*; Lutz, S., Bornscheuer, U. T., Eds.; Wiley VCH: Weinheim, 2012; Chapter 4, pp 73–85.

(238) Gielen, F.; Colin, P. Y.; Mair, P.; Hollfelder, F. Ultrahigh-Throughput Screening of Single-Cell Lysates for Directed Evolution and Functional Metagenomics. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **2018**, *1685*, 297– 309.

(239) Neun, S.; Kaminski, T. S.; Hollfelder, F. Single-Cell Activity Screening in Microfluidic Droplets. *Methods Enzymol.* **2019**, *628*, 95– 112.

(240) Wong, A. C. F.; van Vliet, L.; Bhujbal, S. V.; Guo, C.; Sletmoen, M.; Stokke, B. T.; Hollfelder, F.; Lale, R. A Titratable Cell Lysis-on-Demand System for Droplet-Compartmentalized Ultrahigh-Throughput Screening in Functional Metagenomics and Directed Evolution. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2021**, *10*, 1882–1894.

(241) Karamitros, C. S.; Morvan, M.; Vigne, A.; Lim, J.; Gruner, P.; Beneyton, T.; Vrignon, J.; Baret, J.-C. Bacterial Expression Systems for Enzymatic Activity in Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Anal. Chem.* **2020**, *92*, 4908–4916.

(242) Eenink, B. D. G.; Kaminski, T. S.; Bornberg-Bauer, E.; Jose, J.; Hollfelder, F.; van Loo, B. Vector Redesign and in-Droplet Cell-Growth Improves Enrichment and Recovery in Live Escherichia Coli. *Microb. Biotechnol.* **2022**, *15*, 2845.

(243) Beneyton, T.; Thomas, S.; Griffiths, A. D.; Nicaud, J.-M.; Drevelle, A.; Rossignol, T. Droplet-Based Microfluidic High-Throughput Screening of Heterologous Enzymes Secreted by the Yeast Yarrowia Lipolytica. *Microb. Cell Fact.* **2017**, *16*, 18.

(244) Najah, M.; Calbrix, R.; Mahendra-Wijaya, I. P.; Beneyton, T.; Griffiths, A. D.; Drevelle, A. Droplet-Based Microfluidics Platform for Ultra-High-Throughput Bioprospecting of Cellulolytic Microorganisms. *Chem. Biol.* **2014**, *21*, 1722–1732.

(245) Kwon, Y. C.; Jewett, M. C. High-Throughput Preparation Methods of Crude Extract for Robust Cell-Free Protein Synthesis. *Sci. Rep.* **2015**, *5*, 8663.

(246) Shimizu, Y.; Inoue, A.; Tomari, Y.; Suzuki, T.; Yokogawa, T.; Nishikawa, K.; Ueda, T. Cell-Free Translation Reconstituted with Purified Components. *Nat. Biotechnol.* **2001**, *19*, 751–755.

(247) Lindenburg, L.; Huovinen, T.; van de Wiel, K.; Herger, M.; Snaith, M. R.; Hollfelder, F. Split & Mix Assembly of DNA Libraries for Ultrahigh Throughput on-Bead Screening of Functional Proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2020**, *48*, No. e63.

(248) Lindenburg, L.; Hollfelder, F. "Nad-Display": Ultrahigh-Throughput in Vitro Screening of Nad(H) Dehydrogenases Using Bead Display and Flow Cytometry. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 9015–9021.

(249) Leemhuis, H.; Stein, V.; Griffiths, A. D.; Hollfelder, F. New Genotype-Phenotype Linkages for Directed Evolution of Functional Proteins. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **2005**, *15*, 472–478.

(250) Nasu, Y.; Shen, Y.; Kramer, L.; Campbell, R. E. Structure- and Mechanism-Guided Design of Single Fluorescent Protein-Based Biosensors. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2021**, *17*, 509–518.

(251) Merkx, M.; Smith, B.; Jewett, M. Engineering Sensor Proteins. ACS Sens. 2019, 4, 3089–3091.

(252) Wu, J.; Abdelfattah, A. S.; Zhou, H.; Ruangkittisakul, A.; Qian, Y.; Ballanyi, K.; Campbell, R. E. Genetically Encoded Glutamate Indicators with Altered Color and Topology. *ACS Chem. Biol.* **2018**, *13*, 1832–1837.

(253) Ueda, T.; Tamura, T.; Hamachi, I. In Situ Construction of Protein-Based Semisynthetic Biosensors. ACS Sens. 2018, 3, 527–539.

(254) Hofig, H.; Otten, J.; Steffen, V.; Pohl, M.; Boersma, A. J.; Fitter, J. Genetically Encoded Forster Resonance Energy Transfer-Based Biosensors Studied on the Single-Molecule Level. *ACS Sens.* **2018**, *3*, 1462–1470.

(255) Burgstaller, S.; Bischof, H.; Gensch, T.; Stryeck, S.; Gottschalk, B.; Ramadani-Muja, J.; Eroglu, E.; Rost, R.; Balfanz, S.; Baumann, A.; et al. Ph-Lemon, a Fluorescent Protein-Based Ph Reporter for Acidic Compartments. *ACS Sens.* **2019**, *4*, 883–891.

(256) Nishikawa, T.; Sunami, T.; Matsuura, T.; Ichihashi, N.; Yomo, T. Construction of a Gene Screening System Using Giant Unilamellar Liposomes and a Fluorescence-Activated Cell Sorter. *Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *84*, 5017–5024.

(257) Ladeveze, S.; Zurek, P.; Kaminski, T.; Emond, S.; Hollfelder, F. Versatile Product Detection Via Coupled Assays for Ultra-High-Throughput Screening of Carbohydrate-Active-Enzymes in Micro-fluidic Droplets. *bioRxiv* **2023**, DOI: 10.1101/2023.03.29.534725.

(258) Ostafe, R.; Prodanovic, R.; Lloyd Ung, W.; Weitz, D. A.; Fischer, R. A High-Throughput Cellulase Screening System Based on Droplet Microfluidics. *Biomicrofluidics* **2014**, *8*, 041102.

(259) Doi, N.; Kumadaki, S.; Oishi, Y.; Matsumura, N.; Yanagawa, H. In Vitro Selection of Restriction Endonucleases by in Vitro Compartmentalization. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2004**, *32*, No. e95.

(260) Nakamura, A.; Honma, N.; Tanaka, Y.; Suzuki, Y.; Shida, Y.; Tsuda, Y.; Hidaka, K.; Ogasawara, W. 7-Aminocoumarin-4-Acetic Acid as a Fluorescent Probe for Detecting Bacterial Dipeptidyl Peptidase Activities in Water-in-Oil Droplets and in Bulk. *Anal. Chem.* **2022**, *94*, 2416–2424.

(261) Stapleton, J. A.; Swartz, J. R. Development of an in Vitro Compartmentalization Screen for High-Throughput Directed Evolution of [Fefe] Hydrogenases. *PLoS One* **2010**, *5*, No. e15275.

(262) Beneyton, T.; Coldren, F.; Baret, J.-C.; Griffiths, A. D.; Taly, V. Cota Laccase: High-Throughput Manipulation and Analysis of Recombinant Enzyme Libraries Expressed in E. Coli Using Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Analyst* 2014, *139*, 3314–3323.

(263) Zachos, I.; Genth, R.; Sutiono, S.; Marczynski, M.; Lieleg, O.; Sieber, V. Hot Flows: Evolving an Archaeal Glucose Dehydrogenase for Ultrastable Carba-Nadp+ Using Microfluidics at Elevated Temperatures. *ACS Catal.* **2022**, *12*, 1841–1846.

(264) Klaus, M.; Zurek, P. J.; Kaminski, T. S.; Pushpanath, A.; Neufeld, K.; Hollfelder, F. Ultrahigh-Throughput Detection of Enzymatic Alcohol Dehydrogenase Activity in Microfluidic Droplets with a Direct Fluorogenic Assay. *ChemBioChem* **2021**, *22*, 3292–3299.

(265) Gardner, E. C.; Watkins, E. J.; Gollihar, J.; Ellington, A. D. Emulsion-Based Directed Evolution of Enzymes and Proteins in Yeast. *Methods Enzymol.* **2020**, *643*, 87–110.

(266) Vallejo, D.; Nikoomanzar, A.; Paegel, B. M.; Chaput, J. C. Fluorescence-Activated Droplet Sorting for Single-Cell Directed Evolution. *ACS Synth. Biol.* **2019**, *8*, 1430–1440.

(267) Matsumura, S.; Kun, A.; Ryckelynck, M.; Coldren, F.; Szilágyi, A.; Jossinet, F.; Rick, C.; Nghe, P.; Szathmáry, E.; Griffiths, A. D. Transient Compartmentalization of Rna Replicators Prevents Extinction Due to Parasites. *Science* **2016**, *354*, 1293–1296.

(268) Buryska, T.; Vasina, M.; Gielen, F.; Vanacek, P.; van Vliet, L.; Jezek, J.; Pilat, Z.; Zemanek, P.; Damborsky, J.; Hollfelder, F.; et al. Controlled Oil/Water Partitioning of Hydrophobic Substrates Extending the Bioanalytical Applications of Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *91*, 10008–10015.

(269) Skhiri, Y.; Gruner, P.; Semin, B.; Brosseau, Q.; Pekin, D.; Mazutis, L.; Goust, V.; Kleinschmidt, F.; El Harrak, A.; Hutchison, J. B.; et al. Dynamics of Molecular Transport by Surfactants in Emulsions. *Soft Matter* **2012**, *8*, 10618–10627.

(270) Zinchenko, A.; Devenish, S. R. A.; Hollfelder, F. Rapid Quantitative Assessment of Small Molecule Leakage from Microdroplets by Flow Cytometry and Improvement of Fluorophore Retention in Biochemical Assays. *bioRxiv*, **2023**, DOI: 10.1101/ 2023.04.23.538007.

(271) Clausell-Tormos, J.; Lieber, D.; Baret, J. C.; El-Harrak, A.; Miller, O. J.; Frenz, L.; Blouwolff, J.; Humphry, K. J.; Koster, S.; Duan, H.; et al. Droplet-Based Microfluidic Platforms for the Encapsulation and Screening of Mammalian Cells and Multicellular Organisms. *Chem. Biol.* **2008**, *15*, 427–437.

(272) Holtze, C.; Rowat, A. C.; Agresti, J. J.; Hutchison, J. B.; Angile, F. E.; Schmitz, C. H.; Koster, S.; Duan, H.; Humphry, K. J.; Scanga, R. A.; et al. Biocompatible Surfactants for Water-in-Fluorocarbon Emulsions. *Lab Chip* **2008**, *8*, 1632–1639.

(273) Etienne, G.; Vian, A.; Biocanin, M.; Deplancke, B.; Amstad, E. Cross-Talk between Emulsion Drops: How Are Hydrophilic Reagents Transported across Oil Phases? *Lab Chip* **2018**, *18*, 3903–3912.

(274) Sandoz, P. A.; Chung, A. J.; Weaver, W. M.; Di Carlo, D. Sugar Additives Improve Signal Fidelity for Implementing Two-Phase Resorufin-Based Enzyme Immunoassays. Langmuir 2014, 30, 6637–6643.

(275) Woronoff, G.; El Harrak, A.; Mayot, E.; Schicke, O.; Miller, O. J.; Soumillion, P.; Griffiths, A. D.; Ryckelynck, M. New Generation of Amino Coumarin Methyl Sulfonate-Based Fluorogenic Substrates for Amidase Assays in Droplet-Based Microfluidic Applications. *Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *83*, 2852–2857.

(276) Fenneteau, J.; Chauvin, D.; Griffiths, A. D.; Nizak, C.; Cossy, J. Synthesis of New Hydrophilic Rhodamine Based Enzymatic Substrates Compatible with Droplet-Based Microfluidic Assays. *Chem. Commun.* **2017**, *53*, 5437–5440.

(277) Najah, M.; Mayot, E.; Mahendra-Wijaya, I. P.; Griffiths, A. D.; Ladame, S.; Drevelle, A. New Glycosidase Substrates for Droplet-Based Microfluidic Screening. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 9807–9814.

(278) Etienne, G.; Kessler, M.; Amstad, E. Influence of Fluorinated Surfactant Composition on the Stability of Emulsion Drops. *Macromol. Chem. Phys.* **201**7, *218*, 1600365.

(279) Pan, M.; Lyu, F.; Tang, S. K. Fluorinated Pickering Emulsions with Nonadsorbing Interfaces for Droplet-Based Enzymatic Assays. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 7938–7943.

(280) Pan, M.; Rosenfeld, L.; Kim, M.; Xu, M.; Lin, E.; Derda, R.; Tang, S. K. Fluorinated Pickering Emulsions Impede Interfacial Transport and Form Rigid Interface for the Growth of Anchorage-Dependent Cells. *ACS Appl. Mater. Interfaces* **2014**, *6*, 21446–21453.

(281) Chowdhury, M. S.; Zheng, W. S.; Kumari, S.; Heyman, J.; Zhang, X. C.; Dey, P.; Weitz, D. A.; Haag, R. Dendronized Fluorosurfactant for Highly Stable Water-in-Fluorinated Oil Emulsions with Minimal Inter-Droplet Transfer of Small Molecules. *Nat. Commun.* **2019**, *10*, 4546.

(282) Chowdhury, M. S.; Zheng, W. S.; Singh, A. K.; Ong, I. L. H.; Hou, Y.; Heyman, J. A.; Faghani, A.; Amstad, E.; Weitz, D. A.; Haag, R. Linear Triglycerol-Based Fluorosurfactants Show High Potential for Droplet-Microfluidics-Based Biochemical Assays. *Soft Matter* **2021**, *17*, 7260–7267.

(283) Gruner, P.; Riechers, B.; Semin, B.; Lim, J.; Johnston, A.; Short, K.; Baret, J. C. Controlling Molecular Transport in Minimal Emulsions. *Nat. Commun.* **2016**, *7*, 10392.

(284) Baret, J. C. Surfactants in Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 422–433.

(285) Shim, J. U.; Olguin, L. F.; Whyte, G.; Scott, D.; Babtie, A.; Abell, C.; Huck, W. T.; Hollfelder, F. Simultaneous Determination of Gene Expression and Enzymatic Activity in Individual Bacterial Cells in Microdroplet Compartments. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2009, 131, 15251–15256.

(286) Toepke, M. W.; Beebe, D. J. Pdms Absorption of Small Molecules and Consequences in Microfluidic Applications. *Lab Chip* **2006**, *6*, 1484–1486.

(287) Domansky, K.; Leslie, D. C.; McKinney, J.; Fraser, J. P.; Sliz, J. D.; Hamkins-Indik, T.; Hamilton, G. A.; Bahinski, A.; Ingber, D. E. Clear Castable Polyurethane Elastomer for Fabrication of Microfluidic Devices. *Lab Chip* **2013**, *13*, 3956–3964.

(288) Shim, J. U.; Patil, S. N.; Hodgkinson, J. T.; Bowden, S. D.; Spring, D. R.; Welch, M.; Huck, W. T.; Hollfelder, F.; Abell, C. Controlling the Contents of Microdroplets by Exploiting the Permeability of Pdms. *Lab Chip* **2011**, *11*, 1132–1137.

(289) Hess, D.; Dockalova, V.; Kokkonen, P.; Bednar, D.; Damborsky, J.; deMello, A.; Prokop, Z.; Stavrakis, S. Exploring Mechanism of Enzyme Catalysis by on-Chip Transient Kinetics Coupled with Global Data Analysis and Molecular Modeling. *Chem* **2021**, *7*, 1066–1079.

(290) Mazutis, L.; Araghi, A. F.; Miller, O. J.; Baret, J. C.; Frenz, L.; Janoshazi, A.; Taly, V.; Miller, B. J.; Hutchison, J. B.; Link, D.; et al. Droplet-Based Microfluidic Systems for High-Throughput Single DNA Molecule Isothermal Amplification and Analysis. *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 4813–4821.

(291) Sato, Y.; Komiya, K.; Kawamata, I.; Murata, S.; Nomura, S. M. Isothermal Amplification of Specific DNA Molecules inside Giant Unilamellar Vesicles. *Chem. Commun.* **2019**, *55*, 9084–9087.

(292) Hindson, B. J.; Ness, K. D.; Masquelier, D. A.; Belgrader, P.; Heredia, N. J.; Makarewicz, A. J.; Bright, I. J.; Lucero, M. Y.; Hiddessen, A. L.; Legler, T. C.; et al. High-Throughput Droplet Digital Pcr System for Absolute Quantitation of DNA Copy Number. *Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *83*, 8604–8610.

(293) McDermott, G. P.; Do, D.; Litterst, C. M.; Maar, D.; Hindson, C. M.; Steenblock, E. R.; Legler, T. C.; Jouvenot, Y.; Marrs, S. H.; Bemis, A.; et al. Multiplexed Target Detection Using DNA-Binding Dye Chemistry in Droplet Digital Pcr. *Anal. Chem.* **2013**, *85*, 11619–11627.

(294) Song, H.; Ismagilov, R. F. Millisecond Kinetics on a Microfluidic Chip Using Nanoliters of Reagents. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 14613–14619.

(295) Song, H.; Tice, J. D.; Ismagilov, R. F. A Microfluidic System for Controlling Reaction Networks in Time. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2003**, 42, 768–772.

(296) Ghadessy, F. J.; Holliger, P. Compartmentalized Self-Replication: A Novel Method for the Directed Evolution of Polymerases and Other Enzymes. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **2006**, 352, 237–248.

(297) Ghadessy, F. J.; Holliger, P. A Novel Emulsion Mixture for in Vitro Compartmentalization of Transcription and Translation in the Rabbit Reticulocyte System. *Protein Eng., Des. Sel.* **2004**, *17*, 201–204.

(298) Lauterbach, S.; Dienhart, H.; Range, J.; Malzacher, S.; Sporing, J. D.; Rother, D.; Pinto, M. F.; Martins, P.; Lagerman, C. E.; Bommarius, A. S.; et al. EnzymeML: Seamless Data Flow and Modeling of Enzymatic Data. *Nat. Methods* **2023**, *20*, 400–402.

(299) Senior, A. W.; Evans, R.; Jumper, J.; Kirkpatrick, J.; Sifre, L.; Green, T.; Qin, C.; Zidek, A.; Nelson, A. W. R.; Bridgland, A.; et al. Improved Protein Structure Prediction Using Potentials from Deep Learning. *Nature* **2020**, *577*, 706–710.

(300) Baek, M.; DiMaio, F.; Anishchenko, I.; Dauparas, J.; Ovchinnikov, S.; Lee, G. R.; Wang, J.; Cong, Q.; Kinch, L. N.; Schaeffer, R. D.; et al. Accurate Prediction of Protein Structures and Interactions Using a Three-Track Neural Network. *Science* **2021**, *373*, 871–876.

(301) Wei, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Fang, Q. Nanoliter Quantitative High-Throughput Screening with Large-Scale Tunable Gradients Based on a Microfluidic Droplet Robot under Unilateral Dispersion Mode. *Anal. Chem.* **2019**, *91*, 4995–5003.

(302) Miller, O. J.; El Harrak, A.; Mangeat, T.; Baret, J. C.; Frenz, L.; El Debs, B.; Mayot, E.; Samuels, M. L.; Rooney, E. K.; Dieu, P.; et al. High-Resolution Dose-Response Screening Using Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 378–383.

(303) Gu, S.; Lu, Y.; Ding, Y.; Li, L.; Zhang, F.; Wu, Q. Droplet-Based Microfluidics for Dose-Response Assay of Enzyme Inhibitors by Electrochemical Method. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2013**, *796*, 68–74.

(304) Jambovane, S.; Duin, E. C.; Kim, S.-K.; Hong, J. W. Determination of Kinetic Parameters, Km and Kcat, with a Single Experiment on a Chip. *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 3239–3245.

(305) Lee, B.; Jin, S. H.; Noh, Y.-M.; Jeong, S.-G.; Jeong, H.-H.; Lee, C.-S. Scalable Static Droplet Array for Biochemical Assays Based on Concentration Gradients. *Sens. Actuators, B* **2018**, *273*, 1572–1578.

(306) Hess, D.; Rane, A.; deMello, A. J.; Stavrakis, S. High-Throughput, Quantitative Enzyme Kinetic Analysis in Microdroplets Using Stroboscopic Epifluorescence Imaging. *Anal. Chem.* **2015**, *87*, 4965–4972.

(307) Neun, S.; van Vliet, L.; Hollfelder, F.; Gielen, F. High Throughput Steady-State Enzyme Kinetics Measured in a Parallel Droplet Generation and Absorbance Detection Platform. *Anal. Chem.* **2022**, *94*, 16701–16710.

(308) Churski, K.; Kaminski, T. S.; Jakiela, S.; Kamysz, W.; Baranska-Rybak, W.; Weibel, D. B.; Garstecki, P. Rapid Screening of Antibiotic Toxicity in an Automated Microdroplet System. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 1629–1637.

(309) Churski, K.; Korczyk, P.; Garstecki, P. High-Throughput Automated Droplet Microfluidic System for Screening of Reaction Conditions. *Lab Chip* **2010**, *10*, 816–818.

(310) Churski, K.; Michalski, J.; Garstecki, P. Droplet on Demand System Utilizing a Computer Controlled Microvalve Integrated into a Stiff Polymeric Microfluidic Device. *Lab Chip* **2010**, *10*, 512–518.

5609

(311) Churski, K.; Nowacki, M.; Korczyk, P. M.; Garstecki, P. Simple Modular Systems for Generation of Droplets on Demand. *Lab Chip* **2013**, *13*, 3689–3697.

(312) Cao, J.; Kürsten, D.; Schneider, S.; Knauer, A.; Günther, P. M.; Köhler, J. M. Uncovering Toxicological Complexity by Multi-Dimensional Screenings in Microsegmented Flow: Modulation of Antibiotic Interference by Nanoparticles. *Lab Chip* **2012**, *12*, 474–484. (313) Clausell-Tormos, J.; Griffiths, A. D.; Merten, C. A. An Automated Two-Phase Microfluidic System for Kinetic Analyses and the Screening of Compound Libraries. *Lab Chip* **2010**, *10*, 1302–1307.

(314) Han, Z.; Li, W.; Huang, Y.; Zheng, B. Measuring Rapid Enzymatic Kinetics by Electrochemical Method in Droplet-Based Microfluidic Devices with Pneumatic Valves. *Anal. Chem.* **2009**, *81*, 5840–5845.

(315) Jambovane, S.; Kim, D. J.; Duin, E. C.; Kim, S.-K.; Hong, J. W. Creation of Stepwise Concentration Gradient in Picoliter Droplets for Parallel Reactions of Matrix Metalloproteinase Ii and Ix. *Anal. Chem.* **2011**, *83*, 3358–3364.

(316) Rho, H. S.; Hanke, A. T.; Ottens, M.; Gardeniers, H. Mapping of Enzyme Kinetics on a Microfluidic Device. *PLoS One* **2016**, *11*, No. e0153437.

(317) Ali-Cherif, A.; Begolo, S.; Descroix, S.; Viovy, J. L.; Malaquin, L. Programmable Magnetic Tweezers and Droplet Microfluidic Device for High-Throughput Nanoliter Multi-Step Assays. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2012**, *51*, 10765–10769.

(318) Markin, C. J.; Mokhtari, D. A.; Sunden, F.; Appel, M. J.; Akiva, E.; Longwell, S. A.; Sabatti, C.; Herschlag, D.; Fordyce, P. M. Revealing Enzyme Functional Architecture Via High-Throughput Microfluidic Enzyme Kinetics. *Science* **2021**, *373*, No. eabf8761.

(319) Srisa-Art, M.; Noblitt, S. D.; Krummel, A. T.; Henry, C. S. Ir-Compatible Pdms Microfluidic Devices for Monitoring of Enzyme Kinetics. *Anal. Chim. Acta* **2018**, *1021*, 95–102.

(320) Hassan, S.-u.; Nightingale, A. M.; Niu, X. Continuous Measurement of Enzymatic Kinetics in Droplet Flow for Point-of-Care Monitoring. *Analyst* **2016**, *141*, 3266–3273.

(321) Han, Z.; Chang, Y. Y.; Au, S. W. N.; Zheng, B. Measuring Rapid Kinetics by a Potentiometric Method in Droplet-Based Microfluidic Devices. *Chem. Commun.* **2012**, *48*, 1601–1603.

(322) Damean, N.; Olguin, L. F.; Hollfelder, F.; Abell, C.; Huck, W. T. S. Simultaneous Measurement of Reactions in Microdroplets Filled by Concentration Gradients. *Lab Chip* **2009**, *9*, 1707–1713.

(323) Mao, Z.; Guo, F.; Xie, Y.; Zhao, Y.; Lapsley, M. I.; Wang, L.; Mai, J. D.; Costanzo, F.; Huang, T. J. Label-Free Measurements of Reaction Kinetics Using a Droplet-Based Optofluidic Device. *SLAS Technol.* **2015**, *20*, 17–24.

(324) Miller, O. J.; Harrak, A. E.; Mangeat, T.; Baret, J.-C.; Frenz, L.; Debs, B. E.; Mayot, E.; Samuels, M. L.; Rooney, E. K.; Dieu, P.; et al. High-Resolution Dose-Response Screening Using Droplet-Based Microfluidics. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2012**, *109*, 378–383.

(325) Sjostrom, S. L.; Joensson, H. N.; Svahn, H. A. Multiplex Analysis of Enzyme Kinetics and Inhibition by Droplet Microfluidics Using Picoinjectors. *Lab Chip* **2013**, *13*, 1754–1761.

(326) Vasina, M.; Vanacek, P.; Hon, J.; Kovar, D.; Faldynova, H.; Kunka, A.; Buryska, T.; Badenhorst, C. P. S.; Mazurenko, S.; Bednar, D.; et al. Advanced Database Mining of Efficient Haloalkane Dehalogenases by Sequence and Structure Bioinformatics and Microfluidics. *Chem Catal.* **2022**, *2*, 2704–2725.

(327) Hadd, A. G.; Raymond, D. E.; Halliwell, J. W.; Jacobson, S. C.; Ramsey, J. M. Microchip Device for Performing Enzyme Assays. *Anal. Chem.* **1997**, *69*, 3407–3412.

(328) Seong, G. H.; Heo, J.; Crooks, R. M. Measurement of Enzyme Kinetics Using a Continuous-Flow Microfluidic System. *Anal. Chem.* **2003**, *75*, 3161–3167.

(329) Wang, C.; Li, S.-J.; Wu, Z.-Q.; Xu, J.-J.; Chen, H.-Y.; Xia, X.-H. Study on the Kinetics of Homogeneous Enzyme Reactions in a Micro/ Nanofluidics Device. *Lab Chip* **2010**, *10*, 639–646.

(330) Rembeza, E.; Engqvist, M. K. M. Adaptation of a Microfluidic Qpcr System for Enzyme Kinetic Studies. *ACS Omega* **2021**, *6*, 1985–1990.

(331) Lashkaripour, A.; Rodriguez, C.; Mehdipour, N.; Mardian, R.; McIntyre, D.; Ortiz, L.; Campbell, J.; Densmore, D. Machine Learning Enables Design Automation of Microfluidic Flow-Focusing Droplet Generation. *Nat. Commun.* **2021**, *12*, 25.

(332) Sanka, R.; Crites, B.; McDaniel, J.; Brisk, P.; Densmore, D. Specification, Integration, and Benchmarking of Continuous Flow Microfluidic Devices: Invited Paper. *IEEE/ACM Int. Conf. Comput. Aided Des.* **2019**, 1–8.

(333) Shembekar, N.; Chaipan, C.; Utharala, R.; Merten, C. A. Droplet-Based Microfluidics in Drug Discovery, Transcriptomics and High-Throughput Molecular Genetics. *Lab Chip* **2016**, *16*, 1314–1331.

(334) Dannenberg, P. H.; Wang, J.; Zhuo, Y.; Cho, S.; Kim, K.-H.; Yun, S.-H. Droplet Microfluidic Generation of a Million Optical Microparticle Barcodes. *Opt. Express* **2021**, *29*, 38109.

(335) Cole, R. H.; Tang, S.-Y.; Siltanen, C. A.; Shahi, P.; Zhang, J. Q.; Poust, S.; Gartner, Z. J.; Abate, A. R. Printed Droplet Microfluidics for on Demand Dispensing of Picoliter Droplets and Cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2017**, *114*, 8728–8733.

(336) Shahi, P.; Kim, S. C.; Haliburton, J. R.; Gartner, Z. J.; Abate, A. R. Abseq: Ultrahigh-Throughput Single Cell Protein Profiling with Droplet Microfluidic Barcoding. *Sci. Rep.* **2017**, *7*, 44447.

(337) Fan, Y.-Q.; Wang, H.-L.; Gao, K.-X.; Liu, J.-J.; Chai, D.-P.; Zhang, Y.-J. Applications of Modular Microfluidics Technology. *Chin. J. Anal. Chem.* **2018**, *46*, 1863–1871.

(338) Yuen, P. K. Smartbuild-a Truly Plug-N-Play Modular Microfluidic System. *Lab Chip* **2008**, *8*, 1374–1378.

(339) Vittayarukskul, K.; Lee, A. P. A Truly Lego®-Like Modular Microfluidics Platform. J. Micromech. Microeng. **201**7, 27, 035004.

(340) Megarity, D.; Vroman, R.; Kriek, M.; Downey, P.; Bushell, T. J.; Zagnoni, M. A Modular Microfluidic Platform to Enable Complex and Customisable in Vitro Models for Neuroscience. *Lab Chip* **2022**, *22*, 1989–2000.

(341) Finkbeiner, T.; Manz, C.; Raorane, M. L.; Metzger, C.; Schmidt-Speicher, L.; Shen, N.; Ahrens, R.; Maisch, J.; Nick, P.; Guber, A. E. A Modular Microfluidic Bioreactor to Investigate Plant Cell-Cell Interactions. *Protoplasma* **2022**, 259, 173–186.

(342) Kintses, B.; van Vliet, L. D.; Devenish, S. R.; Hollfelder, F. Microfluidic Droplets: New Integrated Workflows for Biological Experiments. *Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol.* **2010**, *14*, 548–555.

(343) Dorr, M.; Fibinger, M. P.; Last, D.; Schmidt, S.; Santos-Aberturas, J.; Bottcher, D.; Hummel, A.; Vickers, C.; Voss, M.; Bornscheuer, U. T. Fully Automatized High-Throughput Enzyme Library Screening Using a Robotic Platform. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.* **2016**, *113*, 1421–1432.

(344) Ferrer, M.; Martinez-Martinez, M.; Bargiela, R.; Streit, W. R.; Golyshina, O. V.; Golyshin, P. N. Estimating the Success of Enzyme Bioprospecting through Metagenomics: Current Status and Future Trends. *Microb. Biotechnol.* **2016**, *9*, 22–34.

(345) Lorenz, J.; Eck, P. Metagenomics and Industrial Applications. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **2005**, *3*, 510–516.

(346) Emond, S.; Petek, M.; Kay, E. J.; Heames, B.; Devenish, S. R. A.; Tokuriki, N.; Hollfelder, F. Accessing Unexplored Regions of Sequence Space in Directed Enzyme Evolution Via Insertion/Deletion Mutagenesis. *Nat. Commun.* **2020**, *11*, 3469.

(347) Mitchell, A. L.; Almeida, A.; Beracochea, M.; Boland, M.; Burgin, J.; Cochrane, G.; Crusoe, M. R.; Kale, V.; Potter, S. C.; Richardson, L. J.; et al. MGnify: The Microbiome Analysis Resource in 2020. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2020**, *48*, D570–D578.

(348) Jumper, J.; Evans, R.; Pritzel, A.; Green, T.; Figurnov, M.; Ronneberger, O.; Tunyasuvunakool, K.; Bates, R.; Zidek, A.; Potapenko, A.; et al. Highly Accurate Protein Structure Prediction with AlphaFold. *Nature* **2021**, *596*, 583.

(349) Lombard, V.; Golaconda Ramulu, H.; Drula, E.; Coutinho, P. M.; Henrissat, B. The Carbohydrate-Active Enzymes Database (Cazy) in 2013. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2014**, *42*, D490–495.

(350) Drula, E.; Garron, M. L.; Dogan, S.; Lombard, V.; Henrissat, B.; Terrapon, N. The Carbohydrate-Active Enzyme Database: Functions and Literature. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2022**, *50*, D571–D577. (351) Starr, T. N.; Thornton, J. W. Epistasis in Protein Evolution. *Protein Sci.* **2016**, 25, 1204–1218.

(352) Miton, C. M.; Tokuriki, N. How Mutational Epistasis Impairs Predictability in Protein Evolution and Design. *Protein Sci.* 2016, 25, 1260–1272.

(353) Weinreich, D. M. D. N.F.; DePristo, M. A.; Hartl, D. L. Darwinian Evolution Can Followonly Very Few Mutational Pathsto Fitter Proteins. *Science* **2006**, *312*, 111–114.

(354) Wu, N. C.; Dai, L.; Olson, C. A.; Lloyd-Smith, J. O.; Sun, R. Adaptation in Protein Fitness Landscapes Is Facilitated by Indirect Paths. *eLife* **2016**, *5*, e16965.

(355) Reetz, M. Making Enzymes Suitable for Organic Chemistry by Rational Protein Design. *ChemBioChem* **2022**, *23*, No. e202200049.

(356) Sumbalova, L.; Stourac, J.; Martinek, T.; Bednar, D.; Damborsky, J. Hotspot Wizard 3.0: Web Server for Automated Design of Mutations and Smart Libraries Based on Sequence Input Information. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **2018**, *46*, W356–W362.

(357) Wrenbeck, E. E.; Azouz, L. R.; Whitehead, T. A. Single-Mutation Fitness Landscapes for an Enzyme on Multiple Substrates Reveal Specificity Is Globally Encoded. *Nat. Commun.* **2017**, *8*, 15695.

(358) Miton, C. M.; Jonas, S.; Fischer, G.; Duarte, F.; Mohamed, M. F.; van Loo, B.; Kintses, B.; Kamerlin, S. C. L.; Tokuriki, N.; Hyvonen, M.; et al. Evolutionary Repurposing of a Sulfatase: A New Michaelis Complex Leads to Efficient Transition State Charge Offset. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2018**, *115*, E7293–E7302.

(359) Tokuriki, N.; Jackson, C. J.; Afriat-Jurnou, L.; Wyganowski, K. T.; Tang, R.; Tawfik, D. S. Diminishing Returns and Tradeoffs Constrain the Laboratory Optimization of an Enzyme. *Nat. Commun.* **2012**, *3*, 1257.

(360) Harms, M. J.; Thornton, J. W. Historical Contingency and Its Biophysical Basis in Glucocorticoid Receptor Evolution. *Nature* **2014**, *512*, 203–207.

(361) Bershtein, S.; Goldin, K.; Tawfik, D. S. Intense Neutral Drifts Yield Robust and Evolvable Consensus Proteins. *J. Mol. Biol.* **2008**, *379*, 1029–1044.

(362) Amitai, G.; Gupta, R. D.; Tawfik, D. S. Latent Evolutionary Potentials under the Neutral Mutational Drift of an Enzyme. *HFSP J.* **2007**, *1*, 67–78.

(363) Gupta, R. D.; Tawfik, D. S. Directed Enzyme Evolution Via Small and Effective Neutral Drift Libraries. *Nat. Methods* **2008**, *5*, 939–942.

(364) Wagner, A. Neutralism and Selectionism: A Network-Based Reconciliation. *Nat. Rev. Genet.* **2008**, *9*, 965–974.

(365) Bloom, J. D.; Romero, P. A.; Lu, Z.; Arnold, F. H. Neutral Genetic Drift Can Alter Promiscuous Protein Functions, Potentially Aiding Functional Evolution. *Biol. Direct* **2007**, *2*, 17.

(366) Morrison, M. S.; Podracky, C. J.; Liu, D. R. The Developing Toolkit of Continuous Directed Evolution. *Nat. Chem. Biol.* **2020**, *16*, 610–619.

(367) d'Oelsnitz, S.; Ellington, A. Continuous Directed Evolution for Strain and Protein Engineering. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2018**, *53*, 158–163.

(368) Fowler, D. M.; Fields, S. Deep Mutational Scanning: A New Style of Protein Science. *Nat. Methods* **2014**, *11*, 801–807.

(369) Roychowdhury, H.; Romero, P. A. Microfluidic Deep Mutational Scanning of the Human Executioner Caspases Reveals Differences in Structure and Regulation. *Cell Death Discov.* **2022**, *8*, 7.

(370) Faure, A. J.; Domingo, J.; Schmiedel, J. M.; Hidalgo-Carcedo, C.; Diss, G.; Lehner, B. Mapping the Energetic and Allosteric Landscapes of Protein Binding Domains. *Nature* **2022**, *604*, 175–183. (371) Jain, M.; Olsen, H. E.; Paten, B.; Akeson, M. The Oxford Nanopore Minion: Delivery of Nanopore Sequencing to the Genomics Community. *Genome Biol* **2016**, *17*, 239.

(372) Rhoads, A.; Au, K. F. Pacbio Sequencing and Its Applications. *Genomics Proteomics Bioinformatics* **2015**, *13*, 278–289.

(373) Sarkisyan, K. S.; Bolotin, D. A.; Meer, M. V.; Usmanova, D. R.; Mishin, A. S.; Sharonov, G. V.; Ivankov, D. N.; Bozhanova, N. G.; Baranov, M. S.; Soylemez, O.; et al. Local Fitness Landscape of the Green Fluorescent Protein. *Nature* **2016**, *533*, 397–401. (374) Wittmann, B. J.; Johnston, K. E.; Wu, Z.; Arnold, F. H. Advances in Machine Learning for Directed Evolution. *Curr. Opin. Struct. Biol.* **2021**, *69*, 11–18.

(375) Gelman, S.; Fahlberg, S. A.; Heinzelman, P.; Romero, P. A.; Gitter, A. Neural Networks to Learn Protein Sequence-Function Relationships from Deep Mutational Scanning Data. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.* **2021**, *118*, e2104878118.

(376) Wittmann, B. J.; Yue, Y.; Arnold, F. H. Informed Training Set Design Enables Efficient Machine Learning-Assisted Directed Protein Evolution. *Cell Syst.* **2021**, *12*, 1026–1045.

(377) Ma, E. J.; Siirola, E.; Moore, C.; Kummer, A.; Stoeckli, M.; Faller, M.; Bouquet, C.; Eggimann, F.; Ligibel, M.; Huynh, D.; et al. Machine-Directed Evolution of an Imine Reductase for Activity and Stereoselectivity. *ACS Catal.* **2021**, *11*, 12433–12445.

(378) Repecka, D.; Jauniskis, V.; Karpus, L.; Rembeza, E.; Rokaitis, I.; Zrimec, J.; Poviloniene, S.; Laurynenas, A.; Viknander, S.; Abuajwa, W.; et al. Expanding Functional Protein Sequence Spaces Using Generative Adversarial Networks. *Nat. Mach. Intell.* **2021**, *3*, 324–333.

(379) Freschlin, C. R.; Fahlberg, S. A.; Romero, P. A. Machine Learning to Navigate Fitness Landscapes for Protein Engineering. *Curr. Opin. Biotechnol.* **2022**, 75, 102713.